



University of Groningen

Cell envelope stress responses upon protein overproduction in Bacillus subtilis

Marciniak, Bogumiła Cecylia

IMPORTANT NOTE: You are advised to consult the publisher's version (publisher's PDF) if you wish to cite from it. Please check the document version below.

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Publication date: 2012

Link to publication in University of Groningen/UMCG research database

Citation for published version (APA): Marciniak, B. C. (2012). Cell envelope stress responses upon protein overproduction in Bacillus subtilis. s.n.

Copyright

Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download or to forward/distribute the text or part of it without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license (like Creative Commons).

The publication may also be distributed here under the terms of Article 25fa of the Dutch Copyright Act, indicated by the "Taverne" license. More information can be found on the University of Groningen website: https://www.rug.nl/library/open-access/self-archiving-pure/taverneamendment.

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Downloaded from the University of Groningen/UMCG research database (Pure): http://www.rug.nl/research/portal. For technical reasons the number of authors shown on this cover page is limited to 10 maximum.

Cell envelope stress responses upon protein overproduction in *Bacillus subtilis*

Bogumiła C. Marciniak

Cover: Microscopy pictures of various *Bacillus subtilis* strains visualized with different techniques. Pictures and cover design: Bogumiła Marciniak

Printed by: IpskampDrukkers (Enschede, The Netherlands)

The work described in this thesis was carried out in the Molecular Genetics Group of the Groningen Biomolecular Sciences and Biotechnology Institute (Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, University of Groningen, The Netherlands) and was financially supported by a grant from ALW-NWO in the ESF Bacell SysMO program.

Printing of this thesis was financially supported by the Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, University of Groningen.



Cell envelope stress responses upon protein overproduction in *Bacillus subtilis*

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van het doctoraat in de Wiskunde en Natuurwetenschappen aan de Rijksuniversiteit Groningen op gezag van de Rector Magnificus, dr. E. Sterken, in het openbaar te verdedigen op vrijdag 9 november 2012 om 16:15 uur

door

Bogumiła Cecylia Marciniak

geboren op 29 december 1983 te Złotoryja, Polen Promotor:

Prof. dr. O.P. Kuipers

Beoordelingscommissie:

Prof. dr. W.J. Quax Prof. dr. A.J.M. Driessen Prof. dr. J. Stülke

ISBN 978-90-367-5816-1 (printed version) ISBN 978-90-367-5822-2 (digital version)

ABSTRACT

The ability of a Gram-positive rod-shaped bacterium, *Bacillus subtilis*, to produce and secrete endogenous and heterologous proteins to the environment makes this bacterium an attractive host for production of proteins useful in industry. *B. subtilis* and its close relatives are used to produce more than half of the commercially available enzymes used for the detergent-, food- and beverage industries and for the development of pharmaceuticals. Despite of previous manipulations of the limiting factors that hamper different stages of protein production or secretion, which resulted in a significant improvement of *B. subtilis* as a production host, protein production can still be difficult.

In this thesis stress responses activated under intensive production of homo- and heterologous proteins are identified. A more detailed study of the membrane protein overproduction stress resulted in the characterization of a specific membrane stress response involving a putative membrane protease and in the identification of a novel negative regulator of this response. Also indispensability of the PrsA foldase/chaperone responsible for correct folding of secreted proteins was investigated and it was shown to be crucial for the cell viability due to its indirect involvement in lateral cell wall biosynthesis. Moreover, *B. subtilis* is able to maximize its metabolic efficiency through regulation of carbon metabolism genes by a global regulator, CcpA, which binds to operator sequences, *cre* boxes. This is a relevant aspect of the optimization of cultivation of cells in big fermentations for industry. *cre* boxes were analyzed on a genome-wide scale and differences in their sequences and positions in relation to transcriptional start sites were shown to determine their regulatory efficiencies.

This thesis provides valuable knowledge on (membrane and secreted) protein overproduction and stress-responsive mechanisms, which can be used for further improvement of *B. subtilis* as a production host for industry. Moreover, it offers a better insight in the role of the *cis*-acting *cre*-boxes in determining the strength of carbon catabolism regulation by the global regulator CcpA.

CONTENTS

CHAPTER 19
Introduction and scope of the thesis
CHAPTER 2
Comparative transcriptional responses of <i>Bacillus subtilis</i> cells overproducing either
secreted proteins, lipoproteins or membrane proteins
CHAPTER 3
Regulation of $ykrL$ ($htpX$) by Rok and YkrK, a novel type of regulator in Bacillus subtilis
CHAPTER 4
Determination of the Bacillus subtilis PrsA chaperone/foldase localization pattern
and assessment of the cell wall synthesis defect in a <i>prsA</i> mutant
CHAPTER 5
High- and low-affinity cre boxes for CcpA binding in Bacillus subtilis revealed by
genome-wide analysis
CHAPTER 6
Summary and general discussion
APPENDIX
Supplementary material to Chapter 5
REFERENCES113
SAMENVATTING VOOR DE LEEK137
STRESZCZENIE DLA LAIKÓW141
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS145
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS/PODZIĘKOWANIA147

CHAPTER 1

Introduction and scope of the thesis

Bacillus subtilis as a "cell factory"

Bacillus subtilis is a model rod-shaped Gram-positive bacterium with a GRAS status (Generally Recognized As Safe). The full sequence of the genome of this bacterium was published for the first time in 1997 [1] and resequenced and reannotated recently [2]. The genome was shown to be 4.2 Mb in size and to contain approximately 4200 protein-coding genes. A large proportion of the genome is related to carbon source metabolism, including plant-derived molecules [1]. Around 300 genes are considered indispensable or essential, most of which are involved in metabolism. About half of the essential genes are involved in DNA, RNA metabolism and protein synthesis and the others in cell envelope synthesis, cell shape and division, cell energetics and genes with unknown function [3].

B. subtilis can be naturally found in soil and vegetation [4]. Starvation and different stress conditions are common for this environment. *B. subtilis* has, therefore, developed several survival strategies. Induction of motility and chemotaxis, production of proteases and carbohydrases and antibiotics increase the chance for survival [1]. Moreover, under conditions of nutrient limitations, *B. subtilis* cells can initiate the process of sporulation [5], i.e., formation of endospores that are highly-resistant to starvation and harsh circumstances, and a variety of physical and chemical agents [6]. When the appropriate nutrients are present and the conditions improve, the spores undergo germination followed by outgrowth to vegetative cells [6]. Another strategy of survival is the development of genetic competence allowing uptake of external naked DNA [7]. By recombination, *B. subtilis* can gain new features and adapt to new conditions.

An industrially relevant feature of *B. subtilis* is its ability to secrete proteins to the outside of the cell. "Protein secretion" refers to a process of targeting, docking and translocation of a protein through translocation complexes in the cell membrane. The major pathway for translocation of proteins through the membrane is the Sec machinery, which consists of SecA, the translocation motor, and SecE, SecG and SecY, the integral membrane proteins [8]. The Sec translocon works in an ATP- dependent manner and it recognizes preproteins carrying the Sec-type signal peptide on the N-terminus [8]. Also other components are involved in Sec-dependent protein export: SRP/FtsY and CsaA cytoplasmic chaperons facilitate targeting of the precursors to the translocase in the membrane; type I signal peptidases (SipS-W) and the lipoprotein-specific signal peptidase (Lsp) cleave the preprotein during or shortly after translocation; SppS and TepA are involved in degradation of cleaved signal peptides;

PrsA, BdbBC and/or SpoIIIJ/YqjG are responsible for folding of several secreted proteins; HtrA, HtrB and WprA are involved in the quality control of secretory proteins [8].



Figure 1. Simplified scheme representing cell envelope stress responses in B. subtilis. σY , σX , σM , σW , σV , σZ and YlaC, extracytoplasmic function sigma factors; CssS, LiaS, BceS, YxdK and PsdS, sensor histidine kinases of two-component systems; CssR, LiaR, BceR, YxdJ and PsdR, response regulators of two-component systems; HtrA/B, membrane-anchored chaperone/proteases HtrA and HtrB, LiaH, phage shock protein. BceS/YxdK/PsdS sensor kinases and BceR/YxdJ/PsdR regulators are parts of peptide sensing and detoxification modules (PSD) consisting of two-component systems and ABC transporters. Activation of sigma factors occurs via a cascade of proteolytic degradation of antisigma and anti-antisigma factors. See text for details. This figure was adapted from [9–11].

Proteins containing a highly conserved twin-arginine motif in the N-terminal domain of the signal peptide are exported in their pre-folded state via the twin-arginine translocation (Tat) pathway [12–14] and this process is driven by the proton motive force across the membrane [15–17]. Two distinct translocases with different substrate specificities are present in *B. subtilis*: TatAdCd (involving TatAd and TatCd) facilitating secretion of PhoP, a protein with phosphodiesterase and alkaline phosphatase activity, and TatAyCy (involving TatAy and TatCy) responsible for translocation of YwbN, an iron-dependent peroxidase [18–20]. Both Tat complexes were shown to recognize similar N-terminal signal peptides [21]. Despite of this substrate specificity, the Tat pathway has the potential of secretion of heterologous proteins as it was shown that an organophosphate-hydrolyzing enzyme, methyl parathion hydrolase (MPH) fused to the twin-arginine signal peptide of TorA from *Escherichia coli* can be secreted in a Tat-dependent way in *B. subtilis* [22].

Proteins lacking a signal peptidase (SPase) cleavage site or lipid-modified proteins or proteins containing transmembrane domains retain at the extracytoplasmic site of the membrane; those with cell wall-binding repeats, stay attached to the cell wall. After proteolysis or due to cell wall turnover, the membrane- and cell wall-attached proteins can be released into the medium [8]. Also proteins lacking signal peptides can leave the cell through cell lysis, holin systems for lytic enzymes of bacteriophages [23], flagellar export for the flagellin (Hag) and two flagellar hook-associated proteins [24–26], or yet unidentified systems. Additional secretion pathways are the pseudopilin export pathway for competence development and ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters. Since only few proteins appear to be exported in this manner, they can be regarded as special-purpose pathways [27].

The ability to secrete proteins to the growth medium made B. subtilis an enzymeproduction "cell factory" competitive to E. coli, which is used, in example, for production of human insulin [28]. Proteins produced in E. coli usually accumulate within the cell and form aggregates and inclusion bodies. Recovery of the proteins from inclusion bodies can be a problematic process. Moreover, B. subtilis is lacking the highly pyrogenic endotoxin lipopolysaccharide (LPS) that is present in the outer membrane of E. coli and other Gram-negative bacteria and complicates protein purification, since the end-product must be endotoxin-free [29]. More than half of the commercially available enzymes are produced by *B. subtilis* and its close relatives. The produced proteins are useful enzymes for the detergent, food and beverage industries [30] as for instance alkaline proteases used as washing agent or amylases used for the starch industry [29]. Other successfully produced proteins using *B. subtilis* are proinsulin [31], human epidermal growth factor (hEGF) [32], human interferon a (hIFN- α 2b) [33], endocellulase (PuradaxR) [34], endoglucanase [32], and also human papillomavirus type 33 L1 major capsid protein and virus-like particles used for development of a prophylactic vaccine against cervical cancer [35]. Next to industry, B. subtilis is used in fundamental research for the production of homologous and heterologous proteins, which then can be isolated and purified for crystallography in order to obtain their crystal structures or for other (*in vitro*) assays. However, when too much protein is produced and transported, cell envelope stress responses are turned on, which may set limits to the production on a big scale.

Cell envelope stress response

Cells of *B. subtilis* and other bacteria respond to chemical and physical stresses affecting the integrity of the cell wall and membrane by activating a cell envelope stress response, which is exerted by two-component regulatory systems (TCS) and extracytoplasmic function (ECF) sigma factors (Fig. 1) [11]. TCSs consist of two proteins, a sensor kinase and a response regulator. In response to specific signal(s), sensor kinases of TCSs autophosphorylate at the conserved histidine residue and transfer the phosphoryl group to the conserved aspartate residue in its cognate regulator, which usually increases the affinity of the regulator for specific DNA sequences and results in expression of the regulated genes [36–38]. ECF sigma factors form a subfamily of eubacterial RNA polymerase sigma factors that are involved in response to extracytoplasmic stimuli and stresses [39]. Their activity is regulated by one or more anti-sigma factors with an extra-cytoplasmic domain and an intracellular domain that prevent the ECF sigma factor from interaction with RNA polymerase [40].

Two-component Systems

High level production of homologous and heterologous proteins, which are translocated through the membrane, as well as heat shock, have been shown to induce a specific stress response in B. subtilis through a two-component signal transduction system, CssS-CssR (Fig. 1) [41–43]. CssS is a sensor histidine kinase with two transmembrane domains [44]. Although the direct signal which is perceived by CssS is unknown, the fact that translocation of secreted proteins is required for induction of the CssRS response suggests that the signal originates from some aspect of the secretion apparatus or process, or the accumulation of misfolded proteins [43, 45, 46]. In favor of this hypothesis is recent study showing that the CssS extracellular loop domain functions in the switch between the active and inactive state and in signal perception and/or transduction [45]. The response regulator CssR, stimulated by the histidine kinase, binds to promoter regions and activates expression of its own operon, cssRS, leading to amplification of the response, as well as to htrA and htrB, coding for extracellular chaperone/proteases responsible for refolding or degradation of misfolded proteins within the cell envelope [41, 43, 47]. Both HtrA and HtrB possess transmembrane domains and are probably located at the outer surface of the cell membrane, although truncated forms of HtrA can also accumulate in the growth medium [48]. It has also been suggested that expression of ykoJ, yloA, ylxF and citM is also regulated by CssR, although the putative CssR-binding sequence was not found in front of these operons [49].

Next to the response to heat and secreted protein-overproduction stress, CssRS has also been implicated to be involved in cellular response to rhamnolipoid biosurfactants with antimicrobial properties [43]. Moreover, mammalian peptidoglycan recognition proteins (PGRPs), similar to antimicrobial lectins, were shown to bind to the *B. subtilis* cell wall and kill the cells through inducing an exaggerated CssRS stress response [50]. Physiologically, CssRS plays a role in the stationary growth phase, when more proteins are secreted [51].

The CssRS system bears some similarities with the CpxRA system of *E. coli*, which is comprised of the CpxA kinase, the CpxR response regulator and a periplasmic protein CpxP, negatively regulating CpxA activity [52, 53]. CssS and CssR reveal amino acid sequence similarities to CpxA and CpxR, respectively [54]. Both systems respond to cell envelope and secretion stresses [53, 55] and control expression of their own operons as well as genes encoding HtrA-like proteases: htrA and htrB in B. subtilis, and htrA (degP) in E. coli [47, 56–58]. Therefore, the CpxRA system of E. coli and CssRS of *B. subtilis* can be considered functional homologues. However, the regulon of CpxR in E. coli is bigger than that of CssR in B. subtilis. Next to cpxRA and htrA, it also regulates expression of genes coding for proteins catalyzing peptidyl-prolyl isomerization (i.e., PpiA, PpiD) and disulphide bond formation (i.e., DsbA), phosphatidyl serine decarboxylase (Psd), heat shock membrane-bound zinc metalloprotease (HtpX) and many others [59]. HtpX in E. coli, together with a membrane-bound ATP-dependent endopeptidase (FtsH), play a central role in cytoplasmic membrane proteins quality control. This is a mechanism to monitor the state of protein folding and eliminate and/or repair the abnormal membrane proteins accumulating under hazardous environmental changes, which can disturb the membrane structure and function and, eventually, integrity and viability of the cell. FtsH and HtpX contribute to this mechanism by dislocation of misfolded membrane proteins out of the membrane for their degradation and endoproteolytic cleavage of cytoplasmic loops of the substrate proteins, respectively [60]. In B. subtilis very little is known how the cells respond to this type of stress. Remarkably, homologs of FtsH and HtpX are present in B. subtilis: FtsH and YkrL, respectively. While the role of YkrL had not been studied before, B. subtilis FtsH has been shown to be involved in heat and osmotic stress, and sporulation [61-64]. Instead, SigW extracytoplasmic factor and CssRS system were implicated in the membrane quality control in B. subtilis [65]. As B. subtilis is used as a cell factory also for membrane protein production, it would be desired to gain more insight how the membrane quality process is regulated in this bacterium. This knowledge could be useful in rational design of a better membrane protein producer.

Other two-component systems, namely LiaRS, BceRS, YvcPQ and YxdJK (Fig. 1), were shown to respond to cell wall antibiotics and other factors perturbing the envelope in *B. subtilis* [11]. The LiaRS system, is also called a three-component system as, next to the typical sensor kinase (LiaS) and response regulator (LiaR), it involves a membrane-anchored protein, LiaF, inhibiting LiaS activity under non-stress conditions [66]. It has been shown that LiaR regulates its own operon *liaIHGFSR*, as well as *yhcYZ-yhdA* and *ydhE*, all of which are preceded by a putative LiaR binding site. However, the only *in vivo* relevant target of LiaR seems to be the *lia* operon encoding the three-component system and a phage shock protein-like response protein reminiscent of PspA in *E.coli*, LiaH [10].

The other TCS are parts of the cell wall peptide antibiotics-responsive modules, PSD (peptide sensing and detoxification) which in general consist of a TCS and an ABC transporter: BceRS-AB, YxdJK-LM, and PsdRS-AB (YvcPQ-RS). The BceRS-AB (PSD1) system was implicated in response to cell wall antibiotics such as bacitracin, plectasin, actagardine and mersacidin [9, 67, 68]. The YxdJK-LM system (PSD2) was shown to respond to the human antimicrobial peptide LL-37 [69] and YvcPQ-RS (PSD3) to bacitracin [67].

Extracytoplasmic function (ECF) sigma factors

B. subtilis encodes seven extracytoplasmic function sigma factors: SigM, SigV, SigW, SigX, SigY, SigZ and YlaC (Fig. 1). The B. subtilis ECF sigma factors recognize promoters with a similar sequence containing a conserved AAC motif within the -35 region and a CGT motif in the -10 region [40]. Several of these ECFs are induced by cell envelope-active antibiotics and by compounds affecting membrane integrity and/or fluidity [40, 70]. The best characterized ECFs in B. subtilis are SigW, SigM and SigX, which control overlapping sets of genes. In many cases, resistance genes are regulated by a single ECF sigma factor. The SigW regulon consists of ~60 genes, including numerous genes encoding membrane-localized proteins, and is activated under membrane stress elicited by cell wall-active antibiotics (e.g., vancomycin), membraneactive antibiotics (e.g., daptomycin), detergents (e.g., Triton X-100), overproduction of membrane proteins, phage infection, alkaline shock, salt stress and antimicrobial peptides [40, 65, 69, 71–76]. It has been shown that SigW responds to compounds that increase membrane fluidity by changing the fatty acid composition [77]. The SigW activity is regulated by a single-pass transmembrane anti-sigma factor RsiW [78-80]. RsiW interacts with SigW keeping it in an inactive state and undergoes stress-induced regulated intramembrane proteolysis (RIP), which leads to degradation of RsiW and in the release of active SigW [81]. The proteins necessary for proteolysis of RsiW are RasP (YluC) and PrsW membrane-bound proteases, and the ClpXP proteolytic complex [79, 82, 83].

SigM regulates expression of a large number of operons coding for proteins involved in cell wall synthesis and cell division [75]. The SigM response is activated by several stresses like high salinity, heat, ethanol, acid and superoxide stress, and phosphate starvation, as well as by cell-wall active antibiotics such as vancomycin, bacitracin and cationic antimicrobial peptides [67, 69, 78, 84, 85]. In many cases, expression of the genes belonging to the SigM regulon depends also on other ECF sigma factors or other regulators [75]. The SigX regulon consists of operons that have been implicated in peptidoglycan turnover and modulation of the net charge of the cell wall and cell membrane [76, 86]. A *sigX* mutant reveals increased sensitivity to cationic antimicrobial peptides [74]. It was shown that SigM plays a primary and SigX a secondary role in β -lactam resistance [87] and that active SigM or SigX is required for the synthesis of one of the bactericidal antibiotics active against Gram-positive bacteria, sublancin 168 [88].

The knowledge on the other ECF sigma factors (SigV, SigY, SigZ, and YlaC) is still limited. SigY controls expression of its own operon and of at least one other gene of an unknown function, *ybgB* and its activity is not induced by a variety of factors stimulating SigX, SigW and SigM responses [89], but by nitrogen starvation [90]. SigV, YlaC, and also SigM, were shown to be activated by the cell wall-active antibiotics daptomycin and friulimicin B [73]. The SigV factor was also shown to confer resistance to lysozyme by activation of cell wall modification pathways encoded by *dltABCDE* (D-alanylation of teichoic acids) and *oatA* (O-acetylation of peptidoglycan) within the *sigV-rsiV-oatA-yrhK* operon [91, 92]. Its regulon was identified and almost completely overlaps with the genes which are under control of SigM, SigW and SigX [93]. The YlaC factor regulates expression of its own operon (*ylaABCD*) [94] and it was also implicated in oxidative stress resistance [95].

Cellular stress responses

Other cellular quality control systems facilitating the production of high quality proteins by responding to a sudden temperature increase and other stresses are generally called heat shock proteins (Hsps), which, based on their gene regulation, can be divided into classes (regulons). Genes from each class are regulated by a different transcriptional regulator, which can be a sigma factor, a transcriptional repressor or activator. The heat shock genes are expressed constitutively, mostly at low levels, and their expression is rapidly and transiently induced after a temperature upshift [96]. Most of the heat shock proteins belong either to molecular chaperones, which ensure proper folding or assemblage of proteins [97], or to adenosine triphosphate (ATP)–dependent proteases responsible for degradation of misfolded proteins which are unable to refold to their native conformation [98]. In *B. subtilis*, there are at least six classes of heat shock genes responding to non-native proteins, which arise under the denaturing influence of heat, salt or ethanol (Table 1).

Class	Regulon name	Regulator	Inducers	Main regulated genes	Function of major heat shock genes products				
I	HrcA	HrcA repressor	Heat	groES-groEL hrcA-grpE-dnaKJ- yqeTUV	DnaK chaperone machine				
II	σВ	σB sigma factor	Different stressors	> 150	General stress proteins				
III	CtsR	CtsR repressor	Different stressors	ctsR-mcsA-mcsB- clpC clpP clpE	ATP-dependent proteases (ClpCP, ClpEP)				
IV	?	?	Heat	htpG	Molecular chaperone				
V	CssRS	CssS sensor and CssR regulator	Heat, secretory proteins overproduction	cssRS htrA htrB	Membrane-anchored proteases (HtrA, HtrB)				
VI	?	?	Different stressors	> 80	Diverse functions				

Table 1. Heat shock responses in B. subtilis.

Class I heat shock genes - HrcA regulon

Class I heat shock genes belong to the heptacistronic *dnaK* and bicistronic *groE* operons. The *dnaK* operon consists of the genes *hrcA* coding for the negative regulator of both operons, *groE*, *dnaK*, and *dnaJ* encoding the DnaK chaperone machine, and *yqeT*, *yqeU* and *yqeV*. The *groES* and *groEL* genes, coding for molecular chaperones, form the *groE* operon [99–101]. Both operons are preceded by a SigA (housekeeping sigma factor) promoter and a perfect inverted 9-bp repeat separated by a 9-bp spacer with the DNA sequence TTAGCACTC-N₉-GAGTGCTAA. This inverted repeat, called CIRCE (controlling inverted repeat of chaperone expression), is a *cis*-acting binding site for the negative regulator, HrcA [102–104]. The activity of HrcA is modulated by the GroE chaperonin machinery [105]. The HrcA repressor is present in the cells under both the active and inactive (unable to bind to CIRCE element) form. Under non-stress conditions, the GroE system converts the majority of HrcA molecules into the active form. When the cells experience heat stress, abnormal proteins titrate the GroE

chaperonins, causing an increase of the inactive form of HrcA and intensified transcription of the *dnaK* and *groE* operons [96].

Class II heat shock genes - SigB regulon

The class II heat shock genes are under positive control of the alternative sigma factor, SigB and they encode proteins of different categories: direct protection (proteases, catalases, thioredoxins, arsenate reductases), modulation of SigB activity (antisigma, anti-antisigmafactors, phosphatases), influx and efflux (permeases, antiporters, symporters), metabolism (dehydrogenases, glucosidase, pyruvate oxidase) and turnover (cysteine protease, ribonuclease R) [106]. This regulon responds not only to classical heat shock stress (such as the heat shock itself and ethanol) but also to a range of other stresses like salt, oxidation, desiccation or acid stress, and oxygen, glucose or phosphate starvation. It is therefore considered a general stress response regulon [107]. The 8-gene sigB operon is under control of a SigA-dependent promoter, ensuring constitutive expression, and a SigB-dependent promoter, leading to amplification of the response under stress conditions [108, 109]. The SigB activity is modulated in a complex way by antisigma factor RsbW and anti-antisigma factor RsbV [110]. Under physiological conditions, SigB is sequestered by RsbW, which prevents SigB interaction with RNA polymerase and transcription. Additionally, RsbW is responsible for inactivation of RsbV by phosphorylation. If the cells are exposed to a stress condition, one of the phosphatases, RsbP or RsbU, removes the phosphate from RsbV~P. Dephosphorylated RsbV attacks the SigB-RsbW complex, causing release of SigB and activation of the expression of more than 150 genes [96, 111].

Class III heat shock genes - CtsR regulon

Class III heat shock genes consist of six genes organized in three transcriptional units: the tetracistronic clpC operon (ctsR-mcsA-mcsB-clpC) and the monocistronic clpP and *clpE* operons. All operons are preceded by two promoters: *clpE* by two σ A-dependent promoters and *clpC* operon and *clpP* by σA - and σB -dependent promoters [112, 113]. The class III heat shock gene repressor, CtsR binds to the operator sequences, i.e., heptanucleotide direct repeats with а highly conserved sequence (A/G)GTCAAANAN(A/G)GTCAAA [114]. At temperatures optimal for growth, the CtsR regulon genes are expressed at a low level and are strongly derepressed after a temperature upshift. The *mcsA* and *mcsB* genes code for modulators of the CtsR activity and *clp* genes for the subunits of ClpCP and ClpEP ATP-dependent proteases involved in degradation of misfolded proteins [115–117]

Class IV, V and VI heat shock proteins

The only class IV heat shock gene, *htpG*, coding for a molecular chaperone, is strongly induced upon a temperature upshift and its expression is under control of a yet unidentified positive transcriptional regulator [118, 119]. The class V consists of the CssR regulon described above and class VI comprises of genes responding to stress but the expression of which is regulated by other mechanism(s) than in classes I-V. Genes falling into this class are, e.g., *ftsH*, *clpX* and *lonA-ysxC* operon coding for ATP-dependent proteases [63, 120, 121], and *ahpC-ahpF*, *nfrA-ywcH* operons encoding alkyl hydroperoxide reductase and NADPH-linked nitro/flavin reductase, respectively [122, 123] and many others [124].

Attempts to improve *B. subtilis* as a "cell factory"

Although *B. subtilis* for a number of reasons is a preferred host for production of homoand heterologous proteins at a large scale (see the first section of this chapter), cell envelope and cellular stress responses as well as mechanisms inhibiting the secretion pathway may compromise protein production. The limitations can result from, e.g., a low transcription level, inefficient translation, the presence of intracellular proteases, deficiency in chaperon complexes, poor targeting to the translocase in the cell membrane, jamming of the secretion machinery and, after the translocation, from deficiency in signal peptidases, chaperones, foldases, and the presence of extracytoplasmic proteases [27, 29, 125]. Also stress responsive systems, like CssRS or ECF sigma factor SigW may hamper protein production [65].

The rational manipulations of the protein secretion machinery and stress responsive systems resulted in improvement of *B. subtilis* as a protein production host. Deletion of six extracellular proteases (*aprA*, *nprE*, *nprB*, *epr*, *bpf* and *mpr*) lead to improved protein production as shown for TEM β -lactamase [126]. Further enhanced production of intracellular (GroES/EL, DnaK/DnaJ/GrpE) and extracellular (PrsA) molecular chaperons resulted in a better production and subsequent characterization of an antidigoxin and fibrin-specific single-chain antibody fragments [127, 128]. PrsA also facilitated production of recombinant lipoxygenase from *Anabaena sp.*, which has application in bread making and aroma production [129], and the biotechnologically important thermoresistant AmyL α -amylase of *Bacillus licheniformis* and other α -amylases [130–132]. Additional usage of a strong promoter and an efficient signal sequence on a multicopy plasmid resulted in optimization of human interleukin-3 (hIL-

3) production [133]. The contribution of (synthetic) strong and inducible promoters to high level protein production was also shown with other examples [134–137]. Specific overproduction of one of the signal peptidases (responsible for removal of aminoterminal signal peptides from translocated through the membrane proteins in order to release these proteins from the *trans* side of the membrane), SipT, enhanced the secretion of α -amylase, AmyQ [138]. Moreover, it was suggested that the increased net charge of the cell wall as a result of the *dlt* operon interruption, which is involved in the d-alanylation of teichoic acids, had a positive influence of AmyQ and recombinant anthrax protective antigen (rPA) secretion [139, 140]. Specific modifications of signal peptides as shown for two lipolytic enzymes, cutinase from Fusarium solani pisi and a cytoplasmatic esterase of metagenomic origin, and secretory protein itself, as shown in case of detoxified *Clostridium perfringens* β -toxin (β -toxoid), resulted in an improved production [141, 142]. Also high-throughput screening for optimal (native or mutated) signal peptides contributed to improvement of the production and secretion of the industrially important secreted protease. subtilisin BPN' from Bacillus amyloliquefaciens and cutinase from F. solani pisi [143, 144]. Furthermore, changes in protein targeting pathways enhanced the secretion of maltose binding protein (MalE11) and alkaline phosphatase (PhoA) [145] and modifications in the secretory machine (SecA) improved secretion of alkaline cellulase (Egl-237) and human interferon α (hIFN- α 2b) [146]. Additionally, fusing hIFN- α 2b with the AmyE properties also increased its production, secretion and activity [147]. Furthermore, mutations in the ECF sigma factor SigW or CssRS two-component system significantly improved production of membrane proteins [65]. Altogether, already many studies contributed to the improvement of *B. subtilis* as a "cell factory".

Central carbon metabolism

In order to allow for the most efficient protein production using *B. subtilis* as a production host, not only modifications in the secretion machinery and the stress responsive systems are of importance, but also the optimal growth rate should be assured. This is achieved by growing the cells in rich growth medium with the most preferred carbon and energy source like, in case of *B. subtilis*, glucose, fructose or mannose. *B. subtilis* and other bacteria are able to maximize the metabolic efficiency through activation of expression of the genes encoding enzymes necessary for preferred carbon source utilization (carbon catabolite activation, CCA) and simultaneous repression of the genes involved in utilization of secondary carbon sources (carbon

catabolite repression, CCR). Both mechanisms, together called carbon catabolite control (CCC), occur simultaneously and in *B. subtilis* they are exerted by a phosphoenolpyruvate-dependent phosphotransferase system (PEP-dependent PTS) and a global regulator of carbon metabolism genes, CcpA (catabolite control protein A) (Fig. 2) [148, 149].



Figure 2. The mechanism of carbon catabolite control in *B. subtilis.* EI and HPr, non-sugar-specific enzymes of PEP-dependent phosphotransferase system (PTS); EIIA, EIIB and EIIC, domains of the sugar-specific PEP-dependent PTS; glu-P, glucose-6-phosphate; FBP, fructose-1,6-bisphosphate; PEP, phosphoenolpyruvate; Crh, HPr-like protein; HPrK/P, HPr kinase/phosphatase; CcpA, carbon catabolite protein A; cre, catabolite responsive elements; TSS, transcriptional start site; CCA, carbon catabolite activation; CCR, carbon catabolite repression. The uptake of glucose, or other favored carbohydrate, results in an increase of FBP concentration in the cell, which triggers ATP-dependent HPrK/P-catalyzed phosphorylation of HPr and Crh proteins at the conserved serine (Ser) residue. Seryl-phosphorylated forms of HPr and Crh bind to CcpA. Active CcpA-[HPr-Ser-P] and CcpA-[Crh-Ser-P] complexes can bind to the DNA at cre sites and trigger CCA or CCR depending on the cre position in relation to the promoter (for simplicity, CcpA-[Crh-Ser-P] complexes are removed from cre sites). See text for details. This figure was adapted from **[149, 150**].

The PTS system is the main system for carbohydrate uptake and it involves the general non-sugar-specific proteins enzyme I (EI) and HPr (histidine-containing protein), and sugar-specific enzyme II (EII) consisting of three domains: EIIA, EIIB and EIIC. The EIIA and EIIB domains are involved in transfer of the phosphoryl group and the EIIC domain – in translocation of the sugar substrate [151]. The signaling intermediate

protein HPr is phosphorylated at the conserved histidine residue (His_{15}) by EI at the expense of the high-energy metabolite phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP). Next, the phosphoryl group is transferred to EIIA and then further to EIIB. During transport through the membrane by the transporter domain EIIC, glucose is phosphorylated by EIIB, yielding glucose-6-phosphate (glu-P), which is further metabolized in glycolysis [151–153]. The intermediate product of this pathway, fructose-1,6-bisphosphate (FBP) activates HPr kinase/phosphatase (HprK/P) that phosphorylates the HPr protein at conserved serine residue (Ser₄₆) at the expense of ATP. A seryl-phosphorylated form of HPr (HPr-Ser-P) interacts with several PTS and non-PTS sugar permeases, resulting in a reduced uptake of sugars [152, 154]. In addition, HPr-Ser-P interacts with CcpA, which induces binding of the CcpA-[HPr-Ser-P] complex to operator sequences in the promoter regions of the regulated genes [155, 156]. Next to HPr, an HPr-like protein, Crh (catabolite repression Hpr) can also be phosphorylated at the serine residue by HPrK/P at the expense of ATP, bind to CcpA and cause carbon catabolite control. Crh, however, lacks the conserved His₁₅ residue, therefore it has no function in PTS transport [157, 158]. The CcpA activity is also modulated by low molecular weight molecules like fructose-1,6-bisphosphate, glucose-6-phosphate and NADP/NADH, which enhance CcpA affinity for HPr-Ser-P, trigger cooperative CcpA binding to DNA and enhance the CcpA interaction with the transcription machinery, respectively [155, 159–162].

CcpA is a member of the LacI/GalR transcriptional regulators [163]. In complex with HPr-Ser-P (CcpA-[HPr-Ser-P]) or Crh-Ser-P (CcpA-[Crh-Ser-P]), CcpA binds to DNA at operator sequences called *cre* (catabolite responsive elements). *Cre* boxes are pseudo-palindromic, highly degenerate sequences with the consensus WTGNNARCGNWWWCAW [164–166]. In general, if the *cre* box is localized upstream from the -35 box of the promoter, the downstream gene/operon is subject to CCA. Otherwise, CcpA binding to *cre* boxes either overlapping with the promoter or located downstream, results in CCR [149].

CcpA is a global regulator assumed to control expression of roughly 300 genes [149]. The CcpA regulon was defined in time, i.e., at different stages of growth in glucosecontaining medium [167]. New potential CcpA target genes were identified recently and used to improve regulatory network topology [168]. In the presence of the favored carbon source, CcpA in *B. subtilis* exerts repression of many operons involved in the secondary carbon sources catabolism, e.g., *araABDLMNPQ-abfA*, *bglPH*, *galKT*, *glpFK*, *trePAR*, involved in utilization of arabinose, β -glucoside, galactose, glycerol and trehalose, respectively [165, 169–173]. Also *amyE* coding for the extracellular α amylase hydrolyzing starch is subject to CcpA-mediated carbon catabolite repression [163, 174]. Besides, various amino acids and nucleotides serve as carbon and nitrogen sources. The drm-pupG operon involved in metabolism of deoxyribonucleoside and the hutPHUIGM operon for histidine utilization are direct targets of CcpA [175-177]. CcpA inhibits the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle by repressing expression of citZencoding the first gene of the cycle, citrate synthase [178, 179]. This prevents the cells from producing an excess ATP, while they can derive enough ATP from glycolysis. Also transport of the TCA cycle intermediates is suppressed by CcpA-dependent repression of the *citM-yflN* operon involved in citrate transport as well as the *citST* operon coding for two-component regulatory system positively regulating citM-yflN [180, 181]. Transport systems for other carbohydrates like malate, fumarate or succinate are shut down by CcpA-mediated repression of the encoding gene, dctP [182]. CcpA directly represses expression of the *resABCDE* operon required for respiration [183]. CcpA mostly acts as a repressor and there are only few cases of CCA: ackA and pta encoding enzymes catalyzing the conversion of acetyl-CoA to acetate, alsSD involved in acetoin biosynthesis, and *ilv-leu* playing a role in the biosynthesis of branched-chain amino acids (BCAA) (isoleucine, leucine and valine) [184-187]. Enhancement of these processes prevents accumulation of pyruvate, which is produced to high levels when cells are grown in a rich medium supplemented with a rapidly metabolizable carbon source such as glucose.

Altogether, CCA and CCR in a CcpA-dependent manner result in a very efficient metabolism. Therefore, knowledge on the metabolome is also of importance in the process of optimization of conditions for *B. subtilis* cultivation in large fermentors for industry purposes.

Scope of this thesis

B. subtilis is an attractive organism used for commercial production of enzymes as well as for protein production for fundamental research. As described in this chapter (**Chapter 1**), several attempts have been made over the last years to improve this organism in protein production to gain higher production yields and proteins of a better quality. Yet, protein production may face limitations. The research described in this thesis was initiated to gain a better and more comprehensive view on the response of *B. subtilis* cells to secretion stress caused by overproduction of proteins (**Chapter 2**, **3** and **4**) as well as on carbon catabolite control by CcpA (**Chapter 5**), which is an important aspect of the optimization of cells' cultivation in big fermentations.

In **chapter 2**, responses of *B. subtilis* to protein production stress caused by overproduction of proteins with different (subcellular) destination are studied extensively on the transcriptome level. This work revealed general stress responses activated by overproduction of many proteins as well as responses specific to overproduction of certain proteins. One such specific effect was strong upregulation of *ykrL* encoding a protein with high similarity to a membrane protein quality control protease, i.e., HtpX of *E. coli*. YkrL function and *ykrL* regulation was a further subject of **chapter 3**. It shows that YkrL is involved in responses to membrane stress and that its expression is regulated by the Rok repressor and, even stronger, by the so far unidentified regulator, YkrK.

The subject of **chapter 4** is the post-translocational molecular chaperone essential for the stability of secreted proteins, i.e., the PrsA lipoprotein anchored with its N-terminus to the membrane and with its C-terminus exposed to the extracytoplasmic site of the cell membrane. In this chapter, the PrsA localization pattern as well as cell wall synthesis defect in a *prsA* mutant are revealed, which contributed to a broader study (published elsewhere), where it was shown that several penicillin binding proteins (PBPs), which are membrane-bound proteins involved in cell wall synthesis, are folded in a PrsAdependent manner. It also gives insight to the immunofluorescence technique as an alternative method for determination of the localization pattern of membrane proteins.

Chapter 5 focuses on carbon catabolite control by the global regulator CcpA. In particular, attempts were made to determine the hierarchy in which the CcpA target genes are regulated in the presence of a preferable carbon source for *B. subtilis*, glucose. This was achieved by detailed analysis of the sequence and location of the CcpA binding boxes, *cre* (catabolite responsive elements). Slight, but interesting differences between *cre* sites to which CcpA shows higher affinity and those to which CcpA seems to bind with lower affinity are revealed.

Chapter 6 provides a general discussion with focus on the most important results that will be useful for further improvement of *B. subtilis* as a protein production and/or secretion host.

CHAPTER 2

Comparative transcriptional responses of *Bacillus subtilis* cells overproducing either secreted proteins, lipoproteins or membrane proteins

Bogumiła C. Marciniak[#], Hein Trip[#], Patricia J. van der Veek, Oscar P. Kuipers

[#]Both authors contributed equally to this work.

Published in Microbial Cell Factories 2012, 11:66

Bacillus subtilis is a favorable host for the production of industrially relevant proteins because of its capacity of secreting proteins into the medium to high levels, its GRAS (Generally Recognized As Safe) status, its genetic accessibility and its capacity to grow in large fermentations. However, production of heterologous proteins still faces limitations.

This study aimed at the identification of bottlenecks in secretory protein production by analyzing the response of *B. subtilis* at the transcriptome level to overproduction of eight secretory proteins of endogenous and heterologous origin and with different subcellular or extracellular destination: secreted proteins (NprE and XynA of *B. subtilis*, Usp45 of *Lactococcus lactis*, TEM-1 β -lactamase of *Escherichia coli*), membrane proteins (LmrA of *L. lactis* and XylP of *Lactobacillus pentosus*) and lipoproteins (MntA and YcdH of *B. subtilis*). Responses specific for proteins with a common localization as well as more general stress responses were observed. The latter include upregulation of genes encoding intracellular stress proteins (*groES/EL*, CtsR regulated genes). Specific responses include upregulation of the *liaIHGFSR* operon under Usp45 and TEM-1 β -lactamase overproduction; *cssRS*, *htrA* and *htrB* under all secreted proteins overproduction; *sigW* and SigW-regulated genes mainly under membrane proteins overproduction; and *ykrL* (encoding an HtpX homologue) specifically under membrane proteins overproduction.

The results give better insight to *B. subtilis* response to protein overproduction stress and provide potential targets for genetic engineering in order to further improve *B. subtilis* as a protein production host.

Introduction

The Gram-positive bacterium *Bacillus subtilis* is widely used in large scale production of endogenous and heterologous proteins used in food- and other industries. It is particularly favored as a production host since it has the capacity of secreting proteins to high levels into the medium enabling easy isolation and purification, it can be grown in large fermentations and is considered as a GRAS (Generally Recognized As Safe) organism by the US Food and Drug Administration. In addition, B. subtilis is still the most studied Gram-positive organism in fundamental research and is therefore a good model organism in the search for bottlenecks in protein overproduction. There are several cellular mechanisms that can hamper secretion of heterologous proteins on particular stages of the B. subtilis secretion pathway. At early stages of protein secretion, like synthesis of secretory pre-proteins, pre-protein interactions with cellular chaperones and binding to the translocase, the limitations may potentially result from, e.g., low transcription levels, inefficient translation, presence of intracellular proteases, deficiency in chaperones, poor targeting to the translocase, etc. [125]. The second stage of the protein secretion, i.e., translocation across the membrane via the Sec- or Tat-[27] translocase, may be confined by secretion machinery jamming [125]. At the late stages, which include removal of the signal peptide, release from the translocase, folding and passing the cell wall, deficiency in signal peptidases, foldases, chaperones and presence of extracellular proteases resulting in incorrect folding of proteins and protein's instability may also set limits to the secretion efficiency [29, 125]. The focus on identification and later manipulation of factors involved in protein secretion have led to the improvement of B. subtilis as a production host, for example by deletion of extracellular and/or intracellular proteases [126, 128, 133], use of strong or inducible promoters [135–137], overproduction of chaperones [127, 132] or signal peptidases [138, 188], modification of the cell wall [139, 140], protein modification [141, 142] and deletion of stress responsive systems [65].

Next to overproduction of proteins secreted into the medium, the overproduction of membrane proteins in *B. subtilis* is of a particular interest [189]. Membrane proteins are potential drug targets as they are exposed to and accessible from the extracytoplasmic environment, and therefore interesting for the pharmaceutical industry. Rational drug design, however, requires a three-dimensional structure, usually obtained from protein crystals, which can only be obtained when sufficient amounts of membrane protein of high quality are available [189].

In this work, a comparative transcriptomics approach was followed to study cellular responses to secretory proteins overproduction at the transcriptional level, in order to reveal so far unidentified possible production bottlenecks and thus potential targets for productive host engineering. Endogenous and heterologous proteins with different subcellular localization, i.e., secreted proteins, membrane proteins and lipoproteins were overproduced in *B. subtilis*. At least two proteins of each localization class were chosen in order to be able to discriminate between effects specific for one protein and effects common to one localization type. Transcriptomes were analyzed using DNA microarrays and subsequent use of appropriate bioinformatics tools. General responses as well as responses specific to proteins with a particular localization were identified.

Results and discussion

Transcriptome analysis of lipoproteins, membrane proteins or secreted proteins overproduction stress

B. subtilis remains a powerful host for the (industrial) production of secreted or membrane proteins but expression of heterologous proteins in particular has met limitations. These may occur at different levels of the production and secretion pathway. Here, the response of *B. subtilis* on the transcriptional level to overproduction of secretory proteins of endogenous or heterologous origin and with different subcellular localization, i.e., membrane proteins, lipoproteins and secreted proteins, was determined by transcriptome analysis.

Protein	Function	Organism	Subcellular localization
XyIP	Xyloside transporter	Lb. pentosus	Membrane
LmrA (inactive mutant)	ABC-transporter	L. lactis	Membrane
MntA	Manganese binding	B. subtilis	Lipoprotein
YcdH	Zinc binding	B. subtilis	Lipoprotein
XynA	Xylanase	B. subtilis	Secreted
NprE	Neutral protease	B. subtilis	Secreted
Usp45	Unknown	L. lactis	Secreted
TEM1 β-lactamase	β -lactamase	E. coli	Secreted

Table 1. Proteins overproduced in B. subtilis NZ8900 host using SURE system.

Eight genes encoding heterologous and endogenous proteins (Table 1) with different subcellular localization were cloned using the SURE system overexpression vector pNZ8902 or pNZ8901 [135]: *lmrA* of *Lactococcus lactis*, encoding the membrane embedded putative multidrug transporter LmrA [190]; *xylP* of *Lactobacillus pentosus*

encoding a membrane embedded xyloside transporter XylP [191], mntA and ycdH of B. subtilis encoding the manganese binding lipoprotein MntA [192] and the putative zinc binding lipoprotein YcdH [193], respectively; bla of Escherichia coli encoding the periplasm located TEM-1 B-lactamase (Bla) [194]; usp45 of L. lactis, encoding the cell wall-associated Usp45 [195]; and nprE and xynA of B. subtilis, encoding the secreted neutral protease NprE [196] and the secreted xylanase XynA [197], respectively. The genes were fused to C-terminal 6His-tag encoding sequences. B. subtilis NZ8900 harboring these constructs or the empty vector pNZ8902 or pNZ8901 were grown to mid-exponential phase and expression was induced with subtilin. Samples were taken 30 minutes after induction for microarray analyses and after two hours for testing protein production. SDS-PAGE analysis of whole-cell, membrane, cytoplasm and medium fractions together with His-tag immunodetection demonstrated that XylP, LmrA, MntA, YcdH, TEM-1 β-lactamase and Usp45 were overproduced to levels varying from high for LmrA, YcdH and Usp45 to hardly visible on a Coomassie stained gel but well detectable using immunodetection (XylP) (Fig. 1). Distinct localization patterns were observed for each class of protein (Fig. 1). XynA and NprE were efficiently produced and secreted into the medium (Fig. 1 B), whereas Usp45 and TEM-1 β-lactamase were detected mainly in whole cell fractions (Fig. 1A, left panel). Since the latter two were not or hardly detectable in the cytoplasmic and membrane fractions (Fig. 1C and D), it is likely that they accumulated in the cell wall or membrane/cell wall interface. In accordance, TEM-1 β-lactamase expressed in B. subtilis was previously shown to accumulate in the membrane/cell wall interface due to inefficient passage through the cell wall [198]. Usp45 shows homology with proteins involved in cell wall metabolism, e.g., peptidoglycan hydrolases of Streptococcus mutans, Streptococcus oralis, Lactococcus lactis subsp. lactis [199–201], which may explain localization in or at the cell wall. Overexpression of usp45 did not inhibit growth, whereas overexpression of *bla* resulted in growth inhibition as well as cell lysis, possibly due to interference with cell wall metabolism.

LmrA and XylP were exclusively found in the membrane fraction (Fig. 1C). Similarly, the lipoproteins MntA and YcdH were present mainly in the membrane fraction (Fig. 1C), but immunodetection also indicated their presence at a low level in the medium (Fig. 1B, right panel) and cytoplasmic fraction (Fig. 1D, right panel). Immunodetection using His-tag antibodies proved to be of limited use in comparing levels of the different proteins, since they were detected with very different efficiencies (compare Fig. 1B, left and right panel). Especially TEM1 β -lactamase and Usp45 were hardly detectable in general.



Figure 1. Overproduction of different secretory proteins in *B. subtilis*. (A) Whole cell extracts, (B) medium fractions, (C) membrane fractions, (D) cytoplasmic fractions. Left panels show SDS-PAGE gels; right panels (B, C and D) show immunodetection of the 6his-tagged proteins using Penta-His HRP conjugate antibodies (Qiagen). Asterisks indicate protein bands corresponding to the overproduced proteins, assigned on basis of calculated molecular mass and/or immunodetection. Calculated molecular masses of proteins, with and without signal peptide, in kDa: XynA, 32.3 (preprotein), 20.4 (matured); NprE, 56.5 (preprotein), 53.9 (matured); Bla (TEM-1 β -lactamase), 32.3 (preprotein), 29.7 (matured); Usp45, 48.2 (preprotein), 45.5 (matured); MntA, 33.4 (preprotein), 32.4 (matured); YcdH, 36.5 (preprotein), 34.3 (matured); LmrA, 66.2; XylP, 55.3.

The mRNA levels of each overproducing strain were compared with those of the control strain using DNA microarrays. Fold-changes in the expression level of genes that were at least 2.5 times up- or downregulated in response to overproduction of both proteins of the same subcellular localization, or to overproduction of at least 4 proteins with other destinations, are summarized in Table 2. The complete microarray data is available at GEO repository (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/query/acc.cgi?acc=GSE34505) under accession number GSE34505.

General effects

Overproduction of all secreted proteins, except NprE, caused upregulation of class I heat-shock genes coding for molecular chaperons, groES and groEL (Table 2). Overproduction of the same proteins, except for XynA and MntA, resulted in activation of class III heat-shock genes, which code for components of protease complexes (ClpXP, ClpEP, etc.), and other genes regulated by CtsR, a stress and heat-shock response regulator [107, 114] (Table 2). This intracellular stress response may be caused by a high protein production rate in combination with a limited capacity in protein secretion or membrane insertion, and/or, in case of the heterologous proteins, a lower compatibility of the secretion signal with the host secretion machinery. However, accumulation of the proteins was not observed (Figure 1D). This suggests that, although the proteins were apparently secreted with good efficiency, their presence at lower levels were enough to induce the general cytoplasmic stress response. Increased expression of chaperones like GroES/EL and Clp proteases can protect the cell from toxic accumulation of mis- or unfolded protein [117, 202]. However, high expression and activity of proteases may also set a limit for production of heterologous proteins in B. subtilis on large scale.

The *nfrA-ywcH* operon, encoding a nitro/flavin reductase and a monooxygenase, respectively [123], was upregulated in 5 of the 8 cases (Table 2). NfrA is believed to be involved in a response to stress-induced protein damage and its corresponding gene is induced upon a wide range of stresses [203]. Therefore the coproduction of NfrA can be considered in the improvement of protein overproduction.

Another observed effect in case of most overproduced proteins was strong induction of the *yhaSTU* operon. It codes for a K^+ efflux system and has been shown to be induced by alkaline pH, which has been suggested to be a secondary effect of compromised membrane function and bioenergetic integrity of the cell [204, 205], and salt stress [206].

Table 2. Genes with significantly altered expression as a result of endogenous and heterologous proteins overproduction in *B. subtilis* cells a,b

	Overproduced protein									
Gene	Description	Mem	orane	Lipopr	oteins	S	ecreted	protein	s	
		XvIP ImrA		MntA	VedH	YunA	NorE	Ucn45	Bla	
UPREC	GUIATED	луір	LIIIIA	WIIILA	rtun	лупа	мріс	05µ45	DId	-
••••••										
Cell en	velope stress response									
htrB	similar to HtrA-like serine protease	0.67	1.03	1.70	7.37	10.86	1.12	0.44	7.52	
CSSR	two-component response regulator	0.96	1.06	6.82	1.38	5.97	1.08	2.90	1.85	
CSSS htrA	two-component sensor histidine kinase	0.95	1.11	3.10	1.54 E 19	2.67	0.99	2.3/	1.00	
	sigma-V antisigma factor	6.61	1.17	1.64	0.06	1 /0	0.78	40.70	1.07	
VVID	nutative sigma. V antisigma factor component	5.49	1.75	1.04	1.03	1.49	0.90	5 34	1.07	
vxIF	negative regulator of sigma-Y activity	8.75	1 18	1.50	1.03	1 35	1 20	4.07	1.15	
vxIF	putative ABC transporter component	5.77	1.50	1.88	0.89	1.02	0.94	6.67	0.95	
yxlG	putative ABC-transporter (permease)	3.76	1.79	1.67	0.99	1.52	0.99	1.91	1.01	
, sigM	RNA polymerase ECF-type sigma factor	1.17	0.94	3.01	2.51	0.62	1.49	1.67	1.21	
lial	permease	2.38	1.07	1.31	2.55	1.59	2.03	8.96	23.44	
liaH	modulator of liaIHGFSR operon expression	2.32	1.08	1.19	3.40	1.47	2.51	9.43	29.75	
liaG	hypothetical protein	1.48	1.06	2.27	2.67	0.82	2.65	4.55	13.38	
liaF	integral inner membrane protein	0.89	1.07	2.14	1.94	0.92	2.56	4.16	10.93	
liaS	two-component sensor histidine kinase	1.14	NA	2.42	1.93	0.89	NA	5.88	6.61	
liaR	two-component response regulator	0.94	1.04	1.91	2.57	0.79	1.96	2.19	4.76	
ykrL	Homolog of HtpX, membrane protease	10.35	3.62	1.66	0.88	2.15	0.90	2.98	1.85	
Cell en	velope stress response/SigW regulon									
sigW	RNA polymerase ECF-type sigma factor	4.52	5.50	1.95	1.77	1.62	1.05	1.73	2.44	
rsiW	sigmaW anti-sigma factor	5.54	4.11	2.43	1.72	2.31	0.84	1.89	2.61	
yuaF	putative integral inner membrane protein	6.93	2.65	1.09	0.23	1.41	1.31	2.15	2.36	
yuaG	similar to flotillin 1	12.21	3.43	0.66	0.75	1.87	1.00	4.52	2.40	
yual	putative acetyl-transferase	15.16	6.62	0.40	0.81	2.80	0.78	5.01	2.70	
pspA	phage shock protein A homolog	5.53	2.38	0.55	0.26	1.14	1.79	1.42	1.50	
ydjG	putative phage replication protein	7.70	2.85	0.59	1.85	1.93	1.01	3.09	1.46	
ydjH	hypothetical protein	6.88	3.92	0.60	0.48	1.68	1.09	2.19	1.86	
ydjl	hypothetical protein	6.78	4.55	0.59	0.75	1.86	0.57	2.84	2.40	
yeaA	conserved hypothetical protein	5.58	3.28	0.93	0.42	1.41	2.36	1.35	2.10	
yajP	similar to chloroperoxydase	7.41	4.67	1.16	0.91	2.55	1.53	4.56	3.00	
yaj0	unknown	3.81	7.59	1.14	1.08	1.99	1.46	2.97	2.57	
sppA	integral inner membrane protein	4.25	3.12	0.33	0.20	1.10	0.39	1.70	1.80	
ylej nhnF	nitegral inner membrane protein	4.48	4.10	0.31	0.29	2.08	0.34	6.27	1.// 2 72	
racX	amino acid racemase	8 99	8.09	0.55	0.97	2.00	0.45	6.00	2 39	
vaaN	hypothetical protein	4 03	6.82	1.07	0.33	1 15	2 64	1 51	1.87	
vceC	nutative stress adaptation protein	2 44	3.05	2.06	NA	NA	0.54	NA	1.64	
vceD	putative stress adaptation protein	5.29	7.02	0.81	0.76	2 04	0.92	3.14	1.55	
yceE	putative stress adaptation protein	4.55	5.36	0.82	0.67	2.08	0.89	3.71	2.34	
, yceF	putative stress adaptation protein	5.30	4.91	0.70	0.78	2.07	0.73	4.27	1.79	
, yceG	hypothetical protein	3.99	3.02	0.79	1.07	1.94	1.04	3.29	1.22	
усеН	hypothetical protein	3.72	4.09	0.64	0.99	1.99	0.60	3.68	2.15	
ујоВ	ATPase possibly involved in protein degradation	7.16	2.98	1.28	0.65	1.45	0.94	1.74	2.44	
yknW	permease	2.51	3.06	0.67	0.36	1.12	0.84	1.14	1.46	
yknY	ABC transporter ATP-binding protein	2.63	2.54	0.49	0.33	1.31	0.57	1.51	1.64	
ythQ	putative ABC transporter (permease)	10.01	5.75	0.80	NA	2.21	NA	3.21	3.19	
yqfB	hypothetical protein	6.37	6.24	1.12	0.56	1.66	0.39	3.10	2.93	
yvlA	hypothetical protein	4.11	3.06	1.49	0.59	1.23	1.34	1.39	2.04	
yvIB	hypothetical protein	6.13	9.56	0.99	0.66	1.76	0.91	3.84	2.10	
yvIC	putative regulator (stress mediated)	3.83	7.71	0.99	0.61	1.61	0.76	2.24	2.05	
yvID	putative integral inner membrane protein	4.26	6.66	1.60	0.65	1.22	0.74	2.98	1.87	
yxjl	unknown	10.12	5.20	0.96	0.55	1.60	1.46	1.38	1.83	
Intrace	ellular stress response									
hrcA	transcriptional repressor of class I stress genes	11.08	2.23	1.89	12.62	0.96	1.30	2.33	2.12	
groES	class I heat-shock protein (chaperonin)	8.37	7.17	0.10	6.85	3.15	1.11	3.68	3.07	
groEL	class I heat-shock protein (chaperonin)	8.38	4.17	0.35	5.07	2.73	1.14	3.00	2.66	
nfrA	NADPH-linked nitro/flavin reductase	7.36	3.32	0.47	1.67	10.37	0.98	13.77	1.85	

Table 2. Continued.

		Overproduced protein							
Gene Description		Mem	brane	Lipoproteins		Secreted proteins			5
			proteins		V-du	V	N		DI-
	nutativa managangangan	10.20	LmrA	IVINTA	fcaH	XynA	NPrE	USp45	BIa 2.46
ywcn tryB	thioredoxin reductase	10.29 4 71	1 59	1.04	2 98	3.29	0.80	3 56	2.40
trxA	thioredoxin	2 29	1.55	0.86	1.68	3.08	1 13	3.11	1.30
ctsR	transcriptional regulator of class III stress genes	0.71	0.55	1.39	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
mcsA	modulator of CtsR repression	10.38	3.47	0.87	5.12	1.72	1.57	4.63	3.11
mcsB	modulator of CtsR repression	6.92	4.11	0.83	5.09	2.46	1.09	2.68	2.63
clpC	class III stress response-related ATPase	5.65	3.24	0.65	4.63	2.03	0.80	3.28	2.80
radA	DNA repair protein	2.79	1.97	0.75	3.86	1.82	1.26	3.14	2.19
clpE	Class III, ATP-dependent Clp protease-like	74.08	1.89	0.98	4.54	0.77	1.24	5.95	4.79
Memb	rane bioenergetics								
fdhD	required for formate dehydrogenase activity	2.89	1.26	2.99	4.65	1.93	1.65	1.67	0.94
cydB	cytochrome bd ubiquinol oxidase (subunit II)	0.75	2.28	1.39	0.51	2.93	4.50	0.74	0.64
Miscell	aneous								
kinD	TCS sensor histidine kinase; initiation of sporulation	1.35	1.20	3.18	2.76	1.49	1.81	1.05	1.05
yabT	putative serine/threonine-protein kinase	2.19	1.14	NA	1.56	2.55	2.65	1.26	1.04
усеК	putative transcriptional regulator (ArsR family)	2.58	2.54	0.81	1.35	1.07	1.06	2.10	1.92
yjbl	putative thiol management oxidoreductase component	t 3.93	0.99	1.45	2.95	3.23	1.33	3.61	1.46
yloC	unknown	1.65	1.09	3.56	3.51	1.47	1.36	1.57	1.05
yndN	fosfomycin resistance protein FosB	6.66	13.17	0.94	0.32	1.60	0.56	3.49	3.04
yrkA	putative membrane associated protein	3.20	3.75	1.51	0.96	1.48	0.97	1.13	1.30
yvdT	uncharacterized transcriptional regulator	2.94	3.28	1.82	2.19	1.37	1.80	2.26	1.92
yvas	similar to molecular chaperone	7.12	2.12	1.20	1.14	1.08	1.26	3.43	1.96
yvak	similar to molecular chaperone	0.32	2.00	2.40	1.39	1.01	1.30	3.99	1.01
Transp	ort/binding proteins								
cydC	ABC membrane transporter ATP-binding protein	3.22	3.76	0.87	0.32	2.92	2.36	2.25	1.12
ycel	putative transporter	2.92	3.55	1.49	0.80	1.75	0.69	2.89	2.26
ynas whaT	K+/H+ antiporter for K+ efflux	9.48	2.13	2.08	1.76	2.42	0.96	3.41	1.94
ynu i yhal i	K+/H+ antiporter for $K+$ efflux	15.45	3.48	2.10	1.91	2.4/	1.22	4.80 5 1/1	2.54 1 07
ynuo		13.45	2.15	2.50	1.04	2.30	1.00	5.14	1.57
Unknow	wn			0.00		4 75	4 75	2.44	
ydiN	unknown	4.44	2.76	0.22	5.11	1.75	1./5	2.41	3.51
yomT	hypothetical protein	3.5/	3.21	0.92	3.33	0.89	2.00	1.40	0.82
yomV	hypothetical protein	2.92	2.00	1.05	2.90	0.72	2.47	1.24	0.85
yomW/	hypothetical protein	3.33	3.37	0.97	4 57	0.75	2.33	1 31	0.88
vomY	hypothetical protein	3.66	2.53	1.09	3.64	0.77	2.60	1.66	0.82
vonB	hypothetical protein	3.22	2.92	0.96	2.61	1.01	2.26	1.24	0.79
yonC	hypothetical protein	2.92	2.64	0.83	2.84	0.96	2.41	1.43	0.84
, yvkN	hypothetical protein	3.21	2.69	0.89	0.61	1.83	1.07	1.88	1.69
ywmB	hypothetical protein	1.32	1.18	3.00	2.67	1.30	2.43	0.55	1.16
DOWN	REGULATED								
Starvat	ion response								
sdpA	export of killing factor SdpC	15.28	2.78	4.29	3.96	3.54	1.54	14.19	4.35
sdpB	exporter of killing factor SdpC	19.87	4.06	3.26	5.34	3.96	1.49	13.85	4.00
sdpC	killing factor SdpC	8.12	2.75	2.45	12.90	11.51	1.21	26.62	5.56
Proteir	folding and modification								
bdbA	bacteriophage SPbeta thiol-disulfide oxidoreductase	3.14	1.56	7.83	1.37	2.42	1.36	15.73	2.38
bdbB	bacteriophage SPbeta thiol-disulfide oxidoreductase	3.59	2.79	6.00	2.57	3.05	1.16	14.00	2.00
Cell en	velone stress/SigW regulon								
snnA	signal pentide pentidase	0 24	0 32	3.03	3.89	0.85	2.56	0 59	0 56
vteJ	putative integral inner membrane protein	0.22	0.24	3.18	3,51	0.79	2.93	0.44	0.56
Tearro	art/hinding protoing and livt-i								
altT	or crossing proteins and ipoproteins	2 26	2 1 2	2 5 2	1 62	0 82	1 06	8 25	1 20
nhu¥	vanthine nermease	3.30	5.12 2 74	0.45	1.05	0.02 1 /17	1.50	0.33 4 45	1.20
vhaO	Nat-efflux ABC transporter ATP-binding protein	2 07	1 55	3.73	4.51	1.4/ 2 19	2 10	1 65	1 37
yoaG	putative permease	0.13	0.67	3.13	3.68	1.20	1.15	0.66	0.53

	Overproduced protein								
Gene	Description	Mem pro	Membrane proteins		Lipoproteins		Secreted proteins		
		XylP	LmrA	MntA	YcdH	XynA	NprE	Usp45	Bla
Memb	rane bioenergetics								
ctaB	cytochrome caa3 oxydase assembly factor	1.18	1.63	0.66	1.16	1.34	1.15	3.48	1.17
ctaC	cytochrome caa3 oxidase subunit II	4.37	1.13	4.74	2.68	1.08	1.91	5.52	1.20
ctaD	cytochrome caa3 oxidase subunit I	3.71	1.37	3.58	3.14	NA	1.81	3.33	1.27
ctaE	cytochrome caa3 oxidase subunit III	3.57	1.44	2.40	3.02	1.90	2.08	4.21	1.10
ctaF	cytochrome caa3 oxidase subunit IV	4.33	1.91	2.05	3.86	2.68	2.32	4.24	1.41
ctaG	cytochrome aa3 assembly factor	4.61	NA	2.40	1.83	NA	1.19	2.67	NA
Miscellaneous									
wapA	cell wall-associated protein precursor	2.88	1.07	1.15	8.19	2.50	0.91	6.38	1.15
yxxG	hypothetical protein	4.04	0.99	1.22	8.68	4.20	0.87	5.25	1.08
wprA	cell wall-associated protease	2.45	1.05	4.87	4.19	2.27	1.85	9.13	1.27
Unkno	wn								
yisL	hypothetical protein	2.00	1.13	2.58	4.59	1.41	1.96	0.73	1.11
yokE	hypothetical protein	1.56	1.76	7.19	2.84	2.74	1.50	4.35	1.28
ytxG	hypothetical protein	1.80	0.76	2.98	2.56	0.83	1.00	0.48	0.93
yukE	hypothetical protein	1.37	1.56	3.25	2.67	0.92	2.04	1.60	1.02
yxbC	hypothetical protein	3.55	0.69	3.22	5.71	0.72	1.30	2.06	1.11

^{*a*} Significant changes (*p*-value < 0.01, fold > 2.5) are shown in bold.

^b Endogenous proteins: MntA, YcdH, XynA, NprE; heterologous proteins: XylP (*Lb. pentosus*), LmrA and Usp45 (*L. lactis*), Bla (TEM-1 β-lactamase, *E. coli*).

The genes *trxA* and *trxB* were upregulated in the majority of the cases, without a bias towards a particular localization of the overproduced protein. *trxA* and *trxB* are members of Spx regulon involved in thiol-specific oxidative stress and they code for thioredoxin and thioredoxin reductase, respectively [207]. These genes are thought to be required for keeping proteins in a reduced state which, once secreted, form disulfide bonds during folding [207]. However, there was no correlation between presence of (putative) disulfide bonds in an overproduced protein and induction of *trxA* or *trxB* (only TEM-1 β -lactamase, YcdH and XylP possess putative disulfide bonds, out of which overproduction of only YcdH resulted in *trxB* induction). Therefore, upregulation of *trxA* and *trxB* is most likely induced by thiol stress as a result of secondary effects of overproduction of secretory proteins, such as a compromised membrane function.

An effect that was observed in case of all overexpressed proteins was strong downregulation of the *sdpABC* operon (sporulating delay protein operon) involved in production and secretion of the killing factor SdpC (Table 2). It plays a role in programmed cell death (PCD), a mechanism of sporulation delay by killing nonsporulating siblings and feeding on the dead cells under conditions of nutrient limitation [208, 209]. This effect may be related to nutrient limitation which was shown to induce the sporulation process in a subpopulation of a *B. subtilis* culture with concomitant activation of the *sdpABC* and *sdpRI* immunity operons [209].

Another general effect, but less pronounced than for *sdpABC*, was downregulation of the *ctaCDEF* genes coding for cytochrome *c* oxidase *caa3* [210].

Overproduction of none of the proteins caused upregulation of genes coding for components of the secretion (Sec) machinery, like secA, secDF, ffh, etc., which are responsible for translocation of unfolded pre-proteins across or insertion into the membrane (for review see [27]). Apparently, increasing its protein secretion capacity is not a strategy of the cell to deal with an accumulation of secretory proteins. This may indicate either that the SecYEG channel does not form a bottleneck in secretion in the experiments performed here, or that expression of the genes encoding the SecYEG components is simply not upregulated by (the consequences of) an artificially imposed overproduction of secretory proteins. The latter suggests that SecYEG should not necessarily be excluded as a potential target for production strain improvement. In agreement, overexpression of *prsA*, encoding the extracellular foldase PrsA, was shown to increase the secretion of an α -amylase fourfold [132], while *prsA* was not upregulated in any of the tested cases here. This however does not detract from the value of the data as a source of new potential targets for strain improvement. For some of these genes, induced by overexpression of many of the tested secretory proteins, it was indeed shown previously that either their deletion or overexpression improved specific protein production yields, e.g., sigW and cssRS [65] and genes encoding intracellular chaperones [128].

Proteins with extracytosolic destination induce the CssRS mediated secretion stress response

Overproduction of the secreted protein XynA of *B. subtilis*, the cell wall-associated proteins Usp45 of *L. lactis* and TEM-1 β -lactamase of *E. coli*, as well as lipoproteins MntA and YcdH of *B. subtilis* resulted in significant upregulation of the secretion stress genes: *htrA*, *htrB* and *cssRS* (Table 2). CssR and CssS encode a response regulator and its cognate, membrane embedded sensor, respectively, and control the expression of *htrA* and *htrB* [43, 47]. These encode membrane-anchored HtrA and HtrB proteins, which have their active site on the *trans* side of the membrane and are thought to have proteolytic as well as chaperone activity for removal of misfolded protein or for assisting in folding of newly secreted proteins, respectively [48]. The CssRS two component system is activated by accumulation of mis- or unfolded secreted protein at the membrane/cell wall interface as a result of, e.g., overexpression of these proteins or heat stress [41, 46]. In this study, overproduction of the membrane proteins LmrA and XylP did not significantly induce *htrA* or *htrB*. This is in agreement with previous results from an analysis of the activation of the *htrA* promoter in response to
overproduction of secretory proteins, including MntA, XynA, TEM-1 β -lactamase, Usp45 and LmrA, showing that the stress signal is sensed on the outside of the cell and not from within the membrane [46]. In agreement, it was shown recently that the CssS extracellular loop domain functions in signal perception and/or transduction [45]. Surprisingly, NprE overproduction did not induce the CssRS response. Possibly, NprE can be produced and secreted to high levels without accumulation of misfolded protein.

Usp45 and TEM-1 β -lactamase specifically induce the LiaRS-dependent response

The two proteins which were detected mainly in the whole cell fractions, but not in the membrane and cytoplasmic fractions, Usp45 and TEM1- β -lactamase (Fig. 1), specifically induced the *liaIHGFSR* (*yvqIHGFEC*) operon (Table 2), a cell envelope stress operon which is under control of the LiaRS (YvqCE) two-component system [10, 67, 78, 211]. The fact that LiaRS is strongly induced by cell wall-active antibiotics [11], suggests that Usp45 and TEM1- β -lactamase had accumulated in or at the cell wall, as noted earlier, and thereby interfered with cell wall metabolism. Since the other secretory proteins did not, or to a much lesser extent, induce LiaRS (Table 2), it appears that the signal which is sensed by the sensor LiaS originates from cell wall metabolism related processes, rather than for example cell membrane integrity.

Membrane protein overproduction induces a SigW response and ykrL expression

The overproduction of the membrane proteins LmrA and XylP and, to a lesser extent, the cell wall-associated proteins Usp45 and TEM-1 β -lactamase caused significant upregulation of *sigW* and many genes belonging to the SigW regulon (Table 2). The SigW regulon has been shown to be induced by a variety of cell envelope stresses like treatment with detergents (Triton X-100), antibiotics (vancomycin, penicillin) [78], alkaline stress [72] or membrane protein overproduction [65]. Activation of SigW depends on proteolytic degradation of the anti-SigmaW factor RsiW by a multipass membrane protease, PrsW and, subsequently, other proteases [81, 82], but the exact signal triggering this cascade is not known. The induction by membrane protein overexpression suggests that the stress signal is sensed from within the membrane.

Next to SigW response, an unknown gene, ykrL, was significantly upregulated under LmrA and XylP overproduction (Table 2). YkrL shows high homology to the *E. coli* HtpX, a membrane embedded metalloprotease which has been implied in membrane protein quality control [212]. The upregulation of ykrL suggests a similar role in *B. subtilis*. It would be of interest to test the effect of different levels of YkrL on the level and quality of overproduced membrane protein. Expression of htpX in *E. coli* is regulated by the CpxRA two component system that regulates a number of genes

involved in cell envelope stress, including degP (or htrA), encoding a close homologue of *B. subtilis* HtrA and HtrB [213]. Here, no correlation between expression of the CssRS targets and *ykrL* was observed, suggesting that *ykrL* expression does not depend on CssRS and is regulated differently from htpX in *E. coli*.

In *E. coli*, the membrane located ATP-dependent metalloprotease FtsH is involved in the membrane protein stress response [60]. A similar role of *B. subtilis* FtsH, sharing 47% identity with *E. coli* FtsH, was suggested before [189]. However, *ftsH* was not significantly upregulated in response to overproduction of membrane proteins or to any of the other secretory proteins. Previous results revealing the sporulation control proteins SpoVM and Spo0E as substrates of FtsH [61, 62] may therefore be examples of a more specific role of FtsH in *B. subtilis*, rather than a general protein quality control system.

An operon of unknown function, *yvdTSR*, encoding a putative transcriptional regulator and two membrane proteins with homology to small multidrug resistance (SMR) proteins, was also specifically upregulated, but its role in membrane stress is unclear.

Like in case of the other secretory proteins, overproduction of LmrA and XylP led to induction of the class I heat shock protein genes *groES*, *groEL* and class III heat shock protein genes, e.g., *clpE*, *clpC*, which suggests that some fraction of overproduced membrane proteins is targeted by chaperones or proteases for degradation in the cytoplasm before translocation through the Sec machinery and insertion into the membrane. Alternatively, a protein that is incorrectly inserted into the membrane may be subject to Clp-mediated proteolysis, although it is not known whether membrane embedded proteins are accessible to Clp complexes.

Other extracytoplasmic function (ECF) sigma factors

Next to the SigW response, induced by overproduction of the LmrA, XylP, Usp45 and TEM1 β -lactamase, upregulation of SigM and SigY RNA polymerase ECF (extracytoplasmic function)-type sigma factors, was observed in some cases (Table 2). SigM has been shown to be involved in a response to salt, low pH, ethanol, heat and oxidative stress and cell wall synthesis inhibiting antibiotics [85, 214]. In this study, *sigM* was upregulated under conditions of overproduction of the lipoproteins MntA and YcdH. However, known SigM targets [215] were not upregulated. Expression of SigY and some of the SigY target genes [89] was induced upon XylP and Usp45 overproduction.

Conclusions

This comparative study revealed differential responses of *B. subtilis* to stress caused by overproduction of secretory proteins with different subcellular localization. New insights in (specificity of) stress responses, in particular at the membrane and cell wall level were obtained. The data reveal possible bottlenecks in the protein production process, which can be targeted in the future development of the improved production strains.

Materials and Methods

Bacterial strains and growth conditions

Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study are listed in Table 3. *L. lactis* NZ9000 [216] was used as intermediate cloning hosts for pNZ8901 and pNZ8902 based vectors. *B. subtilis* strains were grown in TY medium [217] at 37° C with vigorous shaking. TY medium was supplemented with kanamycin (5 μ g/ml), erythromycin (0.5 μ g/ml) or chloramphenicol (5 μ g/ml) when needed. *L. lactis* strains were transformed by electroporation as described before [218] using a Bio-Rad gene pulser (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Richmond, California). *B. subtilis* strains were transformed as described before [219].

Strain/plasmid	Description	Reference
L. lactis		
NZ9000	MG1363 derivative, pepN::nisRK	[216]
B. subtilis		
NZ8900	168, amyE::spaRK, KanR, SURE expression system host	[135]
Plasmids		
pNZ8901	SURE expression vector, PspaSpn, CmR	[135]
pNZ8902	SURE expression vector, PspaSpn, EmR	[135]
pNZ-xynA	pNZ8902 carrying xynA of B. subtilis	[46]
pNZ-usp45	pNZ8902 carrying usp45 of L. lactis MG1363	[46]
pNZ-mntA	pNZ8902 carrying mntA of B. subtilis	[46]
pNZ-ImrA	pNZ8902 carrying ImrA of L. lactis MG1363	[46]
pNZ-nprE	pNZ8901 carrying nprE of B. subtilis	This work
pNZ-bla	pNZ8902 carrying <i>bla</i> of <i>E. coli,</i>	This work
pNZ-ycdH	pNZ8902 carrying ycdH of B. subtilis	This work
pNZ-xylP	pNZ8902 carrying xylP of Lb. pentosus	This work

Table 3. List of strains and plasmids used in this study.

Plasmid and strain construction

Molecular techniques were carried out as described before [220]. All primers used in this study are listed in Table 4. To construct overexpression vectors, the genes *nprE*, *bla*, *ycdH* and *xylP* were amplified using primers nprE-fw and nprE-rv, bla_F and bla_R, ycdH-Fw and ycdH-rv, xylP-fw and xylP-rv, respectively. Template DNA for amplification of *nprE* and *ycdH* was *B. subtilis* chromosomal DNA. The *bla* gene was amplified from pUC18 plasmid DNA [221] and *xylP* from chromosomal DNA of *Lb. pentosus*. The PCR products of *bla* and *xylP* were digested with *PagI* and *XbaI* and ligated to pNZ8902, which was digested with *NcoI* and *XbaI*, resulting in pNZ-bla and pNZ-xylP. The *nprE* PCR product was digested with *NcoI* and *XbaI* and ligated to pNZ8901 digested with the same enzymes, resulting in pNZ-nprE. The *ycdH* PCR product was digested with *Bst*EII and *XbaI* and ligated to pNZ8902 digested with the same enzymes, yielding pNZ-ycdH. Restriction enzymes were obtained from Fermentas. The sequences of all constructs were confirmed by DNA sequence analysis (ServiceXS, Leiden, The Netherlands).

Table 4.	Primers	used in	this	study.
----------	---------	---------	------	--------

Name	Target	Sequence (5'- 3') ^a	Restriction enzyme site
nprE-fw	nprE	CGCAAA <u>CCATGG</u> GTTTAGGTAAGAAATTGTCTGTTGC	Ncol
nprE-rv	nprE	GCGAAA <u>TCTAGA</u> TTAATGGTGATGGTGATGGTGCAATCCAACAGCATTCCAGGC	Xbal
bla_F	bla	AAACCC <u>TCATGA</u> GTATTCAACATTTCCGTGTCG	Pagl
bla_R	bla	ATACGC <u>TCTAGA</u> TTAATGGTGATGGTGATGGTGCCAATGCTTAATCAGTG	Xbal
ycdH-fw	ycdH	GCGAAA <u>GGTGACC</u> GATATGTTTAAAAAATGGAGCGG	BstEll
ycdH-rv	ycdH	GCGAAA <u>TCTAGA</u> TTAATGGTGATGGTGATGGTGATTTAACCAATAGTGAATCT	Xbal
		TICAGGGC	
xylP-fw	xyIP	CGCATA <u>TCATGA</u> GCGTTAGTATGCAGC	Pagl
xylP-rv	xyIP	GCGAAA <u>TCTAGA</u> TTAATGGTGATGGTGATGGTGCTTTTGATCGTCAGCAA	Xbal

^a Restriction enzyme sites are underlined.

DNA microarray analysis

The overexpressed endogenous proteins were XynA, NprE, MntA and YcdH (Table 1). The overexpressed heterologous proteins were TEM1 β-lactamase from *E. coli*, Usp45 and LmrA (inactive mutant) from *L. lactis* and XylP from *Lb. pentosus* (Table 1). For the overproduction of the proteins, the SURE overexpression system was used [135]. The transcription profile of the control *B. subtilis* strain NZ8900 with empty pNZ8902 vector was compared to an isogenic target strain carrying one of the overexpression constructs: pNZ-xynA, pNZ-bla, pNZ-usp45, pNZ-mntA, pNZ-ycdH, pNZ-lmrA or pNZ-xylP. The target strain containing pNZ-nprE was compared to NZ8900 carrying empty pNZ8901. In total, eight independent microarray experiments were conducted.

Strains harboring overexpression constructs or the empty vector pNZ8901 or pNZ8902 were grown overnight in 10 ml TY broth supplemented with appropriate antibiotics and diluted the next day in 50 ml of fresh medium to an OD_{600} of 0.05. At an OD_{600} of 0.6, 0.1% (vol/vol) subtilin-containing supernatant of B. subtilis strain ATCC 6633 [222] was added to the growth medium to induce gene expression. After 30 minutes, 10 OD units (1 OD_{600} unit corresponds to 1 ml of a culture of an OD_{600} of 1.0) of each culture were collected for RNA isolation. All the microarray experiments were performed in three biological replicates essentially as described before [167]. Total RNA was isolated using a High Pure RNA isolation Kit (Roche Applied Science). RNA quantity and quality were tested with a Nano Drop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies) and an Agilent Bioanalyzer 2100 (Agilent Technologies Netherlands BV), respectively. Amino allyl-modified cDNA was synthesized using the Superscript III Reverse Transcriptase Kit (Invitrogen), purified with the CyScribe GFX purification kit (Amersham Biosciences) and labeled with Cy3- or Cy5-monoreactive dye (Amersham Biosciences). Labeled cDNA was purified with the CyScribe GFX purification kit (Amersham Biosciences). Labeled cDNA concentration and dye incorporation were assessed with a Nano Drop ND-1000 spectrophotometer. The labeled cDNA was hybridized to oligonucleotide microarrays in Ambion Slidehyb #1 buffer (Ambion Europe Ltd) at 48°C for 18-20 hours. Next, microarray slides were washed for 5 min in $2 \times SSC$ (300 mM NaCl, 30 mM sodium citrate) with 0.5% SDS, twice for 5 min in $1 \times SSC$ with 0.25% SDS and for 5 min in $1 \times SSC$ with 0.1% SDS, and dried by centrifugation. The slides were scanned with a GeneTac LS V confocal laser scanner (Genomic Solutions Ltd). ArrayPro 4.5 software (Media Cybernetics Inc., Silver Spring, Md., USA) was used to determine intensities of each spot on the microarrays using a local corners background correction method. Resulting expression levels were processed and normalized using the Lowess method with Micro-Prep [223]. The ln-transformed ratios of the expression levels were subject to a *t*-test using Cyber-T tool [224] resulting in expression ratios and Cyber-T (Bayesian) p-values.

SDS-PAGE and Western blotting

In order to determine the subcellular localization of overproduced proteins XylP, LmrA, MntA, YcdH, XynA, NprE, Usp45 and TEM1- β -lactamase (Bla) in *B. subtilis*, fractionation experiments were performed essentially as described before [65]. Cells were grown in TY medium. At the OD₆₀₀ of 0.6, protein production was induced by adding 0.1% subtilin containing supernatant of *B. subtilis* strain, ATCC 6633 [135, 222] and cultures were further incubated. After two hours, cells were collected by centrifugation (4,000 × g, 4°C, 10 min), resuspended in protoplast buffer (PBS pH 7.2,

20 mM MgCl2, 20% sucrose, 2 mg/ml lysozyme, and Complete protease inhibitors Roche) and incubated 30 minutes at 37°C. Protoplasts were collected by centrifugation (4,000 × g, 4°C, 10 min), resuspended in lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8, 2.5 mM EDTA) and disrupted by sonication (Sonics Vibra Cell, Beun De Ronde). Unbroken protoplasts and cellular debris were removed by centrifugation (4,000 × g, 4°C, 10 min). Supernatant was ultracentrifuged (200,000 × g, 4°C, 30 min). The supernatant fraction containing cytosolic proteins was collected and an aliquot was used to prepare SDS-PAGE samples. The pellet was resuspended in solubilization buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 10% glycerol, 50 mM NaCl, 1% Triton-X-100) over night on a rotor at 4°C. Nonsolubilized membranes were removed by ultracentrifugation (100,000 × g, 4°C, 15 min). Supernatant with solubilized membrane proteins was collected and used for SDS-PAGE sample preparation.

The whole cell extracts were prepared as fallows. 1 OD unit of a culture was collected by centrifugation, resuspended in 150 μ l of buffer containing 10 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.1, 20% sucrose, 10 mM EDTA, 50 mM NaCl and 2 mg/ml lysozyme, and incubated at 37°C for 30 min. An equal volume of 2 × SDS-PAGE sample buffer (100 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 4% SDS, 1% DTT, 20% glycerol, 0.05% bromophenol blue) was added and the samples were boiled for 5 min.

The extracellular proteins present in the medium were precipitated by adding 200 μ l of ice-cold 100% TCA to 1.8 ml of medium and incubation on ice for 1 hour. The mixture was centrifuged and the pellet was then washed with acetone, dried by air and resuspended in 100 μ l 1 × SDS-PAGE sample buffer. Proteins from the whole cell extracts and the cell and medium fractions were separated on SDS-PAGE gels and transferred to a PVDF membrane. The immunodetection of His-tagged proteins was performed using the Penta-His HRP Conjugate Kit (Qiagen) and ECL detection reagents (Amersham).

Acknowledgements

HT and PvdV were supported by a Dutch TS grant from SenterNovem (Ministery of Economic Affairs) grant. We would like to thank Roland Hoffmann and Anna Marek for their contribution in data acquisition.

CHAPTER 3

Regulation of *ykrL* (*htpX*) by Rok and YkrK, a novel type of regulator in *Bacillus subtilis*

Bogumiła C. Marciniak, Hein Trip, Fabrizia Fusetti, Oscar P. Kuipers

Published in Journal of Bacteriology 2012, 194:2837-2845

Expression of *ykrL* of *Bacillus subtilis*, encoding a close homologue of the *Escherichia coli* membrane protein quality control protease HtpX, was shown to be upregulated under membrane protein overproduction stress. Using DNA affinity chromatography, two proteins were found to bind to the promoter region of *ykrL*: Rok, known as a repressor of competence and genes for extracytoplasmic functions, and YkrK, a novel type of regulator encoded by the gene adjacent to *ykrL*, but divergently transcribed. Electrophoretic mobility shift assays showed Rok and YkrK binding to the *ykrL* promoter region as well as YkrK binding to the *ykrK* promoter region. Comparative bioinformatic analysis of the *ykrL* promoter regions in related *Bacillus* species revealed a consensus motif, which was demonstrated to be the binding site of YkrK. Deletion of *rok* and *ykrK* in a Py*krL-gfp* reporter strain showed that both proteins are repressors of *ykrL* expression. In addition, conditions which activated Py*krL* (membrane protein overproduction, dissipation of the membrane potential, salt- and phenol stress) point to the involvement of YkrL in membrane protein quality control.

Introduction

The quality of bacterial membrane proteins, essential for the viability of the cell, may be challenged during environmental stresses that can eventually lead to accumulation of misfolded proteins in the membrane. Therefore, the membrane protein folding state must be constantly monitored and damaged proteins must be repaired or eliminated. This is facilitated by membrane protein quality control systems. In *Escherichia coli*, two structurally unrelated membrane-integrated metalloproteases, HtpX and the ATPdependent protein FtsH, are involved in membrane protein quality control by facilitating proteolytic degradation of proteins (Reviewed in [60]). Involvement of HtpX in membrane quality control is supported by the observation that disruption of both htpXand ftsH in a strain with the ftsH suppressor mutation sfhC21 results in thermosensitivity, while single disruptions are silent [213]. The htpX gene of E. coli is under control of the CpxR/CpxA extracytoplasmic stress response system [213], which also regulates expression of a protein involved in secretion stress, DegP (HtrA) [56] and has a homologue in the Gram-positive model organism Bacillus subtilis, i.e., CssRS [47]. Little is known about how the quality of membrane proteins is monitored in B. subtilis and how cells respond to membrane stress. In another study [225] we found that membrane stress caused by membrane protein (Lactobacillus pentosus xyloside transporter XylP and Lactococcus lactis multidrug transporter LmrA) overproduction in B. subtilis led to an increase of sigW and ykrL expression. The B. subtilis SigW regulon consists of ~60 genes [205] and is induced in response to cell envelope stress [72, 78]. *ykrL* codes for a homolog of *E. coli* HtpX and is also predicted to be a membrane protein itself. In this study, the regulation of ykrL expression in B. subtilis was investigated and turned out to be very different from that of *htpX* in *E. coli*. We show that *ykrL* expression is repressed by Rok and by a novel type of DNA binding protein, YkrK, encoded by a gene adjacent to ykrL, but divergently transcribed, and that expression of *ykrL* is stimulated under conditions potentially influencing membrane protein structure.

Results

Deletion of *ykrL* leads to a higher sensitivity to membrane protein overproduction and to dissipation of the membrane potential

Heterologous overproduction of the membrane proteins XylP, a xyloside transporter from *Lb. pentosus*, and LmrA, a multidrug transporter from *L. lactis*, in *B. subtilis*

caused significant upregulation of *ykrL*, encoding a close homologue of HtpX of *E. coli* (44% identity), *sigW* and most of the SigW regulon members [225]. Knock-out mutants of *ykrL* and *sigW* were constructed, yielding strains JW8940 and KB100, respectively, which were tested for sensitivity to membrane stress (Fig. 1A and B) caused by overexpression of *xylP* from pNZ-xylP. Overproduction of XylP resulted in a significantly higher inhibition of growth for both the $\Delta ykrL$ and $\Delta sigW$ mutants than for the control cells harboring the empty vector pNZ8902. The $\Delta sigW$ mutant was most sensitive, showing cell lysis after 1 hour of induction of expression of *xylP*. Overproduction of LmrA was also tested and showed highly similar effects (data not shown). The stronger effect of the *sigW* deletion is not surprising, as it regulates the expression of approximately 60 genes [205].



Figure 1. Sensitivity of *ykrL* (A and C) and *sigW* (B) deletion mutants to membrane protein (XylP) overproduction (A and B) or to membrane potential ($\Delta \Psi$) dissipation (C). (A and B) Growth of wild type (circles) and $\Delta ykrL$ (JW8940, A) or $\Delta sigW$ (KB100, B) strains (triangles) overexpressing *xylP* (open symbols) or harboring the empty vector pNZ8902 (closed symbols). Expression of *xylP* was induced at an OD₆₀₀ of 0.8 (arrow) with 0.1% subtilin. (C) Growth of wild type (JW8900, closed symbols) and $\Delta ykrL$ (JW8940, open symbols) in LB with 200 mM KCl with (triangles) or without (circles) addition of 0.5 μ M valinomycin. Lower growth rates are due to addition of KCl. Arrow indicates timepoint of valinomycin addition. All growth curves are representative of at least three independent experiments.

HtpX of *E. coli* has proteolytic activity on membrane proteins and has been suggested to be involved in degradation of misfolded membrane proteins [60]. Since the transmembrane electrical potential ($\Delta\Psi$) has been shown to be important for correct insertion of membrane proteins into the membrane via the protein secretion machinery [226, 227], the effect of membrane potential dissipation using valinomycin was tested on the *ykrL* mutant (JW8940) (Fig. 1C). Valinomycin is an antibiotic that acts as a K⁺carrier specifically dissipating $\Delta\Psi$ in the presence of a sufficiently high extracellular concentration of K⁺ ions [228]. When added at a final concentration of 0.5 μ M (sublethal concentration for wild type cells) to exponentially growing cells in LB medium supplied with 200 mM KCl, the $\Delta ykrL$ strain showed a much higher sensitivity than wild type cells. In a control experiment without addition of KCl, in which valinomycin leads to hyperpolarization due to K⁺ efflux rather than depolarization, the $\Delta ykrL$ strain was not more sensitive than the wild type. After the addition of different concentrations of nigericin, which dissipates the proton gradient across the membrane (ΔpH) by H⁺/K⁺ exchange [229], no difference in sensitivity between the mutant and wild type strains was observed. This indicates that the stress caused by membrane protein overproduction against which YkrL is acting, is not proton leakage through the membrane via misfolded membrane proteins, but possibly the accumulation of misfolded protein itself. In agreement, experiments in which the membrane potential was measured in $\Delta ykrL$ and wild type cells, with or without overexpression of *xylP*, did not show differences in the ability to maintain or build up membrane potential (data not shown).



Figure 2. Flow cytometry histograms of the PykrL-gfp reporter strains BC300 (A) or BC400 (B, C, D) showing PykrL activity under different stress conditions. (A) *xylP* overexpression from pNZ-xylP induced by subtilin; control: strain carrying empty pNZ8902. (B) Membrane potential ($\Delta\Psi$) dissipation using 0.5 μ M valinomycin. (C) Δ pH dissipation with 7.5 nM nigericin. (D) Oxygen limitation (vessel containing 20% air), heat stress (42°C), phenol stress (16 mM) and salt stress (650 mM NaCl). Stress conditions were applied to cultures at OD₆₀₀ = 0.5 and GFP fluorescence was monitored at time intervals. Shown are measurements 120 (A) and 60 (B, C, D) minutes after applying stress. The shift in fluorescent signal (FL-1) to the right indicates higher PykrL-gfp activity.

Stress conditions activating the ykrL promoter

To investigate the regulation of ykrL expression, a reporter strain was constructed containing a fusion of the ykrL promoter region to gfp (PykrL-gfp) integrated at the native locus. As ykrL was induced by membrane protein overproduction in the transcriptome analyses, activation of PykrL by overexpression of xylP in the PykrL-gfp reporter strain (BC300) was tested using flow cytometry (Fig. 2A). PykrL clearly showed a higher activity upon XylP overproduction compared to cells not producing XylP.



Figure 3. Random mutagenesis of the PykrLlacZ reporter strain HT400. Strains carrying TnYLB-1 transposon mutations with positive (pnpA, ytvA, sdhC, sdhA, resE, resB) and negative (sinR) effects on PykrL activity. WT, HT400; pnpA, polynucleotide phosphorylase; ytvA, positive regulator of sigma-B activity; sdhC and sdhA, succinate dehydrogenase subunits; resE, two-component sensor histidine kinase, global regulation of aerobic and anaerobic respiration; resB, cytochrome c biogenesis protein; sinR, master regulator of biofilm formation. Strains were plated on LB solid medium supplemented with 0.008% X-gal.

Dissipation of membrane potential ($\Delta \Psi$) by addition of a sublethal concentration of valinomycin to the PvkrL-gfp reporter strain (BC400) growing in LB supplied with 200 mM KCl resulted in a strong induction of PykrL (Fig. 2B). In the absence of KCl, no induction was observed (not shown). In contrast, dissipation of the proton concentration gradient (ΔpH) by addition of a sublethal concentration of nigericin did not affect PykrL activity, not even after prolonged incubation (Fig. 2C). This, as well as the sensitivity of the $\Delta y k r L$ strain to valinomycin but not nigericin (previous section), shows a relation of the membrane potential, but not the proton concentration gradient, with stress caused by membrane protein overproduction. A relation between the PvkrL activity and membrane energetics was suggested by results from a random transposon mutagenesis screening in a PykrL-lacZ reporter strain (HT400), which showed that PykrL is induced by mutations in resE, resB, sdhC, and sdhA (Fig. 3). resE codes for a sensor histidine kinase of the ResDE two-component system which regulates expression of genes involved in aerobic and anaerobic respiration [230], including its upstream genes resABC [231]; resB is essential for cytochrome c synthesis [232]; sdhC and sdhA encode components of succinate dehydrogenase which plays a role in the electron transport chain [233].

Although the effects of these mutations are pleiotropic, they constituted almost twothird of the identified mutations that induced PykrL (not shown) and the genes all play a role in generation of membrane potential. This, together with the above mentioned results, suggests that the membrane potential component of the proton motive force could affect the activity of PykrL either directly or indirectly.

In addition, PykrL activity was tested under different stress conditions that can influence the membrane protein structure or were reported to induce ykrL expression previously (phenol stress [234], and salt stress [206]). The conditions tested were addition of 16 mM phenol, addition of 650 mM NaCl, submission to heat stress at 42°C and 50°C and anaerobic growth (a closed vessel filled up to 80% with culture) (Fig. 2D). Salt stress had a strong effect on PykrL, while phenol, heat and anaerobic stress resulted in milder activation of PykrL.



Figure 4. Identification of proteins binding to ykrKykrL intergenic region using DNA affinity chromatography. (A) Schematic organization of the ykrK-ykrL locus in *B. subtilis*. Lollipops indicate terminator structures. Flags indicate predicted promoters. The line below indicates the fragment used for the affinity chromatography. (B) SDS-PAGE and silver stain analysis of the proteins enriched from the cytoplasmic fraction of a *B. subtilis* NZ8900 culture using the ykrK-ykrL intergenic region immobilized on Streptavidin beads. Lane 1, protein ladder; lane 2, proteins enriched with the ykrK-ykrL intergenic region of *B. subtilis*.

Rok and YkrK bind to the intergenic region of ykrK and ykrL

In order to find proteins binding to the promoter of *ykrL*, DNA affinity chromatography was performed. A 542 bp DNA fragment containing the *ykrK-ykrL* intergenic region with the predicted *ykrK* and *ykrL* promoters (Fig. 4A), was amplified, biotinylated, immobilized on magnetic Streptavidin beads and incubated with a cytoplasmic fraction of *B. subtilis* cells. Proteins bound to the DNA were eluted and analyzed on an SDS-PAGE gel (Fig. 4B) followed by in gel-digestion and identification by mass spectrometry. Among the most abundant proteins that bound to the *ykrK-ykrL* intergenic DNA fragment were Rok and YkrK. Rok is known to act as a negative regulator of

competence [235] and genes coding for membrane-localized and secreted proteins [236], and was shown to bind to A+T-rich DNA [237]. The other protein, YkrK, is an unknown 233 amino acid protein encoded by *ykrK*, the gene adjacent to, but divergently transcribed from *ykrL* (Fig. 4A). Apart from close homologs in closely related *Bacillus* species, no significant homology was found with any other known protein. It shows minor local similarity to MerR family regulators, but can be considered a novel type of DNA binding protein. The *Bacillus* species that harbor YkrK homologs share the same genetic organization of the divergent *ykrL* and *ykrK* corresponding genes.

Other, less abundant, proteins identified in the elution fraction were 30S and 50S ribosomal proteins, dihydrolipoamide acetyltransferase (acoC), lipoamide acyltransferase (bkdB) and dihydrolipoyl dehydrogenase (lpdV). Since these proteins were not (potential) DNA binding proteins, their role in ykrL regulation was not further analyzed.



Figure 5. Flow cytometry histograms showing PykrL activity in PykrL-gfp reporter strains. Strains: wild type (BC400), Δrok (BC401), $\Delta ykrK$ (BC402), $\Delta rok\Delta ykrK$ (BC403), $\Delta ykrK$ +pNZ-ykrK (BC404 carrying pNZ-ykrK), $\Delta ykrK$ +pNZ8902 (BC404 carrying pNZ8902). (A) GFP signal in cells growing exponentially, (B) GFP signal in cells in stationary phase, (C) GFP signal in cells growing exponentially 30 min after inducing *ykrK* expression with subtilin. The shift in fluorescent signal (FL-1) to the right indicates higher PykrL-gfp activity.

Rok and YkrK are repressors of ykrL expression

To test how YkrK and Rok regulate expression of *ykrL*, i.e., by activation or repression, strains containing the P*ykrL-gfp* fusion combined with a deletion of *rok* (BC401), *ykrK* (BC402) or both *rok* and *ykrK* (BC403) were constructed. GFP fluorescence was measured every hour throughout growth (only chosen time points are shown, Fig. 5). During early exponential phase, P*ykrL* activity was clearly higher in the $\Delta ykrK$ and $\Delta rok\Delta ykrK$ mutants (Fig. 5A). Later in growth (transition from exponential to stationary phase and early stationary phase) the difference in GFP signal between wild type and these two mutants became larger and P*ykrL* activity also increased in the Δrok mutant at late stationary growth phase (Fig. 5B). Overexpression of *ykrK* from pNZ-ykrK using the SURE system [135] in the $\Delta ykrK$ mutant (BC404) resulted in full repression of

PykrL-gfp (Fig. 5C). Altogether, we demonstrate that both Rok and YkrK are repressors of the *ykrL* promoter.

Rok binds to the *ykrL* promoter region; YkrK binds to both the *ykrK* and *ykrL* promoter regions

To determine more precisely the regions to which Rok and YkrK bind, four fragments, A, B, C and D (Fig. 6A), covering the *ykrK-ykrL* intergenic region, were amplified. The DNA fragments A and B contained the predicted ykrK promoter (PykrK) and the predicted *ykrL* promoter (PykrL), respectively. Fragment C covered the region between these two promoters including predicted -35 boxes, and fragment D covered the whole region. The Rok and YkrK proteins were expressed in E. coli and L. lactis, and purified using a C-terminal 6His- and Strep-tag, respectively. Binding of Rok-His₆ and YkrK-Strep to these fragments was tested by electrophoretic mobility shift assays (EMSAs) (Fig. 6B). Binding affinities were estimated from the decrease in signal of the unbound DNA using binding kinetics curve fitting. Both proteins bound to fragment B (PykrL), although YkrK with much higher affinity than Rok (apparent K_d values of 0.1 μ M and 1.2 μ M, respectively). YkrK also showed significant binding to fragment A (K_d app = 3.4 μ M) and C (K_d app = 2.7 μ M), albeit with much lower affinity than to fragment B, indicating that, next to *ykrL*, YkrK might regulate its own expression. The mobility shift patterns of fragment D were consistent with one binding site for Rok in the intergenic region and three for YkrK, the latter appearing as a sum of the YkrK binding patterns of fragment A and B.

A YkrK binding motif is present within PykrK, PykrL and in between the two promoters

In order to identify a consensus sequence within the ykrK-ykrL intergenic region that may represent a YkrK binding motif, we compared the sequences of this region from five *Bacillus* species which contain a corresponding, divergent ykrK-ykrL pair: *B. subtilis, B. amyloliquefaciens, B. licheniformis, B. halodurans* and *B. pumilus*, using the Motif Sampler tool [238]. A conserved sequence TGAWCTTA (W = A/T) was found (Fig. 7A). This 8-nt motif is present in the ykrK-ykrL intergenic region of *B. subtilis* in three places (Fig. 7B): overlapping with the predicted -35 box of PykrK, downstream of the -10 box of PykrL and, with more deviation from the consensus, in between these two promoters. The locations of the motif correlates with the observed YkrK binding to the four DNA fragments in the EMSA experiment (compare Fig. 6).

To confirm experimentally the result obtained with the YkrK binding motif search, a YkrK binding assay was performed with DNA fragment B, covering the predicted



Figure 6. *In vitro* **binding of YkrK-Strep and Rok-His**₆ **to fragments of the** *ykrK-ykrL* **intergenic region.** (A) Schematic representation of the *ykrK-ykrL* intergenic region and fragments A (P*ykrK*), B (P*ykrL*), C and D used for EMSA. Predicted -35 and -10 boxes of P*ykrK* and P*ykrL* are shown as boxed arrows and putative YkrK binding sites as light grey rectangles. (B) EMSAs of YkrK-Strep (top panel) and Rok-His₆ (bottom panel) binding to fragments A, B, C and D. (C) Negative control: Rok-His₆ and YkrK-Strep binding to P*secA* DNA. Asterisks indicate free ³³P-DNA probes and arrows indicate the position of the shifted probe. The calculated K_d values are indicated below each binding assay graph.

PykrL, in its original sequence and with three variants carrying point mutations in the predicted binding motif: B-mut1 (G2A), B-mut2 (C5T) and B-mut3 (G2A + C5T) (Fig. 7C). YkrK bound to the wild type DNA fragment B with an estimated K_d of 60 nM. The single point mutations on the second (B-mut1) and fifth (B-mut2) position of the

predicted motif caused at least a ten-fold decrease in affinity of YkrK binding (apparent K_d values of 600 nM and 960 nM, respectively). When both mutations were present simultaneously (B-mut3), affinity decreased even more substantially (K_d app = 1.65 μ M). This result confirms that the conserved sequence TGAWCTTA (W = A/T) is the YkrK binding motif, or at least constitutes the major part of the binding site. Up- and downstream base pairs may be involved as well, which could explain the difference of the YkrK binding affinity between the *ykrL* promoter and the other two binding sites present in the *ykrK* promoter and in the region in between.

Since *ykrL* was possibly not the only target of YkrK regulation, *ykrK* was overexpressed in *B. subtilis* and the transcriptome was compared to control cells using DNA microarrays. The upstream regions of significantly regulated genes (listed in Table 1) were searched for the YkrK binding motif using the genome-scale dna-pattern tool [239] with default parameters. Next to *ykrK* and *ykrL*, only two genes were found to possess the putative YkrK binding motif (TGAWCTTA) in their promoter regions: *yrkA*, coding for a putative membrane protein of unknown function, and *penP*, encoding a secreted penicillinase. The motif of *penP*, however, is in the reverse orientation, while the expression of the adjacent but divergently transcribed gene, *yoaZ*, was not changed upon YkrK overexpression. It appears that YkrK regulates only a small number of genes including *ykrL* and possibly *ykrK*, but this needs further research.

Discussion

The regulation of *ykrL* of *B. subtilis*, encoding a close homologue of the *E. coli* HtpX, is described. In addition, insight in the physiological role of YkrL was obtained from a *ykrL* knock-out mutant as well as from stress conditions inducing *ykrL* expression. YkrL is a membrane protein with four predicted transmembrane segments and contains all the conserved residues present in the active site of the 44% identical HtpX of *E. coli*, a zinc dependent metalloprotease involved in membrane protein quality control [60, 212]. It was shown that a *ykrL* knock-out mutant was more sensitive to membrane protein overproduction stress and dissipation of transmembrane electrical potential ($\Delta\Psi$) than the wild type mother strain. These conditions also induced expression from the *ykrL* promoter, *PykrL*. In contrast, the *ykrL* mutation did not increase sensitivity to dissipation of the chemical proton gradient, Δ pH, which together with the $\Delta\Psi$ constitutes the proton motive force (pmf). Neither did this condition induce *PykrL*. This suggests that the stress that is sensed and leads to induction of *ykrL* expression is





Kd = $0.06 \,\mu$ M Kd = $0.00 \,\mu$ M Kd = $0.96 \,\mu$ M Kd = $1.65 \,\mu$ M **Figure 7. YkrK binding motif search and validation.** (A) Weight matrix of consensus sequence present within *ykrK-ykrL* intergenic region in different *Bacilli* species. (B) Sequence of the *ykrK-ykrL* intergenic region of *B. subtilis* with putative YkrK binding sites in grey shading, start codons of *ykrL* and *ykrK* in italics and predicted -10 and -35 boxes in bold. The fragments used for EMSA experiments shown in Fig. 6 are underlined: solid line, fragment A (*PykrK*); dotted line, fragment B (*PykrL*); dashed line, fragment C. (C) EMSA of YkrK-Strep binding to fragment B containing the consensus motif and to its derivatives containing point mutations in the motif (B-mut1, B-mut2, B-mut3). Point mutations are underlined. Asterisks indicate free ³³P-DNA probes and arrows indicate the position of the shifted probe. The calculated *K*_d values are indicated below each binding assay graph.

the presence or accumulation of misfolded proteins in the membrane, rather than proton leakage as a result of a disturbed membrane integrity. In this case, the observed activation of *PykrL* by membrane potential dissipation can be explained by the requirement of membrane potential for correct insertion of membrane proteins [226, 227].

Como Dotio		Draduat	YkrK binding motif		
Gene	Katio	Product	Sequence ^a	Start; end ^b	
ykrK	136.94	hypothetical protein	atttTGAACTTAtaca atttTGAACTTAtaca*	-52; -45 -153; -146	
ykzE	6.75	hypothetical protein			
guaC	5.43	guanosine 5'-monophosphate oxidoreductase			
bmrU	5.05	diacylglycerol kinase			
yqjF	4.07	hypothetical protein			
purC	3.89	phosphoribosylaminoimidazole-succinocarboxamide synthase			
purS	3.59	phosphoribosylformylglycinamidine synthase subunit PurS			
purB	3.46	adenylosuccinate lyase			
атуС	2.96	maltose and multiple sugars ABC transporter			
	2.04	permease			
amyD	2.91	carbonydrate ABC transporter permease			
ytiD	2.82	permease			
purQ	2.79	phosphoribosylformylgiycinamidine synthase i			
ywjc mur E	2.76	nypotnetical protein			
pure	2.76	phosphoribosylaminoimidazole carboxylase i			
msme	2.69	multiple sugar-binding lipoprotein			
purk	2.61	subunit			
vfnF	0.40	glycosyltransferase			
vktB	0.38	hypothetical protein			
penP	0.36	beta-lactamase precursor	caatTGATCTTAtatt*	-106: -99	
sspG	0.36	small acid-soluble spore protein		,	
vkrL	0.22	heat shock protein HtpX	ctttTGAACTTAaaat	-25: -18	
,			atttTGAACTTAtaca*	-126; -119	
yrkA	0.21	membrane associated protein	ctttTGAACTTAtaat	-88; -81	
ykoX	0.19	integral inner membrane protein		-	

Table 1. Genes with significantly	changed expression	ratio (0.4 > ratio	> 2.5, Bayesian p	< 0.01) upon
YkrK overproduction.				

^{*a*} Predicted YkrK binding motif (in capitals) with flanking sequences.

^b Distance calculated from the first nucleotide of the start codon.

* Motifs found in the direction reverse to the gene.

We suggest that YkrL, similar to HtpX of *E. coli*, is involved in a membrane protein stress response, likely by proteolytic degradation of misfolded membrane proteins, and serves as a membrane protein quality control system. Supporting this hypothesis is the strongly increased amount of YkrL observed in the membrane proteome in a conditional double knock-out of *spoIIIJ* and *yqjG*, encoding YidC homologues involved in membrane protein insertion [240]. However, differences between the HtpX and YkrL function may exist. The *htpX* gene is induced in *E. coli* by heat stress [213], whereas the effect of heat stress on *ykrL* expression in *B. subtilis*, albeit significant, was less strong than that of other tested conditions such as salt stress. The strong induction of P*ykrL* by salt stress and phenol, observed before [206, 234], may be explained by misfolding of proteins induced by the hyperosmotic conditions and denaturation, respectively. Indeed, Hahne *et al.*, [241] observed that salt stress induced cytosolic as well as membrane protein quality control proteins in *B. subtilis*, although *ykrL* was not indicated as significantly regulated in that study.

In *E. coli*, next to HtpX, the membrane located ATP-dependent metalloprotease FtsH is involved in membrane protein quality control [60]. The gene encoding FtsH of *B. subtilis*, sharing 47% amino acid sequence identity with *E. coli* FtsH, was, unlike *ykrL*, not induced by membrane stress caused by membrane protein overproduction [225]. Although we cannot exclude a general role of FtsH in membrane protein quality control, its previously described functions [61, 62] may represent a more specific role in the physiology of *B. subtilis*.

YkrL has recently been shown to associate with the MreB cytoskeleton [242] forming a spiral structure immediately underneath the cell membrane and coordinating cell wall synthesis together with MreC and MreD [243]. This spiral localization of MreB is disrupted under dissipation of the membrane potential [244]. The site where YkrL is recruited may be close to the cell wall synthesis machinery (MreB complex), where, during rapid growth, cells could benefit from a membrane protein quality control system.

In E. coli, expression of htpX is regulated by the CpxR/CpxA two component system [213], which regulates many genes with an important role in envelope protein folding [59], including the secretion stress protein DegP (HtrA) [56]. The corresponding system in B. subtilis, CssRS, regulating htrA and htrB expression [47], appeared not to be involved in ykrL expression. Instead, two proteins binding to the ykrL promoter region were identified by DNA affinity chromatography: the unknown protein YkrK, encoded by ykrK, located upstream of ykrL, but divergently transcribed, and Rok, a known repressor of competence and of genes with extracytoplasmic function [235, 236]. Both proteins were demonstrated to act as repressors of ykrL expression. Electrophoresis mobility shift assays showed that Rok binds to the ykrL promoter region, whereas YkrK binds at three positions in the *vkrK-vkrL* intergenic region: with high affinity to the *vkrL* promoter region, with low affinity to the *ykrK* promoter region and with low affinity to a region in between these. A consensus motif for YkrK binding was identified by comparative bioinformatic analysis of homologous ykrK-ykrL intergenic regions of related *Bacillus* species. The motif, TGAWCTTA (w = a/t), was confirmed by making point mutations, which led to a drastically lowered affinity for YkrK. The presence of the binding motif in the ykrK promoter region, overlapping with its predicted -35 sequence, and the weak but significant binding of YkrK to this region, suggests that YkrK may be involved in its own regulation, but this needs further research.

The exact binding site for Rok in the *ykrK-ykrL* intergenic region was not determined, but recent work demonstrated that Rok binding occurs at A+T-rich DNA [237]. The fragment of the *ykrK-ykrL* intergenic region to which Rok bound contains an uninterrupted 18 bp stretch of A+T, overlapping with the predicted -10 box of P*ykrL* (Fig. 7B). The fragments to which Rok did not bind do not contain such uninterrupted stretches, although the average A+T content of the fragments did not significantly differ.

The functioning of YkrK is an interesting target for further research, as it may be either directly or indirectly involved in the sensing of the stress signal that leads to its dissociation from the *ykrL* promoter. As this stress is occurring and sensed at or in the membrane, interaction of YkrK with other membrane associated or embedded proteins can be expected. At the C-terminus of YkrK, a 34 amino acid sequence containing a large proportion of hydrophobic amino acids is predicted as a relatively hydrophobic α -helix by secondary structure prediction tool POLYVIEW [245], which may play a role in such interaction.

In conclusion, this study addressed the so far relatively unexplored area of membrane protein stress in *B. subtilis*, in particular the regulation of the membrane stress responsive gene *ykrL*. Two regulators were identified, Rok and the novel YkrK protein, for which a binding motif was revealed. Results on an *ykrL* knock-out strain and P*ykrL* controlled expression data together with other studies discussed above, indicate YkrL as a quality control system for membrane proteins.

Materials and Methods

Bacterial strains and growth conditions

B. subtilis strains used in this study are isogenic derivatives of strain 168 [1] and are listed in Table 2. *L. lactis* NZ9000 [216] was used as an intermediate cloning host for pNZ-xylP and pNZ-ykrK-strep and *E. coli* DH5 α for pPykrL-gfp. *B. subtilis* and *E. coli* strains were grown in LB medium [246] at 37°C with shaking. *L. lactis* was grown at 30°C in M17 broth (Oxoid, Basingstone, England) supplemented with 0.5% (wt/vol) glucose. LB medium was supplemented with 100 µg/ml ampicillin and 25 µg/ml kanamycin for *E. coli*, 5 µg/ml kanamycin, 100 µg/ml spectinomycin, 0.5 µg/ml erythromycin, 5 µg/ml chloramphenicol or 9 µg/ml tetracycline for *B. subtilis* and 5 µg/ml chloramphenicol or 5 µg/ml erythromycin for *L. lactis*, when needed. Solid media were prepared by adding 1.5% agar.

The membrane located xyloside transporter XylP from *Lb. pentosus* was overexpressed in *B. subtilis* using the subtilin-regulated gene expression (SURE) system [135].

Molecular techniques were carried out as described before [220]. Primers used in this study are listed in Table 3.

Strain/plasmid	Description	Reference
Bacterial strains		
E. coli		
DH5a	F endA1 glnV44 thi-1 recA1 relA1 gyrA96 deoR nupG Φ80dlacZΔM15 Δ(lacZYA-argF)U169, hsdR17(r _k m _k ⁺), λ-	[247]
ED428	rok-his ₆	[235]
L. lactis		
NZ9000	pepN::nisRK	[216]
B. subtilis		
168	trpC2	[1]
NZ8900	<i>trpC2 amyE::spaRK</i> (Kan ^R)	[135]
JW8900	<i>trp</i> C2 <i>thrC</i> :: <i>spaRK</i> (Erm ^R)	J. W. Veening, unpublished
JW8940	<i>trpC2 thrC::spaRK ykrL</i> (Erm ^R , Spc ^R)	This study
RH100	trpC2 thrC::spaRK (Spc ^R)	R. Nijland, unpublished
KB100	<i>trpC2 thrC</i> :: <i>spaRK sigW</i> (Spc ^R , Kan ^R)	This study
BC300	<i>trpC2 thrC::spaRK</i> (Spc ^R) P <i>ykrL-gfp</i> (Cm ^R)	This study
BC400	<i>trpC2</i> P <i>ykrL-gfp</i> (Cm [®])	This study
BC401	<i>trpC</i> 2 Py <i>krL-gfp rok</i> (Cm [®] , Kan [®])	This study
BC402	<i>trpC2</i> P <i>ykrL-gfp ykrK</i> (Cm ^R , Tet ^R)	This study
BC403	<i>trpC</i> 2 Py <i>krL-gfp rok ykrK</i> (Cm [®] , Kan [®] , Tet [®])	This study
BC404	<i>trpC2</i> Py <i>krL-gfp amyE::spaRK ykrK</i> (Cm [®] , Kan [®] , Tet [®])	This study
HT400	<i>trpC2 amyE::PykrL-lacZ</i> (Cm [®])	This study
Plasmids		
pNZ8902	P <i>spaSpn</i> (Erm ^R)	[135]
pNZ-xylP	PspaSpn-xyIP (Erm [®])	This study
pNZ-ykrK-strep	PspaSpn-ykrK-strep (Erm [®])	This study
pNZ-ykrK	PspaSpn-ykrK (Erm [®])	This study

Table 2. Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study.

Plasmid and strain construction

All primers used in this study are listed in Table 3. The *ykrL* deletion was constructed as follows. First, the *ykrL* locus including 735 bp upstream the start codon and 584 bp downstream the stop codon, was amplified using primers ykrLdel-fw and ykrLdel-rv. The PCR product was ligated into pCR2.1-TOPO (Invitrogen). The resulting vector, pTOPO-DykrL-1, was digested with *SwaI* and *Eco*471II enzymes. The spectinomycin resistance gene was amplified from pDG1726 [248] using primers specBsu-F and specBsu-R and ligated into pTOPO-DykrL-1. The resulting plasmid pTOPO-DykrL-2 carries *ykrL* flanking regions and the spectinomycin resistance gene replacing 874 bp of the *ykrL* gene. Strain JW8940 was constructed by transforming JW8900 with pTOPO-

DykrL-2 resulting in replacement of the ykrL gene with the spectinomycin cassette by double recombination.

The sigW deletion mutant was constructed as follows. The sigW locus including 540 bp upstream the start codon and 376 bp downstream the stop codon was amplified using primers sigW-del-fw and sigW-del-rv. The PCR product was ligated into pCR2.1-TOPO (Invitrogen) resulting in pTOPO-DsigW-1. Next, the kanamycin resistance marker was amplified from pDG780 [248] using the primers Km-dsigW-fw and Km-dsigW-rv. After digestion with *SacI* and *AccI*, the product was ligated into pTOPO-DsigW-1, from which a 374 bp internal fragment of sigW was removed by digestion with the same enzymes. The resulting vector, pTOPO-DsigW-2, was transformed to the *B. subtilis* RH100, giving rise to strain KB100 which contains the kanamycin resistance cassette replacing the 374 bp internal sigW fragment.

To disrupt *ykrK*, the deletion construct pDG1514-ykrK was made in two steps. An upstream flanking region of *ykrK* was amplified with primers ykrK::tc-o1 and ykrK::tc-o2, digested with *Bam*HI and *Pst*I and ligated to the corresponding sites of pDG1514 [248], upstream the tetracycline resistance cassette. Next, a downstream flanking region of *ykrK* was amplified with primers ykrK::tc-o3 and ykrK::tc-o4, digested with *Hind*III and *Xho*I and ligated at the same sites downstream the resistance cassette, resulting in pDG1514-ykrK. The construct was then transformed to BC400 and BC401, which gave strains BC402 and BC403, respectively, with a disrupted *ykrK* gene.

The PykrL-gfp reporter strains were obtained as follows. First, a DNA fragment of 510 bp upstream of *ykrL* containing the promoter region of *ykrL* was amplified using primers PykrL-fw and PykrL-rv. The PCR product was digested with *Kpn*I and *Pst*I and ligated into the same sites of pSG1151 [249], which resulted in pPykrL-gfp. pPykrL-gfp was transformed to the strains 168 and RH100 resulting, by means of Campbell-type integration, in strains BC400 and BC300, respectively.

The BC401 strain carrying the PykrL-gfp fusion and rok deletion was made by transforming BC400 with chromosomal DNA from *B. subtilis* BD3196, carrying a rok mutation [236].

Strain HT400 was constructed as follows. A 463 bp *ykrL* promoter region of *B. subtilis* was amplified using primers PykrLpDL-fw and PykrLpDL-rv, digested with *BamH*I and *Kpn*I and ligated upstream of the β -galactosidase gene (*bgaB*) in pDL, an *amyE* integration vector [103], which was cut with corresponding enzymes. The resulting plasmid pDL-PykrL was transformed to *B. subtilis* 168, resulting in integration of the *PykrL-lacZ*) fusion in the *amyE* locus.

Table 3. Primers used in this study.

Name	Sequence (5'- 3')
ykrLdel-fw	GCTCTGTCTCCTGTTCGGCG
ykrLdel-rv	GATCAGAAACAGTACCTGCTTC
specBsu-F	GGGCTTGGATCCCAACGCTGTCGACGTTGTAAAACGACGG
specBsu-R	CGCATAGCTTTCCGGTCGCCGCAGCTATGACCATGATTACGC
sigW-del-fw	GCGAAAGGTACCTCTGCCTTACAAGCAGAGGG
sigW-del-rv	GCGAAATCTAGAATTCGGCTGCTTGGACACGC
Km-dsigW-fw	TAATACGACTCACTATAGGGC
Km-dsigW-rv	ACCGGGCCCCCCCCGAGGTATACGGTATCGATACAAATTCC
ykrK::tc-o1	GCGAAAGGATCCCGATACTGCGACAAGTGAACG
ykrK::tc-o2	GCGAAACTGCAGTGACATGTTCGCTGATTGGACG
ykrK::tc-o3	GCGAAAAAGCTTAGATTATCGCCATTACAGTCC
ykrK::tc-o4	GCGAAACTCGAGAAGAAGAGAAAGCGGATGACC
PykrL-fw	GCGAAAGGTACCGTTCAATTGAGTATTTTTGCCC
PykrL-rv	GCGAAACTGCAGCGCCATAACAACCTCCGTTATTTT
PykrLpDL-fw	GCGAAAGGATCCTTGCCCAGCTCAGGGTGTCCG
PykrLpDL-rv	GCGAAAGGTACCAAAAGAACCCGTATATTTAAATTA
ykrK-strep-F	CGTAGTCATGATGAACATTTTTAAACTCTCTCGAACCGATATGG
ykrK-strep-R	CGTCCGGTACCTCATTTTTCAAATTGTGGATGGCTCCATAGAATGTCTGCTGTCATTTTATG
ykrK-fw	GCGAAATCATGAACATTTTTAAACTCTCTCGAACCG
ykrK-rv	GCGAAAAAGCTTTTATTATGCTGGCAATTGTTGTGG
xylP-fw	CGCATATCATGAGCGTTAGTATGCAGC
xylP-rv	GCGAAATCTAGATTAATGGTGATGGTGATGGTGCTTTTGATCGTCAGCAA
PykrL-oligo4	ACAAAACGATCCCGATTGTTG
PykrL-oligo5	TGTCCGATCAGATCTTTGATATCAC
SQ_PsecA_o1	CAAATTCTTTGGAAATAACAAAAGGTATGATATGATAATGAGAGGTATACATGGACTAG
SQ_PsecA-o2	CTAGTCCATGTATACCTCTCATTATCATATCATACCTTTTGTTATTTCCAAAGAATTTG
KL1-01	ATGTTCATTGTTCACCTC
KL1-02	TTGCTGACGCTTGAATTTTG
KL2-01	ATTACATTAACATCATACGTCG
KL2-02	TTCGCCATAACAACCTCC
KL3-f	AGTTCAAAATTCAAGCGTC
KL3-r	ATGCAAGGAATTCGACGTATG
KL2-o2-a	TTCGCCATAACAACCTCCGTTATTTTAAGTTTAAAAGAACCCGTATATTTAAATTATA
KL2-o2-t	TTCGCCATAACAACCTCCGTTATTTTAAATTCAAAAGAACCCGTATATTTAAATTATA
KL2-o2-at	TTCGCCATAACAACCTCCGTTATTTTAAAATTTAAAAGAACCCGTATATTTAAATTATA

Plasmid pNZ-ykrK-strep was made by amplifying *ykrK* using primers ykrK-strep-F and ykrK-strep-R carrying the Strep-tag sequence for a C-terminal fusion. The product was digested with *Pag*I and *Kpn*I and ligated into pNZ8948 [216], cut beforehand with *Nco*I and *Kpn*I.

To construct pNZ-ykrK, *ykrK* gene was amplified using primers ykrK-fw and ykrK-rv. The product was digested with *PagI* and *Hind*III and ligated into pNZ8902 digested with *NcoI* and *Hind*III.

To make pNZ-xylP, *xylP* of *Lb. pentosus* was amplified using primers xylP-fw and xylP-rv. The PCR product was digested with *PagI* and *XbaI* and ligated into pNZ8902 digested with *NcoI* and *XbaI*.

Expression and purification of YkrK and Rok

YkrK-strep was expressed in *L. lactis* NZ9000 from pNZ-ykrK-strep, using the NICE system [250]. Cells were grown in GM17 medium to mid-exponential phase ($OD_{600} = 0.5$) and induced with 5 ng/ml nisin (Sigma). After 2 hours cells were harvested, washed and resuspended in buffer W (100 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl). 5 mg/ml lysozyme was added and, after 10 minutes incubation at 45°C, cells were disrupted by bead beating for 2 minutes at 4°C in a Mini-Beadbeater-16 (Biospec Products). Cell debris was removed by centrifugation and the supernatant was incubated with Strep-Tactin Sepharose (IBA) with gentle rotation for 2 hours at 4°C. The mixture was loaded onto a Bio-Spin disposable chromatography column (Bio-Rad) and washed three times with buffer W. The protein was eluted from the column with 100 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 150 mM EDTA, and 2.5 mM desthiobiotin. The protein concentration was determined using a ND-1000 Spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies). Fractions containing pure YkrK were used in gel retardation analysis.

Rok-His₆ was expressed in *E. coli* ED428 and purified using a Superflow Ninitrilotriacetic acid resin column (QIAGEN) as described before [236].

DNA affinity chromatography

DNA affinity chromatography was performed as described before [251, 252] with modifications. The 542 bp *vkrK-vkrL* intergenic region was amplified using primers PykrL-oligo4 and PykrL-oligo5, of which PykrL-oligo4 was provided in a biotinylated form on the 5'-end (Biolegio). The amplified fragment covered a region from -412 to +70 with respect to the translational start site of ykrL. The PCR product labeled with biotin was immobilized on SiMag-Streptavidin magnetic beads (Bio-Nobile). For cytoplasmic fraction isolation, B. subtilis NZ8900 was grown in 600 ml LB. Cells were collected at late exponential phase, washed with TGED buffer [20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 1 mM EDTA, 10% (v/v) glycerol, 0.01% (v/v) Triton X-100, 100 mM NaCl, 1 mM DTT], resuspended in the same buffer supplemented with 60 mg of lysozyme and protease inhibitor cocktail Complete (Roche) and incubated for 1 hour at 37°C. Cells were passed three times through a French press operated at 13 kpsi. Preparation of a cytoplasmic fraction, incubation with immobilized and biotinvlated DNA and subsequent washing and elution steps were performed as described before [251, 252]. Elution fractions were analyzed by SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and detected by silver staining. Gel slices were excised from the gel and destained in a 1:1 solution of 30 mM potassium ferricyanide and 100 mM sodium thiosulphate. Proteins were identified by in-gel trypsin digestion followed by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) as described before [253]. For protein identification the MS data were submitted to Mascot (version 2.1, Matrix Science, London, UK) and searched against the *B. subtilis* proteome sequence.

Flow cytometry

Overnight cultures of the *B. subtilis* reporter strain carrying the *PykrL-gfp* fusion were diluted to an OD_{600} of 0.05, grown to exponential phase, diluted again and grown under the desired conditions. For flow cytometry, cells were washed and diluted in filter sterilized PBS buffer (58 mM Na₂HPO₄, 17 mM NaH₂PO₄, 68 mM NaCl, pH 7.3) and analyzed using a BD FACSCanto (BD Biosciences) operating on an argon laser at 488 nm. The GFP signal (FL-1) was collected through a FITC filter. The photomultiplier tube voltage was set at 700 V. In each measurement, 50 000 events (cells) were counted. WinMDI The data was then analyzed using software (version 2.9; http://facs.scripps.edu/software.html).

Electrophoretic mobility shift assays (EMSAs)

EMSAs were performed essentially as described before [254]. DNA probes were amplified using Phusion High-Fidelity DNA polymerase (NEB) and primers listed in Table 3: KL1-o1 and KL1-o2 primers were used to amplify DNA fragment A, KL2-o1 and KL2-o2 were used for fragment B, and KL3-f and KL3-r for fragment C. Mutated fragments, B-mut1, B-mut2 and B-mut3, were amplified using primer KL2-o1 in pair with KL2-o2-a, KL2-o2-t or KL2-o2-at, respectively. The PCR fragments were endlabeled with T4-polynucleotide kinase using $[\gamma^{-33}P]ATP$. Varying amounts of protein were mixed on ice with 5000 cpm (corresponding to approximately 4 ng) of probe DNA in binding buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 100 mM KCl, 5 mM MgCl₂, 0.5 mM dithiotreitol, 0.05 mg/ml poly[d(I-C)], and 0.05 mg/ml BSA) and subsequently incubated for 30 min at room temperature. Glycerol was added to a final concentration of 10% and the samples were loaded on a nondenaturing 6% polyacrylamide gel. Gels were run in 1 × TAE buffer (40 mM Tris-acetate pH 8.0, 2 mM EDTA) at 100 V for 45 or 55 min depending on the probe size, and dried in a vacuum gel dryer (Bio-Rad). Radioactivity was visualized using phosphor-screens and a Cyclone PhosphorImager (Packard). In all the EMSA experiments, secA promoter (PsecA) amplified with primers SQ_PsecA_o1 and SQ_PsecA_o2 was used as a negative control.

Protein-DNA binding affinities (dissociation constant K_d) were determined by fitting a binding kinetics to the data derived from radiographs. Bound and unbound fractions were determined by measuring band intensities using ImageJ software (version 1.44i; National Institutes of Health, USA, http://rsb.info.nih.gov/nih-image/).

YkrK binding motif search

In order to find a YkrK binding motif, the intergenic sequences between *ykrK* and *ykrL* homolog genes in *B. subtilis, B. amyloliquefaciens, B. licheniformis, B. halodurans* and *B. pumilus* were compared using Motif Sampler tool [238]. The motif weight matrix was generated using Genome2D [255].

DNA microarray analysis

The transcriptional profile of *B. subtilis* NZ8900 carrying pNZ-ykrK was compared to the profile of strain NZ8900 strain carrying the empty vector pNZ8902. For *ykrK* induction, SURE expression system was used [135]. Strains were grown in TY broth and at OD_{600} of 0.8, 0.1% subtilin was added to both cultures. After 30 minutes further incubation, 10 OD units of each culture was collected for RNA isolation. The microarray experiment was performed in three biological replicates and one technical replicate.

RNA isolation, amino allyl-modified cDNA synthesis, cDNA labeling with Cy3 and Cy5 dyes, hybridization to oligonucleotide microarrays, washing, scanning, image analysis and normalization of data as well as statistical analysis were performed as described

previously [167]. The complete microarray data is available at GEO data repository (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/query/acc.cgi) under accession number GSE33456.

Transposon mutagenesis

Detection of transposition events. Random mutagenesis of the *B. subtilis* strain HT400 was performed using the TnYLB-1 transposon following the protocol described before [256] with modifications. The HT400 strain was transformed with pMarA carrying the TnYLB-1 transposon. Transformants were selected on plates for erythromycin resistance at 30°C, permissive for plasmid replication. A positive clone was grown for three hours at 30°C, whereupon the temperature was shifted to 45°C (nonpermissive temperature) and grown for additional 4 hours. Proper dilutions were plated on TY agar containing 5 μ g/ml kanamycin and 0.01% X-gal (5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-b-D-galactopyranoside, Sigma) and incubated at 45°C. To confirm that the transposition event was efficient, the same dilutions were plated on TY agar containing 1 μ g/ml erythromycin.

Identification of transposon insertion sites. 1 μ g of chromosomal DNA from transposon mutants was digested with *Taq*I or *Hind*III, purified and circularized in a ligation reaction using T4 DNA ligase. 100 ng of ligated DNA was used as a template for

inverse-PCR (iPCR) using primers oIPCR1 and oIPCR2 [256]. iPCR products were purified and sequenced with oIPCR3 primer [256] by ServiceXS (Leiden, The Netherlands).

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank J. W. Veening for constructing strain JW8900 and R. Nijland for constructing strain RH100.

CHAPTER 4

Determination of the *Bacillus subtilis* PrsA chaperone/foldase localization pattern and assessment of the cell wall synthesis defect in a *prsA* mutant

Bogumiła C. Marciniak, Oscar P. Kuipers

Published as part of:

Hyyryläinen H-L, Marciniak BC, Dahncke K, Pietiäinen M, Courtin P, Vitikainen M, Seppala R, Otto A, Becher D, Chapot-Chartier M-P, Kuipers OP, Kontinen VP:
Penicillin-binding protein folding is dependent on the PrsA peptidyl-prolyl *cistrans* isomerase in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Molecular Microbiology* 2010, **77**:108-127

The PrsA protein is a membrane-anchored peptidylprolyl *cis-trans* isomerase (PPIase) in *Bacillus subtilis* and most other Gram-positive bacteria. It catalyzes the post-translocational folding of exported proteins and is essential for normal growth of *B. subtilis*. Here, the mechanism behind this indispensability is studied. A viable *prsA* null mutant could be constructed in the presence of a high concentration of magnesium. Van-FL labeling of peptidoglycan precursors in PrsA-depleted and *prsA* mutant cells, and fluorescence microscopy revealed changes in cell morphology as well as a defect in cell wall biosynthesis. Immunostaining of cells carrying PrsA-Myc showed a helical pattern of PrsA localization in the lateral cell membrane. The results presented in this chapter were a contribution to a broader study where it was shown that PrsA is essential for normal growth as folding of penicillin-binding proteins (PBPs) that are involved in the lateral cell wall synthesis is dependent on this PPIase.

Introduction

Intracellular folding of a protein into a native functional structure is assisted by molecular chaperones and foldase enzymes. A class of foldases ubiquitous in all types of cells and cell compartments is formed by peptidyl-prolyl *cis-trans* isomerases (PPIases), which catalyze the isomerization of peptide bonds immediately preceding proline residues [257–259].

PrsA is a lipoprotein bound to the outer face of the cytoplasmic membrane in *Bacillus* subtilis and other Gram-positive Firmicutes [130, 260]. It consists of a diacylglycerol membrane anchor, a large functionally unknown N-terminal domain, followed by a PPIase domain and a small functionally unknown C-terminal domain, all of which were shown to be essential for PrsA function [260]. B. subtilis PrsA exhibits PPIase activity but may also have a chaperone-like activity in vivo [260]. Several extracellular proteins in various Gram-positive bacteria are secreted or maturated in a PrsA-dependent manner [130–132, 139, 261–265]. Overexpression of PrsA enhances α -amylase secretion from Bacillus and Lactococcus lactis cells including the biotechnically important thermoresistant AmyL α -amylase of *Bacillus licheniformis* [130–132, 262]. Some other extracellular proteins are also secreted at increased levels from PrsA overexpressing cells [127, 266]. In B. subtilis, PrsA is an essential cell component in normal growth conditions indicating that it has an indispensable role in protein folding at the membrane/cell wall interface [131]. In contrast to the rod-shaped B. subtilis, PrsA is a dispensable protein in several cocci, L. lactis [261], Streptococcus pyogenes [263] and Staphylococcus aureus (Vitikainen et al., unpublished).

In this study our purpose was to identify the indispensable cell components which are folded in a PrsA-dependent manner and to elucidate why PrsA is an essential protein in the rod-shaped bacterium *B. subtilis*, but non-essential in cocci. A hypothesis explaining this difference could be that PrsA catalyzes the folding of a protein(s) involved in the biosynthesis of the cylindrical (lateral) cell wall and determination of the rod cell shape. The bacterial cell shape is maintained by a peptidoglycan cell wall (murein sacculus) and the actin-like proteins Mbl, MreB and MreBH, which form helical cables (cytoskeleton) that encircle the cell immediately beneath the cell membrane [243, 267–271]. The rod shape of *B. subtilis* is also dependent on other proteins including MreC and MreD, which are membrane proteins and interact with each other and Mbl [272, 273]. In the absence of any of these Mre proteins, cells are spherical or aberrant in shape or non-viable in normal growth conditions [243, 267, 274]. Studies on the cell shape determination of *Caulobacter crescentus* and *B. subtilis* have also shown that MreB,

MreC and MreD interact with penicillin-binding proteins (PBPs) [243, 273, 275, 276]. Peptidoglycan precursors are incorporated into the wall at distinct sites organized in a helical pattern along the lateral wall [277–279]. The Mre proteins and two PBP1-associated cell division proteins, EzrA and GpsB, are involved in the determination of the spatial organization and dynamics of the peptidoglycan synthesis [243, 280].

PBPs are membrane-bound transglycosylase and transpeptidase enzymes which use peptidoglycan precursors to synthesize peptidoglycan chains and cross-link adjacent glycan chains to form a murein sacculus [281, 282]. The B. subtilis genome sequence has revealed 16 PBP-encoding genes, many of which are functionally redundant [283]. The PBPs have several distinct localization patterns in the cell suggesting dedicated functional roles for them in cell wall growth or cell division [283]. The PBP3 and PBP4a monofunctional transpeptidases and the PBP5 D-alanvl-D-alanine carboxypeptidase are localized in distinct spots or bands in the region of the lateral cell wall, suggesting their involvement in the elongation of the lateral wall. The bifunctional PBP1 is involved in the growth of both the lateral wall and the septum [243, 280, 283, 284]. The PBP2a and PbpH transpeptidases have activity in the lateral wall synthesis and rod-shape determination [285], whereas the septal localization of PBP2b suggests a specific role for this transpeptidase in cell division [283].

MreC and PBPs possess a relatively high number of proline residues (about 3% of its amino acid residues) and the functional domains of these proteins are localized in the same cell compartment as PrsA suggesting that their folding could be dependent on PrsA. In the study presented in this chapter, labeling of peptidoglycan precursors with the fluorescent antibiotic vancomycin (Van-FL) was used to characterize the cell wall biosynthesis defect of PrsA-depleted and *prsA* mutant cells. Also the PrsA localization pattern along the cell membrane was assessed with immunostaining with Cy3-labelled antibodies. The results shown in this chapter, in combination with other results (membrane proteome analyses, MreC and PBPs stability in PrsA-depleted cells study as well as better characterization of the cell wall biosynthesis defect in PrsA-depleted cells and the functional role of PrsA in cell shape determination using various methods) published by Hyyryläinen *et al.* [286], showed that several PBPs are folded in a PrsA-depleted results in the absence of PrsA.



Figure 1. Van-FL staining of *B. subtilis* strain IH9024 ($\Delta prsA$) (A-C) and 168 (D). (A and D) Logarithmic growth phase, (B) stationary phase, (C) late stationary phase. Left panels – phase contrast images, right panels – Van-FL staining. Scale bar represents 6 μ m (the same for all the images).

Results

Depletion or deletion of PrsA affects lateral cell wall biosynthesis

The *prsA* null mutant (IH9024) could be constructed on plates supplemented with magnesium [286]. The $\Delta prsA$ strain grew on Antibiotic Medium 3 agar plates supplemented with 20 mM MgCl₂ forming very small homogenous colonies. Microscopic inspection of cells in corresponding liquid cultures showed the presence of large deformed cells in exponentially growing cultures, which changed in overnight grown cultures to small motile coccoid cells, short bent rods, which were thinner than those in the exponential growth phase, and fairly normal-looking rod-shaped cells (Fig. 1). The appearance of viable coccoid *prsA* null mutant cells corroborates the evidence on the involvement of PrsA in lateral cell wall biosynthesis and cell elongation, which was suggested by the fact that the stability of several PBPs involved in the lateral cell wall synthesis is dependent on PrsA [286]. However, the presence of some rod-shaped bacteria in overnight cultures suggests that they were capable of synthesizing the cylindrical lateral wall in the absence of PrsA. Any fast-growing suppressors that would

have overgrown the more slowly growing $\Delta prsA$ mutant on plates were not observed [286].



Figure 2. Van-FL staining of B. subtilis strain IH7211 (Pspac-prsA). prsA expression was induced with 8 μM IPTG (**A**), 16 μM IPTG (**B**) and 1 mM IPTG (**C**). Left panels – phase contrast images, right panels – Van-FL staining. Scale bar represents 6 μm (the same for all the images).

Van-FL imaging of the cell wall defect of *prsA* mutants

The cell wall defect was further characterized by imaging peptidoglycan biosynthesis in the prsA null mutant (IH9024) and PrsA-depleted cells (IH7211) of B. subtilis with fluorescent vancomycin (Van-FL) (Figs 1 and 2). Van-FL binds to the terminal D-Ala-D-Ala moieties in non-cross-linked peptidoglycan precursors and growing glycan chains [277, 278]. Using Van-FL staining and fluorescence microscopy, it has been shown that lateral wall peptidoglycan polymers are synthesized in distinct spots organized in a spiral pattern [277, 278]. PBPs that are located in the lateral wall in a similar spiral organization pattern are responsible for the synthesis of the lateral wall peptidoglycan. On the other hand, PBPs that normally synthesize the division septum are also capable of synthesizing lateral wall peptidoglycan [277]. In cells of B. subtilis 168 and IH7211 (Pspac-prsA) induced with 1 mM IPTG, fluorescence was mainly seen in the division septum, but the spiral synthesis pattern of lateral wall peptidoglycan was also observed (Figs 1D and 2C, right panels, respectively). The prsA null mutant and PrsA-depleted cells of IH7211 (Pspac-prsA induced with 8 mM and 16 mM IPTG) were more intensively fluorescent than wild-type and non-depleted cells. In thick rods and spherical severely PrsA-depleted cells, fluorescence was strongly increased in the entire wall. This result suggests that peptidoglycan (lipid II) precursors are more abundant in

the membrane of PrsA-depleted than nondepleted cells and distributed evenly around whole deformed cells. Stationary-phase cells of the *prsA* null mutant, including the small cocci-like ones (Fig. 1B and C), were less fluorescent than the deformed exponential-phase cells.

PrsA is localized in spots with a spiral-like pattern of organization along the cell membrane

In order to find out whether the PrsA lipoprotein is distributed evenly around the cell membrane or in an uneven manner like MreC and several PBPs [272, 283], we constructed the B. subtilis IH8478 strain which expresses PrsA modified with a Cterminal Myc-tag (PrsA-Myc). This strain was subjected to the immunofluorescence procedure (see Materials and Methods) in which PrsA-Myc was stained with anti-c-Myc antibodies, secondary antibodies conjugated with biotin and ExtrAvidin conjugated with Cy3. The stained PrsA-Myc was visualized by fluorescence microscopy. The localization pattern of PrsA-Myc was determined both in cells from the exponential and stationary phase of growth (Fig. 3). Specificity of anti-c-Myc antibodies used as primary antibodies in the immunofluorescence technique was shown with Western blotting (Fig. 4). The fluorescence images showed that PrsA is not distributed evenly in the membrane but it is localized in distinct spots that are lined up in spirals (Fig. 5A). This pattern is stable throughout vegetative growth until stationary phase. However, the spiral structures are better resolved in exponentially growing cells than in stationary phase cells. To show specific binding of the antibodies used for immunostaining and to exclude false PrsA-Myc staining result, B. subtilis strain 168 (PrsA) was used as a negative control. Indeed, no Cy3 signal was detected in the control strain (Fig. 5B).

Discussion

PrsA peptidyl-prolyl *cis-trans* isomerase has an essential role in extracytoplasmic protein folding in rod-shaped bacteria. The localization of the enzyme domain at the membrane/cell wall interface suggests that PrsA may assist the folding of membrane proteins which have large functional domains on the outer surface of the membrane. The work presented in this chapter was a contribution to a broader study, where the mechanism of PrsA indispensability was revealed [286].

The morphological changes of *B. subtilis* cells in the absence of PrsA suggest involvement of PrsA in lateral cell wall biosynthesis. PrsA-depleted cells are severely
deformed, spherical in shape. Also small cocci-like cells were observed in stationary phase cultures of the *prsA* null mutant. In the wild type-like rods of the *prsA* null mutant, the lateral wall synthesis may have been restored by some compensation mechanism for instance a secondary suppressor mutation [286]. A high concentration of magnesium restores the growth of mutants with defects in different aspects of cell wall synthesis ($\Delta ponA$, $\Delta mreB$, $\Delta mreC$, $\Delta mreD$) [274, 287]. Similarly, magnesium restored the growth of the PrsA-depleted strain IH7211. Magnesium probably stabilizes peptidoglycan enabling the bacterium to maintain its rod shape (thick) at very low PrsA levels [286].



Figure 3. Growth curves of *B. subtilis* IH8478 (*prsA-myc*) and 168. Arrows labeled "E" and "S" indicate sample collection for Western blotting and immunofluorescence procedure (see following figures). E, exponential growth phase; S, stationary growth phase.



Figure 4. Western blot detection of PrsA-Myc using anti-c-Myc and anti-mouse-HRP antibodies. Samples were collected from *B. subtilis* IH8478 (*prsA-myc*) and 168 (negative control) cultures at exponential (E) and stationary (S) growth phase.

As shown by Van-FL staining, peptidoglycan biosynthesis was impaired in PrsAdepleted cells and in the *prsA* null mutant. In contrast to wild type cells, Van-FL stained strongly $\Delta prsA$ and PrsA-depleted exponential-phase cells and the fluorescence was fairly uniformly distributed around the whole cell membrane. The increased number of remaining pentapeptide side-chains and their even distribution in the wall might explain the increased Van-FL staining. An alternative hypothesis might be that the level of membrane-bound peptidoglycan precursors was increased in these deformed cells and that the precursors either moved freely in the membrane or were translocated uniformly across the membrane.

The localization of PrsA in the membrane was also determined using the immunofluorescence technique by taking advantage of a *B. subtilis* strain that expresses Myc-tagged PrsA. Because the *prsA-myc* fusion gene is present as a single copy in the chromosome and under the control of the native *prsA* promoter, artifacts due to

overproduction were avoided. The advantage of the immunofluorescence technique over translational fusions to a fluorescent protein is the very small size of Myc tag. Moreover, a fluorescent protein, like for instance GFP, folds properly only in the cytoplasm and is not fluorescent on the *trans* side of the membrane [288–290]. The results showed that PrsA is not randomly distributed in the membrane, but is localized to the lateral cell membrane in which it forms distinct spots organized in a helical pattern. To our knowledge this is the first lipoprotein which has been shown to have a helical organization pattern. The helical organization of PrsA raises the question whether it is associated with any of the other proteins with a similar organization pattern including the cell-shape determining proteins and PBPs [243, 267, 268, 270–272, 283]. The helical pattern might be dependent on them. It has been shown that a cytoskeleton protein, MreBH, can determine the helical organization of a protein, LytE, on the extracytoplasmic side of the membrane [291].

Another finding published by Hyyryläinen *et al.* [286] which supports the hypothesis of PrsA being required for lateral cell wall synthesis is that the folding and stability of those PBPs which are involved in the lateral cell wall synthesis (PBP2a, PBP2b, PBP3, PBP4) are dependent on PrsA. The primary reason for the growth inhibition and cell wall synthesis defect in PrsA-depleted or *prsA* mutant cells is probably insufficient amounts of active PBPs.

Despite of the rod cell shape, *Corynebacteria* such as *Corynebacterium glutamicum* and *Corynebacterium diphtheriae*, which belong to Gram-positive bacteria, do not possess PrsA [292]. Obviously PrsA-like foldases/chaperones are not needed to synthesize the lateral cell wall and maintain the rod cell shape of these bacteria. The PrsA-independency may be due to the different mode of lateral cell wall synthesis as compared to *B. subtilis* and most probably other rod-shaped Firmicutes. In *C. glutamicum*, peptidoglycan is incorporated into the wall via cell poles in a manner dependent on the DivIVA protein [277, 293]. PrsA is also dispensable in cocci [261, 263] probably because in cocci peptidoglycan is assembled at the division septum and the hemispherical poles derived from it [294].

The PrsA foldase/chaperone catalyzes post-translocational folding of exported proteins [54, 260, 295]. Overexpression of PrsA enhances secretion of some extracellular proteins, particularly α -amylases of *Bacillus sp*. from industrial Gram-positive bacteria [130–132, 262, 266]. Therefore, PrsA is an important tool for increasing yields in industrial protein production. Now, we have shown that PrsA also has a housekeeping role in the cell – it is required directly or indirectly for PBP folding and lateral cell wall biosynthesis. Since many important current antibiotics, e.g., β -lactams, exert their

antimicrobial effect by inhibiting PBPs, our results suggest that inhibiting PrsA might be an alternative way to inhibit cell wall biosynthesis of pathogenic rod-shaped bacteria and treat infectious diseases.



Figure 5. Immunolocalization of PrsA-Myc in *B. subtilis* **cells.** (A) Immunolocalization of PrsA-Myc in *B. subtilis* IH8478; (B) negative control of immunostaining, *B. subtilis* 168. Samples for immunofluorescence microscopy were collected at exponential (E) and stationary (S) growth phase. PC, phase contrast pictures; FL, fluorescence pictures of Cy3-stained cells; D, fluorescence pictures after deconvolution. Scale bar – 2 μ m. Immunofluorescence procedure has been described in Materials and Methods.

Materials and Methods

Strains and growth conditions

The *B. subtilis* strains used in this study are listed in Table 1. Strains were grown in TY liquid medium with shaking or on TY agar plates at 37°C. Bacteria were cultivated in

Antibiotic medium 3 (Difco) when the effect of magnesium on PrsA-depleted cells and Van-FL staining of peptidoglycan synthesis in *prsA* null mutant were studied. When needed, the growth media were supplemented with appropriate antibiotics: 5 μ g/ml chloramphenicol, 1 μ g/ml erythromycin. The expression of P*spac-prsA* was induced with 1 mM (full induction) or with 8 or 16 μ M (PrsA depletion) IPTG.

Strain	Description	Reference
B. subtilis		
168	trpC2	[1]
IH9024	168 $\Delta prsA$	[286]
IH7211	168 prsA::pKTH3384 Pspac-prsA	[131]
IH8478	168 prsA::pMUTIN-cMyc prsA-myc	[286]

Table 1. Strains used in this study.

Van-FL staining

B. subtilis strains 168 and IH9024 ($\Delta prsA$) were grown overnight in 10 ml Antibiotic medium 3 (Difco) supplemented with 20 mM MgCl2 and chloramphenicol 5 µg/ml when needed. Overnight cultures were diluted in 20 ml fresh medium to OD₆₀₀ = 0.1 and grown 24 hours. Cells were collected for Van-FL staining at exponential, stationary and late stationary phase. *B. subtilis* strain IH7211 (P*spac-prsA*) was grown overnight on a TY agar plate supplemented with 1 µg/ml erythromycin. Material from a plate was suspended in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) to OD₆₀₀ = 1.0 and washed three times with 1 ml PBS. 20 µl of the suspension was used to inoculate 10 ml TY containing 1 µg/ml erythromycin and IPTG at three different concentrations: 8 µM, 16 µM and 1 mM. At OD₆₀₀ = 0.6, samples were collected for Van-FL staining.

0.5 ml of a culture was incubated 20 minutes with 1 μ g/ml fluorescently labeled vancomycin (BODIPY® FL vancomycin, Invitrogen) mixed in 1:1 ratio with unlabeled vancomycin (Sigma). The cells were spotted on microscope slides (Knittel Gläser, Germany). The Van-FL stained cells were viewed immediately under the fluorescence microscope (Olympus IX71) equipped with a Cool Snap HQ2 camera (Photometrics). Van-FL fluorescence was visualized with a bandpass 470/40 nm excitation filter and a bandpass 525/50 nm emission filter. Images were analyzed using ImageJ (http://rsb.info.nih.gov/nih-image/) and Adobe Photoshop CS2 Version 9.0.

Immunofluorescence

Single colonies of *B. subtilis* 168 and IH8478 (*prsA-myc*) grown on TY agar plates were used to inoculate 5 ml TY liquid medium. Overnight cultures were diluted in 20 ml TY medium to $OD_{600} = 0.1$ and grown till stationary phase. TY medium was supplemented with erythromycin to a final concentration of 1 µg/ml when needed. Samples for

immunofluorescence assay were collected at exponential and stationary growth phase. Immunofluorescence staining was performed according to the method described by Harry and collaborators [296] with modifications described below.

Cells were fixed and permeabilized as follows. 0.5 ml of bacterial culture in TY was mixed with an equal volume of 2 \times fixative solution containing 2.68% paraformaldehyde and 0.005% glutaraldehyde and incubated for 15 min at room temperature (21-23°C) and 30 min on ice. After fixation the cells were washed three times in PBS and resuspended in GTE (50 mM glucose, 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 10 mM EDTA). A fresh lysozyme solution in GTE was added to an aliquot of cells to a final concentration of 2 mg/ml and cells were immediately spotted on multiwell slides (MP Biomedicals, LLC) coated with 0.01% poly-L-lysine (Sigma). After 5 min incubation wells were washed with PBS and left to dry in the air.

For immunostaining, cells were blocked with blocking solution (PBS containing 2% BSA and 0.01% Tween) for 15 min at room temperature. Next, cells were incubated with mouse anti-c-Myc antibodies (Gentaur) diluted 1:1000 in the blocking solution for 1 hour at room temperature. After washing the cells 10 times with PBS, secondary anti-mouse biotin-conjugated antibody (Sigma-Aldrich) diluted 1:500 in the blocking solution was added and cells were incubated at room temperature for 1 hour. Cells were washed again 10 times with PBS and incubated 1 hour with 1:25 diluted ExtrAvidin Cy3 conjugate (Sigma-Aldrich) at room temperature in the dark. Samples were washed 10 times with PBS and mounted with Vectashield mounting medium (Vector Laboratories, Inc.). Slides were stored at -20°C.

Sample imaging was performed using a wide-field Zeiss Axioscop50 fluorescence microscope (Carl Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany) equipped with a Princeton Instruments 1300Y digital camera. Cy3 fluorescence was visualized with a bandpass (546 / 12 nm) excitation filter, a 560 nm dichromatic mirror, and a bandpass (575–640 nm) emission filter. Images were analyzed using ImageJ (http://rsb.info.nih.gov/nih-image/) and Adobe Photoshop CS2 Version 9.0. Wide-field images were corrected for bleaching and unstable illumination using the Huygens Professional deconvolution software by Scientific Volume Imaging (http://www.svi.nl/).

Western blot

1 OD unit of a *B. subtilis* culture was harvested by centrifugation for 10 min at $5000 \times$ g, resuspended in 150 µl of protoplast buffer (20% sucrose, 10 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.1, 10 mM EDTA, 50 mM NaCl, 2 mg/ml lysozyme) and incubated at 37°C for 30 min. An equal volume of 2 × SDS-PAGE sample buffer (100 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 4% SDS,

1% DTT, 20% glycerol, 0.05% bromophenol blue) was added and the samples were boiled for 5 min. Proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE and transferred to a PVDF membrane. The immunodetection of PrsA-Myc was performed using mouse anti-c-Myc (Clontech) and anti-mouse Horseradish Peroxidase linked antibody (GE Healthcare UK, Ltd.). Subsequently, membranes were incubated with ECL detection reagent (Amersham) and proteins were visualized using Curix 60 AGFA Film Processor (Siemens AG).

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the Department of Molecular Cell Biology of the University of Groningen (Prof. dr. Ida van der Klei), the Netherlands, for giving access to microscopy facilities and A.M. Krikken for fluorescence microscopy support.

CHAPTER 5

High- and low-affinity *cre* boxes for CcpA binding in *Bacillus subtilis* revealed by genome-wide analysis

Bogumiła C. Marciniak, Monika Pabijaniak, Anne de Jong, Robert Dűhring, Gerald Seidel, Wolfgang Hillen, Oscar P. Kuipers

Published in *BMC Genomics* 2012;**13**(1):401.

In *Bacillus subtilis* and its relatives carbon catabolite control, a mechanism enabling to reach maximal efficiency of carbon and energy sources metabolism, is achieved by the global regulator CcpA (carbon catabolite protein A). CcpA in a complex with HPr-Ser-P (seryl-phosphorylated form of histidine-containing protein, HPr) binds to operator sites called catabolite responsive elements, *cre*. Depending on the *cre* box position relative to the promoter, the CcpA/HPr-Ser-P complex can either act as a positive or a negative regulator. The *cre* boxes are highly degenerate semi-palindromes with a lowly conserved consensus sequence. So far, studies aimed at revealing how CcpA can bind such diverse sites were focused on the analysis of single *cre* boxes. In this study, a genome-wide analysis of *cre* sites was performed in order to identify differences in *cre* sequence and position, which determine their binding affinity.

The transcriptomes of *B. subtilis* cultures with three different CcpA expression levels were compared. The higher the amount of CcpA in the cells, the more operons possessing *cre* sites were differentially regulated. The *cre* boxes that mediated regulation at low CcpA levels were designated as strong (high affinity) and those which responded only to high amounts of CcpA, as weak (low affinity). Differences in the sequence and position in relation to the transcription start site between strong and weak *cre* boxes were revealed.

Certain residues at specific positions in the *cre* box as well as, to a certain extent, a more palindromic nature of *cre* sequences and the location of *cre* in close vicinity to the transcription start site contribute to the strength of CcpA-dependent regulation. The main factors contributing to *cre* regulatory efficiencies, enabling subtle differential control of various subregulons of the CcpA regulon, are identified.

Introduction

A well-known phenomenon among bacteria is the sole utilization of the most favored carbon source (e.g., glucose, fructose or malate) over other sugars present in the environment. The regulatory mechanism coordinating the metabolism of carbon and energy sources in order to maximize the metabolic efficiency is called carbon catabolite control, i.e., carbon catabolite repression (CCR) and carbon catabolite activation (CCA). Carbon catabolite control in Bacillus subtilis and other low-GC Gram-positive bacteria is exerted by the CcpA protein (catabolite control protein A) [149]. CcpA is a member of the LacI/GalR family of transcriptional regulators [163] and it can act either as a positive or negative regulator of genes that are in most cases involved in carbon acquisition or metabolism [297]. CcpA is synthesized constitutively, regardless to the availability of preferred carbon sources [298], it forms a dimer [299] and its activity is modulated by a complex interaction with either one of the corepressors, HPr or Crh [158, 298–301]. In the presence of glucose or other rapidly metabolized carbon sources, the histidine-containing protein (HPr) and an HPr-like protein (Crh) are phosphorylated on a conserved serine (Ser46) residue by HPr kinase [302, 303]. Binding of the serylphosphorylated HPr (HPr-Ser-P) or Crh (Crh-Ser-P) to CcpA stimulates the activity of CcpA [158, 300, 301, 303]. During growth on carbohydrates there is much more HPr than Crh in the cell [304]. Notably, the Crh-specific function in the regulation of expression during growth on substrates other than carbohydrates was recently revealed [149]. Hence, Crh seems to play a secondary role in CCR. Next to HPr and Crh, lowmolecular-weight molecules like NADP, glucose-6-phosphate (G6P), and fructose-1,6bisphosphate (FBP) modulate CcpA activity by either stimulation of HPr kinase activity (FBP) [159, 160], enhancement of CcpA affinity for HPr-Ser-P (FBP) [155], triggering cooperative CcpA binding to DNA (G6P) [162], or enhancing the CcpA interaction with the transcription machinery (NADP/NADPH) [161].

CcpA binds to DNA at *cis*-acting sequences called catabolite responsive elements (*cre*) located in the promoter region or within open reading frames of the regulated genes and operons. So far more than 50 *cre* sites were identified in the *B. subtilis* genome [149]. A general rule was deduced, stating that genes with *cre* boxes located upstream of -35 sequences of the promoter are subject to activation by the CcpA complex, as shown for *ackA* [184], *pta* [185] and *ilvB* [186, 187]. However, *ackA* is cooperatively activated by CcpA and CodY [305, 306] and full activation of *ackA* requires also an additional conserved sequence present upstream of the *cre* box [307]. Moreover, the *lev* operon is subject to CcpA repression, although the *lev cre* site is located upstream of the

promoter. However, regulation of the *lev* operon involves also the LevR transcriptional activator: binding of CcpA to the *lev cre* site prevents a productive interaction between LevR and RNA polymerase [308]. Binding of CcpA to *cre* boxes overlapping the promoter leads to transcriptional repression by interfering with the transcription machinery binding, as for *amyE*, *bglP*, *cccA*, *dctP*, *glpF*, *phoP*, *acuA* [170, 171, 174, 182, 309–311]. The binding of the protein complex to *cre* boxes that are located downstream of the transcription start site blocks transcription elongation, as is the case for most of the genes and operons regulated by CcpA [149, 301].

Cre boxes are highly degenerate pseudo-palindromes with the consensus sequence WTGNNARCGNWWWCAW, where the strongly conserved residues are underlined [164–166]. Little is known about how CcpA can bind to such diverse *cre* sequences. Our hypothesis was that CcpA can bind with different affinities to *cre* boxes with particular sequence and/or position in relation to the transcription start site (TSS). In order to identify *cre* boxes with different affinities, CcpA expression was induced to three different levels using a tetracycline-dependent gene regulation system [312] and genome wide analysis of *cre* boxes was performed using transcriptome analyses combined with bioinformatics tools. High- and low-affinity *cre* boxes with subtle differences in their sequence and/or position in relation to the TSS are revealed.

Results

Tight regulation of CcpA production level

In order to enable very tight control of the CcpA expression level in *B. subtilis*, strain MP902 (Ptet-ccpA, Pxyl-tetR) was constructed. Strain MP902 carries the *ccpA* gene under control of the tetracycline-inducible promoter, Ptet, integrated in the native promoter locus and the Ptet repressor, tetR, under control of the xylose-inducible promoter, Pxyl, located on the plasmid pWH119 [312]. To show tight regulation of the CcpA expression level, the MP902 strain was grown in rich TY medium [217] supplemented with 0.2% xylose and a wide range of concentrations (0.1 – 20 nM) of Ptet inducer, anhydrotetracycline (ATc) which is a non-bacteriostatic tetracycline analog. As demonstrated in Fig. 1, the system allows obtaining several distinct expression levels of CcpA.

In order to test the influence of the different CcpA amounts in the cells on the CcpA regulon, three representative CcpA expression levels (hereafter referred to as low, medium and high) were chosen and the cultures were used for microarray experiments.



Figure 1. Tight regulation of the CcpA expression level in *B. subtilis* strain MP902 (*Ptet-ccpA*, *Pxyl-tetR*). Lane 1, wild type strain 168; lanes 2 - 11, MP902 grown in the presence of 0.2% xylose and increasing concentration of anhydrotetracycline (ATc): 0.1, 0.2, 04, 0.7, 1, 2, 4, 8, 10 and 20 nM, respectively; lane 12, 200 ng of purified CcpA. The representative graph of three reproducible experiments is shown.



Figure 2. CcpA expression levels in *B. subtilis* cultures used for DNA microarray experiments. (A) *upper panel*, CcpA detection using anti-CcpA antibody; *lower panel*, signal quantification with ImageJ. Four CcpA expression levels were achieved by growing *B. subtilis* strain MP902 (*Ptet-ccpA*, *Pxyl-tetR*) in absence (lanes 1, 3 and 5) and in the presence of 0.1, 2 and 20 nM ATc (lanes 2, 4 and 6), respectively. All cultures were grown in the presence of 0.2% xylose and 1% glucose. Shadows in the background of the picture indicate culture pairs used in microarray experiments (**B**) Ponceau S control membrane staining for protein load verification. Lane numbers correspond to lane numbers in panel A. The representative graphs of three reproducible experiments are shown.

For transcriptome analyses, the MP902 strain was grown in rich TY medium [217], since most likely it contains inducers for secondary regulators which could hide CCR in minimal medium, and the samples were taken during exponential growth because CCR is expected to be strongest during maximal cell growth. The strain was grown in the presence of 0.2% xylose to induce TetR expression and a high concentration of glucose (1%) in order to ensure sufficient production of CcpA cofactors like HPr-Ser-P, NADP, glucose-6-phosphate (G6P) or fructose-1,6-bisphosphate (FBP) and optimal activity of CcpA. The medium was supplemented with different concentrations of ATc, exerting different CcpA production levels in the different cultures: 0.1 nM ATc (low CcpA induction level), 2 nM ATc (medium CcpA induction level) and 20 nM ATc (high CcpA induction level). The control culture was grown without ATc leading to no or

only residual CcpA production. The CcpA production levels of the different MP902 cultures used for microarray experiments were assessed by Western blotting (Fig. 2).

Effect of different CcpA amounts on gene regulation

The transcriptional profiles of exponentially growing cells of *B. subtilis* MP902 (PtetccpA, Pxyl-tetR) grown in rich medium supplemented with glucose and xylose and expressing CcpA at low, medium and high levels (Fig. 2) due to the presence of different concentrations of the Ptet inducer, ATc, were compared to the transcriptional profile of MP902 cells grown in the corresponding medium but without ATc (no CcpA expression induction). Our first observation was that the more CcpA present in the cells the more genes were found to be significantly regulated (Table 1). Genes were considered to be regulated if they were at least 1.8 fold up- or downregulated. When CcpA was expressed at low, medium and high levels, 128, 343 and 408 genes were found to be differentially expressed, respectively. CcpA is known to act, depending on the *cre* box position in relation to the transcriptional start site (TSS), as a repressor or activator [313–315], but many more cases of repression than of activation are known [316]. Consistently, most of the regulated genes found in the microarray analyses with different CcpA induction levels were downregulated.

	Level of the CcpA expression								
	Low (0.1 nM ATc)	Medium (2 nM ATc)	High (20 nM ATc)						
N° of all genes	4106	4106	4106						
N° of regulated genes	128	343	408						
N° all predicted <i>cre</i> boxes	418	418	418						
N° cre boxes of operons ^a	161	161	161						
N° regulated operons with <i>cre</i> box ^a	30	58	67						

Table 1. Number of analyzed predicted *cre* boxes and regulated genes in response to different CcpA expression levels.

^a cre boxes within -500 and +100 nucleotides from start codon of first genes of operons.

The first genes of operons known from the literature to possess *cre* boxes (DataBase of Transcriptional Regulation in *B. subtilis*, DBTBS [317] and reviewed by Fujita [149]) and which were differentially expressed at least under the high CcpA production level were extracted from the microarray data. Since it is estimated that the CcpA regulon includes more members than known so far [149], as also shown recently [168], a prediction of putative *cre* boxes was performed. Using Genome2D [255] and a list of described *cre* boxes in the literature (reviewed by Fujita [149]) a Weight Matrix of *cre* boxes was generated: $T_1G_2A_3A_4A_5R_6C_7G_8Y_9T_{10}W_{11}W_{12}C_{13}A_{14}$. This *cre* motif was used to search the whole *B. subtilis* genome for putative *cre* boxes. As a result, 418 putative

				Gene e	expression fold cl	hange ^a	
	Gene	Strand	cre sequence	Low CcpA	Medium CcpA	High CcpA	cre to TSS
				induction	induction	induction	distance "
Higl	h affinity cre bo	oxes					
1	acoR	upper	TGAAAGCGCTTTAT	-4.8	-18.7	-21.7	-27
2	acsA	lower	TGAAAGCGTTACCA	-2.3	-2.5	-2.7	+44
3	acuA	upper	TGAAAACGCTTTAT	-2.2	-4.6	-7.7	-26
4	amyE	upper	TGTAAGCGTTAACA	-2.6	-10.7	-12.9	+4
5	bgIP	lower	TGAAAGCGTTGACA	-2.5	-4.7	-4.6	-36
6	сссА	lower	TGTAAGCGTATACA	-2.2	-1.8	-2.8	-29
7	citM	upper	TGTAAGCGGATTCA	-2.6	-2.7	-2.9	+46
8	cstA	lower	TGAATGCGGTTACA	-2.2	-1.9	-2.4	+32
9	dctP	upper	TGAAAACGCTATCA	-7.4	-12.3	-16.6	-14
10	glpF	upper	TGACACCGCTTTCA	-4.3	-21.9	-35.6	-27
11	gmuB	upper	TGTAAGCGTTTTAA	-3.0	-15.6	-35.8	+6
12	iolA-1	lower	TGAAAGCGTTTAAT	-1.8	-1.9	-2.1	+93
13	iolA-2 (iolB)	lower	TGAAAACGTTGTCA	-2.2	-2.5	-2.4	+2404
14	manR	upper	TGTAAACGGTTTCT	-2.0	-3.7	-8.0	0
15	msmX	lower	AGAAAGCGTTTACA	-2.0	-2.6	-3.1	-15
16	rbsR	upper	TGTAAACGGTTACA	-6.7	-15.2	-23.1	+6
17	rocG	lower	TTAAAGCGCTTACA	-2.6	-3.5	-3.1	+43
18	sacP	lower	CGAAAACGCTATCA	-2.1	-7.9	-8.1	-19
19	sucC	upper	TGAAAGCGCAGTCT	-2.0	-5.8	-3.4	0
20	treP	upper	TGAAAACGCTTGCA	-3.2	-13.0	-17.5	+372
21	ихаС	upper	TGAAAGCGTTATCA	-2.5	-3.7	-8.9	+1237
22	xsa	lower	TAAAAGCGCTTACA	-1.9	-1.8	-2.6	+7
23	xylA	upper	TGGAAGCGCAAACA	-2.4	-11.9	-11.1	+144
24	xynP	upper	TGAAAGCGCTTTTA	-4.0	-11.0	-17.9	+230
25	yisS	upper	AGAAAACGCTTTCT	-1.9	-3.5	-3.7	+74
26	yjmD	upper	TGAAAGCGGTTCAA	-2.2	-2.4	-8.8	ND
27	ykoM	upper	TGCAAGGGCTTTCA	-2.0	-3.4	-3.5	+150
28	yrpD	upper	TGATAGCGTTTTCT	-1.9	-8.0	-6.8	+127
29	ytkA	lower	TGTAAGCGTTTGCT	-1.9	-6.4	-6.8	ND
30	yulD	lower	TGAAAGCGCTATCT	-2.3	-4.9	-5.3	ND
31	yvfK	lower	TTAAAGCGCTTTCA	-4.0	-6.1	-10.6	+5
Low	affinity cre bo	xes					
1	abnA	lower	TGTAAGCGCTTTCT	-1.8	-1.7	-2.5	+85
2	асоА	lower	TGTAAGCGTTTGCT	-1.1	-1.0	-1.8	+462
3	citZ	lower	TGTAAGCATTTTCT	-1.5	-1.8	-2.1	+88
4	csbX	lower	TGAAAACGGTGCCA	-1.4	-2.8	-2.1	-401
5	cvdA	lower	TGAAATGAATCGTT	1.6	1.0	-2.7	-21
6	drm	lower	TGAAAACGGTTTAT	-1.3	-3.6	-3.2	-16
7	antR-1	upper	TGAAAGTGTTTGCA	-1.3	-2.8	-3.2	-41
8	gntR-2	upper	TGAAAGCGGTACCA	-1.3	-2.8	-3.2	+148
9	hutP	upper	TGAAACCGCTTCCA	-1.3	-1.9	-2.6	+209
10	lcfA	lower	TGAAAACGTTATCA	-1.4	-2.6	-2.6	+450
11	levD	lower	TGAAAACGCTTAAC	-1.5	-1.2	-2.2	-45
12	malA	upper	TGTAAACGTTATCA	-1.7	-2.0	-2.6	+6
13	mleN	lower	TGAAAGCGTTTTAG	-1.5	-3.5	-2.4	+21
14	msmR	upper	TGTAACCGCTTACT	-1.7	-4.2	-12.2	-28
15	mtlR	upper	TGAAAGCGTTTTAT	-1.5	-2.7	-2.5	-16
16	odhA	lower	TGGAAGCGTTTTTA	-1.6	-1.6 -6.6		+21
17	pbuG	upper	TGAAAACGTTTTTT	-1.1	-1.5	-1.9	+245
18	pta	lower	TGAAAGCGCTATAA	1.3	-3.2	-2.7	-55
19	resA	lower	TAAAAACGCTTTCT	-1.1	-1.9	-1.9	-72

Ta	ıb	le	2	. Н	igh	- a	and	lo	w-a	affi	nit	v	cre	bo	xes	of	the	firs	st	genes	of	01	peron	ıs.
			_																	A				

				Gene e				
	Gono	Strand		Low CcpA	Medium CcpA	High CcpA	<i>cre</i> to TSS distance ^b	
	Gene	Stranu	cre sequence	induction	induction	induction		
20	sigL	lower	GGAAAACGCTTTCA	-1.1	-3.1	-3.3	ND	
21	wprA	upper	TGTAAGCGGTATCT	-1.6	-5.5	-4.2	+43	
22	yckB	lower	TGAAAACGCGATCA	-1.4	-3.5	-2.1	-48	
23	ycsA	upper	AGAAAGCGCTTACG	-1.7	-6.0	-10.3	+67	
24	ydzA	lower	TGAAAACGTGTCCA	-1.3	-6.4	-6.4	+9	
25	yesL	upper	TGAAAGCGTTTTCC	-1.3	-1.6	-2.0	+125	
26	yfiG	upper	AGAAAGCGGTTACA	-1.6	-2.7	-4.6	+38	
27	yncC	upper	TGTAAACGGTTACA	-1.3	-2.4	-3.8	+84	
28	yojA	lower	TGAAAGCGCTTTCT	1.1	-1.5	-1.8	+57	
29	yqgW	upper	TGAAAACGCTATCG	-1.1	-4.5	-4.2	-39	
30	yqgY	upper	TGAAAATGTTTACA	-1.4	-5.4	-4.1	-38	
31	ysbA	lower	TGTAAGCGCTTTAT	1.0	-3.8	-7.6	ND	
32	ysfC	upper	TGAAAGCGTTTTTT	-1.5	-1.5	-2.0	+196	
33	yugN	lower	TGAATGCGCTTTCT	-1.7	-2.4	-2.3	ND	
34	yuxG	lower	TGAAAACGGATACA	-1.2	-4.2	-6.1	0	
35	yvdG	lower	TGTAACCGCTTTCT	-1.4	-1.5	-2.1	-28	
36	yxlH	upper	TTGAAACGCTTTCA	-1.4	-2.0	-2.3	+260	
37	yydK	upper	TGTAAGCGGTTTAT	-1.5	-3.2	-2.4	-21	
38	yyzE	lower	TGAAAGCGTAACCA	-1.2	-3.0	-2.1	0	
Acti	vating cre box	es						
1	ilvB	lower	TGAAAGCGTATACA	3.0	6.2	2.7	+88	
2	opuE	lower	TGAAAGCGTTTTAT	2.3	2.5	2.3	-103	
3	ycbP	lower	TGAAAGCGCTCGCT	2.5	3.3	2.6	+30	

Table 2. Continued.

^{*a*} In bold – genes significantly regulated (1.8 < fold < -1.8).

^b cre box distance to transcriptional start site calculated from the conserved G residue in the middle CpG of the cre box.

cre boxes were found: 200 in the upper and 218 in the lower strand (Table 1). Most of the predicted *cre* boxes may not be functional taking into account their large distance from the promoter. Therefore, cre boxes located within -500 and +100 nucleotides relative to the start codon of the first gene of an operon were extracted. There were 161 genes possessing cre boxes that met these criteria (Table 1). Since the search did not entirely cover the list of the known cre sites (for review see [149]), cre sites known from literature were also added to the analyzed cre sites. In total, there were 30, 58 and 67 operons possessing (known and predicted) cre sites and which were significantly downregulated under low, medium or high CcpA induction level, respectively. Three operons with known and predicted *cre* sites were activated under all these conditions (Table 2 and, in more detail, Appendix). The increase in amount of CcpA-regulated operons upon increasing amounts of CcpA indicates the presence of high-affinity cre boxes titrating away CcpA from the weaker *cre* boxes, which can trigger regulation of additional genes only when more functional CcpA is present in the cell. Therefore, the 31 cre boxes of the 30 operons (iol operon possesses two cre boxes: within iolA and *iolB*) repressed when CcpA was present in low amounts were designated as strong (high affinity to CcpA) and the other 38 cre sites of 37 operons (gntR possesses two cre sites),

which were repressed only in the presence of higher amounts of CcpA in the cells (medium and high CcpA induction levels), were designated as weak (low affinity to CcpA) (Table 2). The high- and low-affinity, and the three activating *cre* boxes (Table 2) were analyzed with respect to their sequence and their position relative to the TSS. The term 'affinity' in this study is contractual, as direct binding assays were not performed in this study, and it is used to denote hierarchy in CcpA target genes regulation. From other (mutational) studies it is however apparent that strong regulation commonly coincides with high affinity and vice versa, so the term affinity appears to be adequate to describe differences in strong or weak regulation.

Analysis of cre box affinities in relation to their sequence

In order to detect differences within the sequence between different *cre* boxes, which putatively determine the cre box affinity, separate Weight Matrices for high- and lowaffinity cre boxes that are responsible for gene repression were generated using Genome2D [255] (Fig. 3). The resulting consensus sequences are $T_1G_2A_3A_4A_5G_6C_7G_8C_9T_{10}T_{11}T_{12}C_{13}A_{14}$ and $T_1G_2A_3A_4A_5R_6C_7G_8Y_9T_{10}T_{11}T_{12}C_{13}W_{14}$, for strong and weak cre boxes, respectively. Cre boxes from both groups have very conserved G_2 , C_7 and G_8 residues, as in *cre* motifs proposed before [164–166]. Although the differences between high- and low-affinity *cre* are not very pronounced, the cre boxes with high affinity to CcpA seem to have a more conserved sequence around the middle CpG (conserved GCpGC instead of RCpGY) and at the C_{13} and A_{14} positions (Fig. 3). To analyze the differences in the cre sequences in more detail, the high- and low-affinity cre boxes were aligned. The alignments show that the strong cre boxes (Table 3) have, on average, more palindromic residues than the weak cre boxes (Table 4) particularly at the external residues and in the middle CpG.



Figure 3. Analysis of high- (A) and low-affinity (B) *cre* boxes responsible for gene repression. Weight Matrix (*upper panels*) and *cre* box consensus with Position Frequency Matrix (PFM) (*lower panels*). In the consensus sequence: R is A or G, Y is T or C.

Gene		Cre sequence													Score ^a	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14		
acoR	т	G	A	A	A	G	С	G	С	т	т	Т	A	т	5	
acsA	т	G	А	А	A	G	С	G	т	т	А	С	С	A	4	
acuA	т	G	A	A	A	A	С	G	С	т	Т	Т	A	т	4	
amyE	т	G	Т	А	A	G	С	G	Т	т	А	A	С	A	5	
bgIP	т	G	А	А	A	G	С	G	Т	т	G	A	С	A	4	
cccA	т	G	т	A	А	G	С	G	Т	А	Т	A	С	A	5	
citM	т	G	т	A	А	G	С	G	G	А	Т	Т	С	A	4	
cstA	т	G	А	A	т	G	С	G	G	т	т	A	С	A	4	
dctP	т	G	A	А	A	A	С	G	С	т	А	т	С	A	5	
glpF	т	G	A	С	A	С	С	G	С	т	Т	т	С	A	5	
manR	т	G	т	A	A	А	С	G	G	Т	Т	Т	С	т	4	
iolA-1	т	G	А	A	A	G	С	G	т	т	Т	A	A	т	3	
iolA-2	т	G	A	А	A	A	С	G	Т	Т	G	Т	С	A	6	
msmX	A	G	А	A	A	G	С	G	т	т	Т	A	С	A	4	
rbsR	т	G	Т	A	A	A	С	G	G	т	Т	A	С	A	6	
rocG	т	Т	А	A	A	G	С	G	С	Т	Т	A	С	A	5	
sacP	С	G	A	A	A	A	С	G	С	т	А	Т	С	A	4	
sucC	т	G	A	A	A	G	С	G	С	А	G	Т	С	Т	4	
treP	т	G	А	A	A	A	С	G	С	т	Т	G	С	A	5	
ихаС	т	G	A	A	A	G	С	G	т	т	A	Т	С	A	5	
xsa	Т	A	А	A	A	G	С	G	С	т	Т	A	С	А	5	
xylA	Т	G	G	А	A	G	С	G	С	А	А	A	С	A	4	
xynP	Т	G	A	A	A	G	С	G	С	Т	Т	Т	Т	A	6	
ydhM	Т	G	т	A	A	G	С	G	Т	т	Т	Т	A	A	4	
yisS	A	G	A	A	A	A	С	G	С	т	Т	Т	С	Т	6	
yjmD	Т	G	A	A	A	G	С	G	G	Т	Т	С	A	A	4	
ykoM	Т	G	С	A	A	G	G	G	С	Т	Т	Т	С	A	5	
yrpD	т	G	A	т	A	G	С	G	Т	Т	Т	Т	С	Т	4	
ytkA	т	G	Т	A	A	G	С	G	Т	Т	Т	G	С	Т	4	
yulD	т	G	А	A	A	G	С	G	С	Τ	Α	Т	С	Т	5	
yvfK	т	Т	А	А	A	G	С	G	С	Т	Т	Т	С	A	6	
palindrome % ^b	68	71	52	61	84	32	97	97	32	84	61	52	71	68	Average score	

Table 3. Analysis of *cre* boxes with apparent high affinity to CcpA. *Cre* boxes of repressed genes are aligned.

^{*a*} In bold – palindromic residues.

^b Score - a number of palindromic pairs.

^c Occurrence of palindromic residue at each position.

The *cre* sites of the genes that were activated in this study (*ilvB*, *opuE* and *ycbP*) were not included in the Weight Matrix generation nor *cre* alignment as *cre* boxes that are responsible for gene expression activation may need additional (upstream) sequences, as shown for instance for *ackA* [307]. Moreover, their sequence might putatively differ from the repressing *cre* sites, but the population of activating *cre* sites is too small to perform statistically significant analysis. However, taking into account the fact that all three genes that were activated in the microarray experiments in this study are regulated

already in the presence of low amounts of CcpA in the cell, the activating *cre* sites seem to take a higher place in the hierarchy of the genes regulated by CcpA. Additionally, the *cre* sites of *ilvB* and *ycbP* appear to match the consensus of the high-affinity *cre* boxes better compared to the consensus of low-affinity *cre* boxes (Table 2).

Gene	ene Cre sequence											Score ^a			
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	
abnA	т	G	т	A	A	G	С	G	С	Т	Т	т	С	т	5
acoA	т	G	т	A	A	G	С	G	т	т	Т	G	С	т	4
citZ	т	G	т	A	A	G	С	А	т	т	Т	т	С	т	3
csbX	т	G	А	A	A	А	С	G	G	т	G	С	С	A	4
cydA	Т	G	A	A	A	Т	G	A	A	Т	С	G	т	т	2
drm	Т	G	A	A	A	A	С	G	G	т	Т	Т	А	т	4
gntR-1	т	G	A	A	A	G	т	G	т	т	Т	G	С	A	4
gntR-2	Т	G	A	A	A	G	С	G	G	Т	A	С	С	A	4
hutP	т	G	A	A	A	С	С	G	С	Т	Т	С	С	A	5
lcfA	Т	G	A	А	A	A	С	G	т	Т	A	Т	С	A	6
levD	т	G	А	A	A	A	С	G	С	Т	Т	A	A	С	3
malA	Т	G	Т	A	A	A	С	G	т	Т	A	Т	С	A	5
mleN	т	G	A	A	A	G	С	G	т	Т	Т	Т	A	G	4
msmR	т	G	Т	A	A	С	С	G	С	Т	Т	A	С	Т	5
mtlR	т	G	A	A	A	G	С	G	т	т	Т	Т	А	т	4
odhA	Т	G	G	A	A	G	С	G	т	Т	Т	Т	Т	A	4
pbuG	Т	G	A	A	A	A	С	G	т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	5
pta	Т	G	A	A	A	G	С	G	С	Т	A	Т	A	A	5
resA	Т	A	A	A	A	A	С	G	С	Т	Т	Т	С	Т	4
sigL	G	G	A	A	A	A	С	G	С	Т	Т	Т	С	A	5
wprA	Т	G	Т	A	A	G	С	G	G	Т	A	Т	С	Т	3
yckB	Т	G	A	A	A	A	С	G	С	G	A	Т	С	A	4
ycsA	A	G	A	A	A	G	С	G	С	Т	Т	A	С	G	5
ydzA	Т	G	A	A	A	A	С	G	Т	G	Т	С	С	A	5
yesL	Т	G	A	A	A	G	С	G	Т	Т	Т	Т	С	С	4
yfiG	A	G	A	A	A	G	С	G	G	Т	Т	A	С	A	4
yncC	Т	G	Т	A	A	A	С	G	G	Т	Т	A	С	A	6
yojA	Т	G	A	A	A	G	С	G	С	Т	Т	Т	С	Т	6
yqgW	Т	G	A	A	A	A	С	G	С	Т	A	Т	С	G	4
yqgY	Т	G	A	A	A	A	Т	G	Т	Т	Т	A	С	A	5
ysbA	Т	G	Т	A	A	G	С	G	С	Т	Т	Т	A	Т	4
ysfC	Т	G	A	A	A	G	С	G	т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	4
yugN	Т	G	A	A	Т	G	С	G	С	Т	Т	Т	С	Т	5
yuxG	Т	G	A	A	A	A	С	G	G	A	Т	A	С	A	4
yvdG	Т	G	Т	A	A	С	С	G	С	Т	Т	Т	С	Т	5
yxlH	Т	Т	G	A	A	A	С	G	С	Т	Т	Т	С	A	4
yydK	Т	G	Т	A	A	G	С	G	G	Т	Т	Т	A	Т	3
yyzE	T 42	G	A	A	A	G	C	G	Т	A	A	C	C	A	3
palindrome %	43	80	40	/0	88	33	90	90	33	88	10	40	68	43	Average score = 4.3

Table 4. Analysis of cre boxes with apparent low affinity to CcpA. Cre boxes of repressed genes are aligned.

^{*a*} In bold – palindromic residues.

^b Score - a number of palindromic pairs.

^c Occurrence of palindromic residue at each position.

Analysis of the influence of relative cre box position on regulation

To find out whether the *cre* box position in relation to the promoter plays a role in determining the affinity to CcpA, the distance between *cre* boxes and the corresponding transcription start sites (TSS) was analyzed. The TSS of the regulated genes possessing a *cre* box were extracted from the literature or, when this information was lacking, predicted in this study (Table 2 and Appendix). The calculated *cre* to TSS distance (counting form the conserved G residue in the middle of the *cre* boxes to the TSS) was plotted against expression level fold change of the regulated genes under high levels of CcpA, separately for the genes with either high (Fig. 4A) and low affinity *cre* boxes (Fig. 4B). The majority of high affinity *cre* boxes are localized in close vicinity to the TSS (*cre*-TSS distance from 0 to +7, that is a TSS within the *cre* box) and around positions -27, -14 and +44. Repression of the genes with *cre* sites located with increment of approximately 10 - 11 nt (full helix turn) was significantly stronger, such as found for *cre* boxes of *acoR*, *glpF*, *dctP*, *gmuB*, *xynP*, *treP*, which are localized at positions -27, -27, -14, +6, +230, +372, respectively. Further downstream from the TSS, there are more low affinity *cre* boxes than high affinity ones.

Discussion

CcpA is a global regulator of carbon catabolism [297] controlling expression of genes by binding to cognate operator sequences, cre, which is characterized by a lowconserved consensus sequence [164–166]. Hence, it seems possible that CcpA binds some cre sites with higher affinity than others. So far, the global studies of CcpAdependent carbon catabolite repression were focused on identification of the members of the CcpA regulon [167, 168, 316], while the analysis of cre boxes in respect to their sequences, position and affinities in CcpA binding have been focused only on single examples [164, 165, 184, 301, 318]. A broader comparison of 32 cre boxes sequences and function was published by Miwa Y. et al. and it was deduced that a lower mismatching of *cre* sequences to the query sequence in the same direction as that of transcription of the target genes and a more palindromic sequence of cre boxes are desirable for their better function [165]. The goal of our study was to perform a genome-wide analysis of cre boxes in order to reveal cre boxes with high and low binding affinities by comparing the CcpA regulon under three distinct conditions, where different amounts of CcpA were present in the cells, and to identify cre features that determine this affinity.



Figure 4. Correlation between the *cre* to TSS distance to corresponding gene expression level (fold change). (A) High-affinity *cre* boxes, (B) low affinity *cre* boxes. Black circles - *cre* boxes of the genes for which TSSs were detected experimentally; grey circles - *cre* boxes of the genes for which TSSs were predicted in this study, underlined gene names – genes with *cre* sites known from literature. "0" on the X ax represents the TSS position, negative numbers – *cre* boxes upstream TSS, positive numbers – *cre* boxes downstream TSS. For clarity, the outliers were removed (for the full list of *cre*-TSS distance, see Appendix).

Using a tetracycline-dependent gene regulation system [312] we achieved a tightlycontrolled *ccpA* expression, leading to a wide range of CcpA amounts in the cells. *B. subtilis* cultures with relative low, medium or high amounts of CcpA in the cells were subjected to transcriptome analyses. The cells were grown in the presence of glucose to ensure sufficient production of low-molecular-weight modulators of CcpA activity (NADP, glucose-6-phosphate, fructose-1,6-bisphosphate). As expected, higher levels of CcpA protein lead to more genes significantly up- or downregulated. Most of the regulated genes, however, were affected indirectly, as they were lacking a *cre* site. Genes regulated indirectly in a CcpA-dependent manner (no *cre* or unfunctional *cre*) were already observed before and were proposed to be grouped in class II, next to class I that includes genes regulated by CcpA directly [178, 316, 319]. In our analysis, only genes belonging to class I were taken into account as the subject of this study was the nature of discriminating *cre* boxes. Many repressed genes are σ A-dependent and do not need another inducing protein for their expression. However, expression of some genes is regulated by more than one regulator. In those rare cases of multiple regulation, the full extent of regulation would not be observed in our transcriptome analysis, but this does not affect our analysis since we are looking at the relative strength of repression at different CcpA concentrations.

The search for putative cre boxes in the B. subtilis genome, using a cre generated from the cre boxes known from DBTBS motif [317]. $T_1G_2A_3A_4A_5R_6C_7G_8Y_9T_{10}W_{11}W_{12}C_{13}A_{14}$, resulted in 418 putative *cre* boxes. The majority of the predicted *cre* boxes were within ORFs far away from promoters and, although functional cre boxes located within coding sequences are present in the B. subtilis genome, a lot of the predicted cre sites seemed to be at a too large distance from the promoter to possibly be able to play a role in regulation of gene expression. Therefore, cre boxes located within -500 and +100 nucleotides from the first nucleotide of a start codon of the first genes of an operon were extracted. Also *cre* boxes triggering gene regulation that are known from the literature, but not predicted by our method, were included in our analysis. The genes differentially expressed at least at a high CcpA production level and possessing cre box(es) known from literature [149, 317] and/or predicted in this study were selected. Among the selected genes, 30 were downregulated and 3 were upregulated at a low CcpA induction level, while the other 37 genes were downregulated only when CcpA was produced at higher levels (medium and high CcpA induction levels). For all these genes, expression fold changes were calculated as ratios of the amounts of transcripts downstream of cre boxes as the microarray chip probes were synthesized upstream from them. Of the regulated first genes of operons possessing known and/or predicted *cre* box, chip probes of only kdgR and resA were upstream from kdgR-cre and second cre of resA (located 1709 bp downstream from TSS). Therefore, these cre boxes were not included in the sequence and position analysis of cre boxes. Since regulation depends on CcpA-cre binding, cre boxes causing significant regulation of downstream operons already when a small amount of CcpA is available are supposed to have a high affinity to CcpA and titrate CcpA away from lowaffinity cre sites, which are able to exert regulation of other operons only when more CcpA is present. Notably, over a dozen of known cre's fell out of our data set, because the corresponding genes were not significantly regulated in any of the three microarray experiments. Despite of the fact that they could be considered as very low-affinity sites, they were not included in the analysis as lack of the differential expression might have been a false negative result due to, e.g., high background signal, bad spot quality on the microarray slides, mRNA degradation, growth conditions, more complex regulation or yet unidentified factors. Moreover, it should be noted that division of *cre* boxes to two

affinity groups is a simplification necessary for this analysis. Very likely a gradient distribution of *cre* site affinities occurs in nature, which would be difficult to assess.

The detailed analysis of the sequences of high- and low-affinity *cre* boxes, led to a few interesting observations. The G_2 and middle C_7 and G_8 residues (Fig. 3), known as highly conserved residues [164–166] are conserved in both high- and low-affinity cre boxes. Interestingly, the high-affinity cre boxes have more conserved G₆ and C₉ surrounding the middle CpG and C_{13} (palindromic to the conserved G_2) and A_{14} (palindromic to T_1) and their sequences are significantly more palindromic overall. It was observed before that a more palindromic sequence of cre sites contributes to a better function [165]. The more palindromic nature of the high-affinity cre sites (in comparison to low-affinity cre sites) might create a more symmetric DNA conformation, preferred for CcpA binding. Although the bases at positions 4 and 11 are more often palindromic to each other in the weak *cre* boxes, this is obviously less important for the *cre* strength. In a previous study [164] it was shown that CcpA binds with similar affinities to different *cre* boxes, which explains well the role of CcpA as a global regulator. However, the three *cre* boxes tested in that work differ very little around the middle CpG and in their symmetry (palindromic sequence) and they did not differ at the residues corresponding to our C_{13} nor A_{14} .

Comparison of the high- and low-affinity *cre* boxes location in relation to the TSS also shows some trends. While the low-affinity *cre* sites can be located at any position from the TSS, the high-affinity *cre* sites cluster around the TSS, 14 and 27 base pairs upstream from TSS and 44 base pairs downstream from TSS. Simultaneously, the strongest repression by CcpA was observed for the genes with *cre* sites located around the TSS (*amyE*, *rbsR*, *gmuB*) and at positions -27 (*acoR*, *glpF*), -14 (*dctP*), +230 (*xynP*) and +372 (*treP*) base pairs from the TSS, which are separated by approximately 10 - 11-nt increments (corresponding with a full helical turn). This observation is in agreement with previous findings that activation or repression by CcpA binding to *cre* boxes is helix-face-dependent [184, 318]. Also in *Lactococcus lactis* the strongest repression by CcpA was shown to occur when the center of *cre* box was located -39, -26, -16, +5 and +15 from the TSS [320].

It was shown before that genes with *cre* boxes located further upstream from -35 sequences of the promoter are subject to activation by the CcpA complex as in case of *ackA* [184], *pta* [185] and *ilvB* [186, 187]. In our work, however, under the tested conditions, only three genes were activated: *ilvB*, *opuE* and *ycbP* (the two latter genes with *cre* sites predicted in this study). We did not observe activation of *ackA* in this study. This is probably due to the very low basal expression of CcpA from the TetR

repressed promoter that might be high enough for binding of CcpA to the *ackA cre* box and for full activation of the *ackA* promoter. In this case, a further increase of CcpA does not result in an additional increase of *ackA* expression. Surprisingly, *pta* was downregulated. However, in this study both test and control cultures were grown in medium supplemented with glucose. The mechanism of *pta* regulation in this case is thus different from low glucose-dependent CCA. Based on our criteria, the *cre* boxes of all three activated genes are of the high affinity type. Although the *ycbP cre* box appears to be downstream to the TSS (+30), both the *cre* box and the TSS in this case are not experimentally confirmed.

Some genes and operons possess multiple *cre* boxes. Since DNA microarray technology was used in this study to assess expression fold changes of genes and operons in the presence of different amounts of CcpA, we were not always able to judge whether the effect is due to one *cre* box (and which one) or more. In our set (Table 2) there were only two operons with two *cre* boxes (the first genes of these operons are: *iolA* and *gntR*). *gntR* was weakly regulated (low-affinity *cre* boxes), suggesting that the regulatory effects of the two *cre* boxes do not add up to exert strong regulation. In case of the *iolA* operon, each of the two *cre* boxes is located within another gene of the operon (*cre*-1 within *iolA* and *cre*-2 within the second gene of the operon, *iolB*). In this case, the regulatory effects of these *cre* boxes could be assessed independently. Based on the fold changes of *iolA* (*cre*-1) and *iolB* (*cre*-2), both *cre*-1 and *cre*-2 seem to be of high affinity. Multiple *cre* boxes could serve for fine tuning of CcpA-regulated genes and operons.

For the genes with *cre* boxes located close to the TSS and downstream, distinct repression mechanisms were proposed. Elongation blockage (roadblock) was shown for *xyl, ara* and *gnt* operons, as well as *sigL* and *acsA* [321–325]. Prevention of binding RNAP to the promoter sequence was demonstrated for the *acuABC* and *bglPH* operons possessing *cre* partially overlapping with the promoter region [169, 326]. Transcription inhibition by direct interaction of CcpA with the σ -subunit of RNAP already bound to the promoter was shown in case of the *amyE* gene and *xyl* operon [318]. The presence of a high-affinity *cre* box in close vicinity to the TSS shown in this study, suggests that repression by inhibition of RNAP binding is one of the most effective mechanism of negative regulation by CcpA.

In conclusion, we propose that besides the strongly conserved G_2 residue and the middle CpG, the residues G_6 and C_9 (surrounding the middle CpG), C_{13} and A_{14} and, to a certain extent a more palindromic sequence and a location of *cre* in close vicinity to the TSS, contribute to the high affinity of CcpA for certain *cre* boxes. This finding

contributes to further understanding how CcpA binding to *cre* boxes is modulated and how subregulons can be formed. However, not all the *cre* boxes behave strictly according to this rule, suggesting that *cre* affinity is possibly determined in an even more complicated way. The *cre* sequence and position may play a role simultaneously and/or more factors may be involved, for instance additional conserved sequences as shown for *ackA* [307] or sequences flanking *cre* sites as in case of *acsA* [325].

It will be interesting to use these predictions for other Gram-positive organisms employing CcpA, like other *Bacilli*, lactic acid bacteria, or pathogenic *Streptococci* and *Staphylococci*.

Materials and Methods

Bacterial strains and growth conditions

B. subtilis strain MP902 (*trpC2*, Ptet-ccpA, pWH119, Km^R, Em^R) was grown in rich TY medium [217] in the dark at 37°C with shaking. The medium was supplemented with 15 μ g/ml kanamycin, 2.5 μ g/ml erythromycin, 1% glucose, 0.2% xylose and anhydrotetracycline (ATc) at different concentrations. For inoculation, synchronized stocks were used. Synchronized stocks were prepared by growing the strain in TY medium with a corresponding composition as described before [167]. At OD₆₀₀ = 0.8, the cells were collected for determination of the CcpA production level with Western blot and for RNA isolation to be used for microarray analysis.

Construction of the MP902 strain

All primers used in this work are listed in Table 5. To replace the *ccpA* promoter by a tetracycline-inducible promoter at the natural locus on the chromosome, the integration vector pWH849 was constructed as follows. A *ccpA* fragment truncated at the 3' end was amplified from plasmid pWH1533 [327] using primers ccpAmut1 and Accout, restricted with *BsrGI* and *KpnI* and cloned into vector pWH618 [327]. The resulting vector was named pWH700 and contains the terminal 246 bases of *aroA*, the intergenic region between *aroA* and *ccpA* and 689 bases of *ccpA*. Next, a kanamycin resistance cassette was amplified from plasmid pDG792 [248], using primers KmkfwR and KmkbwR, and inserted in the intergenic region between *aroA* and *ccpA* via the restriction sites *BsrGI* and *AccI*. The resulting vector was named pWH800. The tetracycline-inducible promoter, *Ptet* was amplified from the plasmid pWH1935-2 [328] with primers tetPccpAfw and tetPccpAbw. The resulting PCR fragment was used as a

primer together with the primer Accout in order to fuse the tetracycline-inducible promoter Ptet with ccpA at the intergenic region between aroA and ccpA in an overlap PCR with pWH800 as a template. The resulting PCR fragment was restricted with BsrGI and KpnI and cloned into vector pWH800, resulting in pWH849. B. subtilis 168 [1] was transformed with pWH849, linearized with ScaI, to replace the ccpA promoter on the chromosome by the tet inducible promoter via double homologous recombination. Positive candidates were selected on TY plates with kanamycin and verified by PCR screening. The resulting strain was named MP901. Strain MP901 was transformed with pWH119 plasmid [312] carrying tetracycline repressor gene, tetR, under control of xylose-inducible promoter, Pxyl (Pxyl-tetR), resulting in MP902 strain.

Table 5. Primers used in this study.

Name	Sequence (5'- 3')
ccpAmut1	ATAATATCTAGAACCAAGTATACGTTTTCATC
Accout	ATAATAATAGGTACCGCTTCGAGTCCGGAATC
KmkfwR	ATAATAATATGTACAGATAAACCCAGCGAACCA
KmkbwR	AATAATAATAATAGTATACTATAAAACATCAGAGTATGGA
tetPccpAfw	ATAATAATATGTACAGCATGGTCCTAATTTTTGTT
tetPccpAbw	TACTGGATACACTTATCCTTCTGCAGGCATGCAAGCTA

Quantification of the CcpA production level with sodium dodecyl sulfate - polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and Western blotting

B. subtilis MP902 cells were grown in LB medium with 0.2% xylose and 0.1 to 20 nM ATc after one overnight culture with the respective xylose and ATc concentrations. In the mid log phase, 0.5 OD₆₀₀ equivalents of the cells were sedimented and resuspended in SBT buffer (50mM TrisHCl, 200mM NaCl, 10mM β -mercaptoethanol pH 7.5). After sonification, 0.05 OD₆₀₀ equivalents of the crude protein extracts and 200ng wild-type CcpA purified as described previously [327] were subjected to SDS-PAGE on a 10% polyacrylamide gel. Proteins were then transferred to a PVDF membrane by electroblotting. After blocking, the membrane was incubated with a 1:10,000 dilution of rabbit polyclonal anti-CcpA antibodies [329]. For detection of CcpA on an X-ray film the membrane was incubated with anti-rabbit horseradish peroxidase conjugate and a luminol containing reagent mixture from an ECL+ kit (GE Healthcare, Munich, Germany) according to manufacturer's instructions.

To analyze the CcpA production level in the cultures used for microarray experiments, the cells were collected at an optical density of $OD_{600} = 0.8$ (simultaneously with collection of the cells for total RNA isolation for microarray experiments). The signal

on Western blot was quantified using ImageJ gel analyzer (http://rsb.info.nih.gov/ij/). For gel loading verification, the control blots were stained with 0.1% Ponceau S dissolved in 5% acetic acid. Images of Ponceau S – stained membranes were obtained using GS-800 calibrated densitometer (Bio-Rad).

DNA microarray analysis

16 ml of a culture was harvested at optical density of $OD_{600} = 0.8$ by centrifugation at $8,000 \times g$ for 2 min. The pellet was rapidly frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until RNA isolation. DNA microarray experiments were performed in general as described before [167]. Total RNA was isolated using High Pure RNA Isolation Kit (Roche) according to the manufacturer's protocol. RNA quantity and quality were tested with a ND-1000 spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies) and an Agilent Bioanalyzer 2100 with RNA 6000 LabChips (Agilent Technologies Netherlands BV), respectively. The amino allyl modified cDNA was synthesized with the Superscript III Reverse Transcriptase kit (Invitrogen), purified with Cyscribe GFX purification kit (Amersham Biosciences), labeled with Cy3 and Cy5 dyes and purified again. The labeled cDNA was hybridized to oligonucleotide microarrays in Ambion Slidehyb #1 buffer (Ambion Europe Ltd). Slides were washed, dried by centrifugation and scanned with a GeneTac LS V confocal laser scanner (Genomic Solutions Ltd). Scans were analyzed with ArrayPro 4.5 (Media Cybernetics Inc., Silver Spring, Md., USA). The resulting expression levels were normalized with Micro-Prep [223] and subjected to a ttest using the Cyber-T tool [224]. All microarray experiments were performed in three biological

replicates. The complete microarray data is available at the GEO repository (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/) under accession number GSE35154.

The sequences of the *cre* boxes known from DBTBS [317] were used to generate a weight matrix in Genome2D [255]. The resulting Weight Matrix was fed into the Genome2D [255] to find the potential *cre* boxes in the whole genome of *B. subtilis*. In this search, a cut-off of 8.96 was used. The promoters (-35 and -10 boxes) and transcriptional start sites (TSS) were predicted using PePPER (Prediction of Prokaryote Promoter Elements and Regulons) tool [330] and sequence analysis. For the annotation, GenBank file NC000964.gbk last modified on the 19th of October 2011 available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/guide/ was used. The operons from DBTBS database [317] were confirmed with experimental evidence from microarray results obtained in this study (clustered up- or downregulation of genes belonging to one operon).

Acknowledgements

WH, RD and GS were supported by the BMBF in the Bacell SysMO programme. We thank Maarten Mols for critical reading of the manuscript.

CHAPTER 6

Summary and general discussion

Bacillus subtilis is a rod-shaped model Gram-positive bacterium that is commonly used as a "cell factory" for protein production, thanks to the ability to efficiently secrete proteins to the growth medium and other features like the absence of the endotoxin lipopolysaccharide and the possibility of growing in large fermentors. B. subtilis and its close relatives are used to produce more than half of the commercially available enzymes used for the detergent-, food- and beverage industries and in the development of pharmaceuticals [29-35]. Also for fundamental research, homologous and heterologous proteins are often produced using B. subtilis as a host. However, under conditions of protein production and secretion at high levels, intracellular- and cell envelope stress responses turn on, which may set limits to the production on a large scale. Over the years, the rational manipulation of the limiting factors that hamper different stages of protein production [27, 29, 65, 125] resulted in improvement of B. subtilis as a protein production host. This thesis contributes to a further understanding of the regulatory responses to overproduction of different classes of extracytosolic proteins, in particular membrane proteins, which can be used in further protein production improvement. Moreover, it adds to the fundamental knowledge on membrane stress responses and also on the *cis*-acting factors involved in carbon catabolite control by the global regulator CcpA. The major findings of this thesis are depicted in Fig. 1 (summarizing Chapter 2, 3 and 4) and Fig. 2 (summarizing Chapter 5).

For many years responses of B. subtilis cells to various stress factors like osmotic shock, heat shock, starvation, antibiotics, detergents, etc. have been studied. This resulted in a great collection of knowledge on stress response mechanisms involving extracytoplasmic function (ECF) sigma factors, two component systems (TCS), and many, commonly called, heat- and cold-shock genes. As B. subtilis is frequently used in industry and in fundamental research for production of proteins at large scale, cell physiology under extracellular protein overproduction conditions also gained great interest. Extracellular proteins are very interesting for the industry because of their relatively easy purification. It has been shown that (next to heat shock) high level production of secreted homologous and heterologous proteins induce a specific stress response in B. subtilis through a two-component signal transduction system called CssS-CssR [41–43]. Chapter 2 of this thesis provides an additional, extensive study of the responses on the transcriptional level of B. subtilis cells overproducing different classes of secretory proteins with endogenous and heterologous origin, involving proteins secreted to the medium, cell wall-attached proteins, as well as membrane proteins and lipoproteins inserted to the membrane via the Sec-translocation machinery

[8] (Fig. 1). By testing the effects of overproduction of several of these proteins, we could gain more knowledge on cellular responses to protein overproduction that potentially take place during fermentations on an industrial scale. The overproduced proteins were the membrane embedded putative multidrug transporter LmrA of Lactococcus lactis [190], the Lactobacillus pentosus membrane embedded xyloside transporter XylP [191], the *B. subtilis* manganese binding lipoprotein MntA [192], the putative zinc binding lipoprotein YcdH [193], the Escherichia coli periplasm located TEM-1 β-lactamase (Bla) [194], the *L. lactis* cell wall-associated protein Usp45 [195], and two B. subtilis secreted proteins: neutral protease NprE [196] and xylanase XynA [197]. Due to the fact that more than one protein of each localization class was chosen, effects specific for one protein and effects common to one localization class could be discriminated. Responses specific for proteins with a common localization as well as more general stress responses were observed. A future study of B. subtilis cells overproducing different classes (localization) of proteins, where within each class there would be both hetero- and homologous proteins, could give an even better insight on the B. subtilis cells responses to protein overproduction stress. It would enable to distinguish responses that are activated only when nonnative proteins are overproduced, which is particularly interesting for the industry. It has been shown that enhanced production of intracellular molecular chaperones like GroES/EL and DnaK/DnaJ/GrpE resulted in a better production, and subsequently better characterization, of antidigoxin and fibrin-specific single-chain antibody fragments [127, 128]. Consistently in our study, the most pronounced effect that was common to overproduction of most of the tested proteins was upregulation of genes encoding intracellular stress proteins. Those were class I heat-shock genes coding for molecular chaperons (GroES/EL), class III heat-shock genes coding for components of protease complexes (ClpXP, ClpEP, etc.) and other genes regulated by CtsR, a stress and heat-shock response regulator [107, 114]. Although in our study none of the genes encoding components involved in protein secretion, like for instance SecA, SecYEG, Ffh, signal peptidases, etc., were upregulated, it has been shown that overproduction of the extracellular molecular chaperone PrsA and one of the signal peptidases, SipT, improved heterologous protein production [127-129, 132, 138]. Also changes in protein targeting pathways and modifications in the secretory machine (SecA) improved secretion of heterologous proteins [145, 146]. This suggests that, although (in our study) the genes encoding secretion machinery components were not upregulated under artificially imposed overproduction of secretory proteins, manipulations of these components may also improve protein production and that there might be more yet unidentified potential bottlenecks in protein production.



Figure 1. Major findings described in Chapters 2, 3 and 4. Chapter 2, cellular stress responses activated under overproduction of proteins of different localization class: cell wall-attached, secreted, lipoproteins and membrane proteins. Common effects (Class I and III heat shock proteins activation) and effects specific for a few or only one class of overproduced proteins (CssRS, LiaRS, SigW regulon, *ykrL*) are indicated. **Chapter 3**, response to membrane stress caused by membrane overproduction, $\Delta\Psi$ dissipation, salt stress and phenol. Expression of *ykrL*, which encodes a putative membrane protease, is regulated by two repressors, Rok and a novel regulator YkrK. Under stress conditions, *ykrL* expression is derepressed by an unknown mechanism, YkrL is produced and probably recruited for degradation of malfunctioning membrane proteins. **Chapter 4**, elucidation of PrsA chaperone/foldase indispensability. The listed main findings led to conclusion that PrsA is vital for the cell survival as it is crucial for the stability of the penicillin binding proteins (PBPs) that are required for the lateral cell wall biosynthesis (PBP2a, PBP2b, PBP3 and PBP4). See text for details.

vital for the cell survival as it is crucial for the stability of the penicillin binding proteins (PBPs) that are required for the lateral cell wall biosynthesis (PBP2a, PBP2b, PBP3 and PBP4). See text for details. The other responses were activated only during overproduction of particular classes of proteins. Specifically, the *liaIHGFSR* operon was upregulated upon overproduction of cell wall-attached proteins. Overproduction of secreted and cell wall-attached proteins and lipoproteins, consistent with previous results [46, 47], led to induction of the CssRS response; and membrane protein overproduction resulted in specific upregulation of the *sigW*-regulon and *ykrL*. Hypothetically, deletion of these stress responses could improve production yield of proteins with particular destination in the cell. Zweers *et al.* showed before [65] that deletion of *sigW* has a positive effect on membrane protein production, which is in agreement with our observation that the SigW response was elevated under membrane protein overproduction of membrane proteins, which, taking into account that in our study the CssRS response was not activated in case of membrane protein overproduction, is rather surprising. Moreover, as shown in **chapter 3** of this thesis, CssRS seems not to be involved in membrane protein quality control. The explanation for improved membrane protein production in a $\Delta cssS$ strain could be the interdependence between CssRS and other stress response system(s), like for instance the SigW regulon (as noticed by Zweers *et al.* [65]).

The *ykrL* gene encodes a protein with high homology to the *E. coli* HtpX, a membrane embedded metalloprotease, which has been implied in membrane protein quality control [212]. The upregulation of ykrL in response to overproduction of membrane proteins suggests a similar role of YkrL in B. subtilis. While there is quite a lot of knowledge collected on the membrane quality control in E. coli, there is not much known about this mechanism in B. subtilis. The membrane stress response in B. subtilis was subject of this study (Chapter 3) and it was shown to be different from the membrane protein quality control mechanism in E. coli (Fig. 1). Firstly, htpX of E. coli is regulated by the CpxRA two-component system that regulates a number of genes involved in cell envelope stress, including degP (htrA) encoding a homologue of B. subtilis HtrA and HtrB [213]. B. subtilis htrA and htrB are regulated by the CssR regulator [47]. However, using DNA affinity chromatography, EMSA and flow cytometry analysis of cells carrying promoter-gfp fusions, we showed that ykrL of B. subtilis is regulated by two negative regulators, YkrK and Rok, and not by CssR. Consistently, no correlation between expression of the CssR target genes and ykrL under membrane protein overproduction was observed (Chapter 2). Moreover, in E. coli, next to HtpX, the membrane located ATP-dependent metalloprotease FtsH is also involved in the membrane protein stress response [60]. Also in the Gram-positive bacterium L. lactis, the homologous protein FtsH [331] is crucial for membrane protein biogenesis [332] and it was shown to be upregulated upon membrane protein overproduction stress [333]. Yet, *ftsH* was not upregulated in response to overproduction of membrane proteins in B. subtilis (Chapter 2). It was shown before that B. subtilis FtsH is involved in sporulation by degrading the sporulation control proteins SpoVM and Spo0E [61, 62], which suggests that FtsH plays a more specific role, rather than serving as a general protein quality control system.

As mentioned above, in **chapter 3** two transcriptional negative regulators that control ykrL expression were identified. These are YkrK, encoded by an uncharacterized gene adjacent to ykrL but divergently transcribed, and Rok, a known repressor of competence and of genes with extracytoplasmic function [235, 236]. As shown by EMSA experiments, YkrK binds to the ykrL promoter region with much higher affinity than Rok, which identifies YkrK as the major regulator of ykrL. This is also the first time that the function of the YkrK protein is described. Moreover, apart from minor local similarity to MerR family regulators, YkrK as a cytoplasmic transcriptional regulator is the

presence of a C-terminal highly hydrophobic α-helix domain. This could be a putative cell membrane-docking domain via which YkrK could be recruited to the cell membrane under stress conditions resulting in a very unusual derepression mechanism. It would be desired to test the subcellular localization of YkrK. Localization of YkrK at the cell membrane under membrane stress conditions and localization in the cytosol when no stress is applied would prove this hypothesis and describe YkrK as a novel regulator. Preliminary attempts to test the localization pattern of YkrK using GFP (green fluorescence protein) protein fusion (YkrK-GFP) have been taken. Indeed, under certain conditions, membrane localization of YkrK-GFP could be observed (data not shown). However, the results were not entirely consistent and aggregation of the YkrK-GFP fusion protein (or only GFP after YkrK-GFP degradation) could not be excluded, making indisputable conclusions impossible.

Not only the regulation of the membrane stress-responsive ykrL, but also the mechanism of this response was a subject of this thesis. The role of YkrL in membrane protein quality control was first proposed by Zweers et al. [189] purely based on the homology of YkrL to HtpX of E. coli. In chapter 2, upregulation of ykrL in response to overproduction of membrane proteins (but not proteins with other subcellular localization) was shown by means of DNA microarray analyses. Further experiments using other methods (Chapter 3) confirmed this effect and revealed other factors causing *ykrL* activation, namely dissipation of the transmembrane electrical potential $(\Delta \Psi)$, salt stress and phenol. Interestingly, dissipation of the chemical proton gradient (ΔpH), which together with the $\Delta \Psi$ constitutes the proton motive force (pmf), did not have any effect on *ykrL* expression. This suggests that the stress stimulus that is sensed and leads to induction of ykrL expression is the presence of misfolded proteins accumulating in the membrane as a consequence of artificial protein overproduction or of other factors disturbing membrane protein structure, rather than proton leakage as a result of a disturbed membrane integrity. The observed activation of PykrL by membrane potential dissipation can be explained by the requirement of the membrane potential for correct insertion of membrane proteins [226, 227].

Proteins secreted to the medium are particularly convenient for industrial production due to the easy isolation of the product from the growth medium. Many industrially important secreted proteins are produced using *B. subtilis* as a production host, e.g., subtilisin BPN' from *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens*, cutinase from *Fusarium solani pisi* [143, 144], human interleukin-3 (hIL-3) and interferon α (hIFN- α 2b) [133, 146], recombinant lipoxygenase from *Anabaena sp.* [129], α -amylase from *B*. *amyloliquefaciens* [138]. Years of research resulted in identifying genetic modifications that improved production of proteins by *B. subtilis* cells (for review see Chapter 1). Great impact on developing a better protein producer was achieved by deletion of six extracellular proteases encoded by *aprA*, *nprE*, *nprB*, *epr*, *bpf* and *mpr* [126]. On the other hand, enhanced production of the extracytoplasmic molecular chaperone, PrsA, was shown to facilitate production of an antidigoxin and fibrin-specific single-chain antibody fragment [127, 128], the above mentioned lipoxygenase [129] and α -amylase [130–132].

PrsA is a lipoprotein bound to the outer face of the cytoplasmic membrane in *B. subtilis* and other Gram-positive Firmicutes [130, 260]. *B. subtilis* PrsA exhibits activity of peptidyl-prolyl *cis-trans* isomerases (PPIase) catalyzing the isomerization of peptide bonds immediately preceding proline residues [257–259], but may also have a chaperone-like activity *in vivo* [260]. The first (unsuccessful) attempts to delete the *prsA* gene indicated that it is an essential cell component suggesting that it has an indispensable role in protein folding at the membrane/cell wall interface [130, 131].

The indispensability of PrsA is the subject of chapter 4 of this thesis (Fig. 1). The purpose of this study was to identify the essential cell components, the correct folding of which depends on PrsA, in order to establish why PrsA is a vital protein in B. subtilis. Our hypothesis was that PrsA catalyzes the folding of proteins involved in the biosynthesis of the cylindrical (lateral) cell wall and the determination of the rod shape. This hypothesis was supported by the fact that, in contrast to the rod-shaped B. subtilis, PrsA is dispensable in several cocci [261, 263] and by the fact that the enzyme domain of PrsA is located at the membrane/cell wall interface, suggesting that PrsA may assist the folding of membrane proteins possessing large functional domains on the outer surface of the membrane. Indeed, the results presented in chapter 4 (and [286]) confirmed this hypothesis. It appeared that the *prsA* gene could be deleted in a medium with high concentration of magnesium. This already was a direct indication that PrsA could be involved in cell wall biosynthesis as it was shown before that high concentrations of magnesium restores growth of mutants with defects in different aspects of cell wall synthesis ($\Delta ponA$, $\Delta mreB$, $\Delta mreC$, $\Delta mreD$) [274, 287]. It is assumed that magnesium could indirectly affect peptidoglycan structure or turnover [287], but the exact mechanism of this suppression is unknown. Other circumstantial evidence for PrsA being possibly involved in cell wall synthesis was the subcellular localization pattern of the PrsA-Myc protein (Chapter 4). The immunolocalization showed that PrsA is not randomly or homogenously distributed in the membrane but that it is rather localized in distinct spots organized in a helical pattern at the lateral cell membrane, as it was also observed for the cell-shape determining proteins, Mbl, MreB, MreBH, MreC and MreD, and some PBPs (PBP3, PBP4, PBP4a) [243, 267, 268, 270–272, 283]. Moreover, depletion and deletion of PrsA affected the morphology of *B. subtilis* cells, which again suggests involvement of PrsA in lateral cell wall biosynthesis. *In vitro* assays also showed that PrsA is crucial for stability of penicillin binding proteins that are involved in the lateral cell wall synthesis, i.e., PBP2a, PBP2b, PBP3 and PBP4 [286]. Interestingly, it has been shown before that *B. subtilis* MreB, MreC and MreD interact with penicillin binding proteins [243, 273]. Altogether, the results explain why PrsA is indispensable for the cell viability: the reason for the growth inhibition of PrsA-depleted or *prsA* mutant cells appears to be the insufficient amount of active PBPs formed and the subsequent cell wall synthesis defect.

The subject of **chapter 5** is the carbon catabolite control mechanism allowing *B. subtilis* cells to achieve maximal metabolic efficiency when more carbon sources are available in the environment. This mechanism is exerted through activation of expression of the genes encoding enzymes necessary for preferred carbon source utilization (carbon catabolite activation, CCA) and simultaneous repression of the genes involved in utilization of secondary carbon sources (carbon catabolite repression, CCR) and it ensures the optimal growth, which is also an important aspect of large fermentation for industrial purposes. The global regulator of carbon metabolism genes, CcpA, binds to operator sequences called *cre* (catabolite responsive elements) resulting in activation or repression of the genes depending on the position of the *cre* box in relation to the promoter [149, 164–166, 297]. The specific goal of the study described in **chapter 5** was to determine the hierarchy in which the CcpA target genes are regulated in the presence of a preferable carbon source for *B. subtilis*, glucose, to gain better knowledge on the nature of *cre* sites and the gene regulation mechanism by CcpA on the molecular level (Fig. 2).

From a list of *cre* boxes described in the literature (reviewed in [149]), a Weight Matrix of *cre* boxes was generated: $T_1G_2A_3A_4A_5R_6C_7G_8Y_9T_{10}W_{11}W_{12}C_{13}A_{14}$ (where R is G or A, Y is C or T and W is A or T). By extensive DNA microarray analysis of *B. subtilis* cells producing CcpA at different levels, *cre* sites to which CcpA exhibits higher or lower affinity were identified (**Chapter 5**). The thorough analysis of the sequences of high- and low-affinity *cre* boxes led to the observation that the high-affinity *cre* boxes, comparing to the low-affinity ones, are more conserved at the G₆ and C₉ residues around the middle CG and at the distal A_{14} residue (Fig. 2). Moreover, the overall sequence of the high-affinity *cre* boxes has more palindromic nature when compared to the low-affinity *cre* boxes is desired for their better function [165]. Although in a previous study [164] it was shown that CcpA binds with similar affinities to different

cre boxes, the *cre* boxes tested in that work differ very little within the residues that were shown by our analysis to play a particular role in the CcpA affinity. Moreover, analysis of the *cre* boxes position in relation to the transcriptional start site (TSS) revealed that high-affinity *cre* boxes cluster around the TSS and at positions located approximately 10 – 11-nucleotide increments (corresponding with a full helical DNA turn) from the TSS (Fig. 2), which is in agreement with a previous finding showing that activation or repression by CcpA binding to *cre* boxes is helix-face-dependent [184, 318]. The presence of high-affinity *cre* boxes in close vicinity to the TSS, suggests that repression by inhibition of RNA polymerase binding is one of the most effective mechanisms of negative regulation by CcpA. In addition, the more palindromic sequence of the high-affinity *cre* boxes might create a more symmetric DNA conformation, preferred for CcpA-dimer binding.



Figure 2. Simplified scheme representing main features of high- and low-affinity *cre* boxes (Chapter 5). Relative position and sequence motif of *cre* boxes revealing high (left panel) and low (right panel) affinity for CcpA binding and triggering strong and weak CcpA-dependent repression, respectively, are shown. High-affinity *cre* boxes localize at close vicinity to transcriptional start sites (TSS) and at positions ca. 10 - 11-nucleotide increments (full helical DNA turn) downstream (not depicted) and their overall sequence has more conserved and more palindromic nature. Low-affinity *cre* boxes occupy helix face-independent distal positions. CcpA binding to high-affinity *cre* boxes localized close to TSS, resulting in inhibition of RNA polymerase (RNAP) binding to the promoter, is probably more effective mechanism of repression than roadblock by binding to distal low-affinity *cre* boxes. See text for details.

In conclusion, this thesis revealed differential responses of *B. subtilis* to stress caused by overproduction of secretory proteins with different subcellular localization with a focus on membrane stress response, which can be potentially used in (further) improvement of *B. subtilis* as a protein production host for industry. A novel regulator, YkrK, involved in membrane stress response regulation was found and the mechanism of the executive gene (*ykrL*) regulation was described. Moreover, the reason for the indispensability of the PrsA lipoprotein catalyzing the post-translocational folding of exported proteins was studied. PrsA appeared to be crucial for the cell viability due to involvement in folding
of some PBPs and, consequently, in lateral cell wall biosynthesis. In addition, a better insight on the carbon catabolite control mechanism by the global regulator CcpA was obtained, in particular on the role of cognate *cre*-sites in determining the strength of regulation.

APPENDIX

Supplementary material to Chapter 5

Appendix. List of significantly regulated first genes of operons with predicted *cre* boxes within -500 and +100 nucleotides from start codon and *cre* boxes known from literature (DBTBS). Significant fold changes ($1.8 \le 1.8$) fold change ≤ -1.8) are shown in bold. *cre* box to transcriptional start site (TSS) distance is calculated from conserved G residue in the middle of *cre* box to TSS. For *cre* box affinity determination criteria see Chapter 5.

-					Fold change					
Gene name	Gene ID	Strand	cre box sequence	<i>cre</i> box score	Low CcpA	Medium CcpA	High CcpA	cre box affinity	<i>cre</i> to TSS distance ^a	TSS source reference ^t
					induction	induction	induction			
abnA	BSU28810	lower	TGTAAGCGCTTTCT	9,8	-1,78	-1,67	-2,49	low	85	[334]
acoA	BSU08060	lower	TGTAAGCGTTTGCT	DBTBS	-1,08	-1,03	-1,80	low	462	[335]
acoR	BSU08100	upper	TGAAAGCGCTTTAT	9.59/DBTBS	-4,78	-18,74	-21,75	high	-27	Р
acsA	BSU29680	lower	TGAAAGCGTTACCA	9.83/DBTBS	-2,28	-2,47	-2,68	high	44	[326]
acuA	BSU29690	upper	TGAAAACGCTTTAT	9.35/DBTBS	-2,17	-4,63	-7,70	high	-26	[326]
amyE	BSU03040	upper	TGTAAGCGTTAACA	9.72/DBTBS	-2,57	-10,73	-12,91	high	4	[174]
bgIP	BSU39270	lower	TGAAAGCGTTGACA	9.85/DBTBS	-2,48	-4,70	-4,56	high	-36	[336]
сссА	BSU25190	lower	TGTAAGCGTATACA	9,28	-2,21	-1,82	-2,78	high	-29	[309]
citM	BSU07610	upper	TGTAAGCGGATTCA	9.37/DBTBS	-2,57	-2,71	-2,93	high	46	[180]
citZ	BSU29140	lower	TGTAAGCATTTTCT	DBTBS	-1,53	-1,84	-2,12	low	88	[337]
csbX	BSU27760	lower	TGAAAACGGTGCCA	9,2	-1,42	-2,78	-2,07	low	-401	[338]
cstA	BSU28710	lower	TGAATGCGGTTACA	9,15	-2,20	-1,88	-2,44	high	32	Р
cydA	BSU38760	lower	TGAAATGAATCGTT	DBTBS	1,64	1,02	-2,70	low	-21	[339]
dctP	BSU04470	upper	TGAAAACGCTATCA	10.2/DBTBS	-7,41	-12,26	-16,64	high	-14	[182]
drm	BSU23500	lower	TGAAAACGGTTTAT	9.11/DBTBS	-1,35	-3,65	-3,17	low	-16	[175]
glpF	BSU09280	upper	TGACACCGCTTTCA	DBTBS	-4,32	-21,95	-35,58	high	-27	[340]
gmuB	BSU05810	upper	TGTAAGCGTTTTAA	9,67	-3,02	-15,57	-35,82	high	6	[341]
gntR-1	BSU40050	upper	TGAAAGTGTTTGCA	DBTBS	-1,31	-2,76	-3,21	low	-41	[342]
gntR-2	BSU40050	upper	TGAAAGCGGTACCA	DBTBS	-1,31	-2,76	-3,21	low	148	[342]
hutP	BSU39340	upper	TGAAACCGCTTCCA	DBTBS	-1,26	-1,87	-2,55	low	209	[343]
ilvB	BSU28310	lower	TGAAAGCGTATACA	DBTBS	3,02	6,20	2,71	high	88	[344]
iolA-1	BSU39760	lower	TGAAAGCGTTTAAT	9.26/DBTBS	-1,79	-1,87	-2,14	high	93	[345]
iolA-2 (iolB) ^c	BSU28310	lower	TGAAAACGTTGTCA	DBTBS	-2,21	-2,53	-2,40	high	2404	[345]
lcfA	BSU28560	lower	TGAAAACGTTATCA	DBTBS	-1.38	-2.62	-2.60	low	450	[346]
levD	BSU27070	lower	TGAAAACGCTTAAC	8.98/DBTBS	-1.53	-1.22	-2.20	low	-45	[347]
malA	BSU08180	upper	TGTAAACGTTATCA	9.74/DBTBS	-1.68	-2.01	-2.59	low	6	[348]
manR	BSU12000	upper	TGTAAACGGTTTCT	9.33	-2.04	-3.73	-7.97	high	0	P
mleN	BSU23560	lower	TGAAAGCGTTTTAG	9.35	-1.50	-3.46	-2.38	low	21	P
msmR	BSU30260	upper	TGTAACCGCTTACT	9.04	-1.72	-4.21	-12.16	low	-28	P
msmX	BSU38810	lower	AGAAAGCGTTTACA	9.59/DBTBS	-1.97	-2.60	-3.09	high	-15	P
mtlR	BSU04160	upper	TGAAAGCGTTTTAT	9,52	-1,46	-2,74	-2,48	low	-16	Р
odhA	BSU19370	lower	TGGAAGCGTTTTTA	9.43	-1.62	-6.57	-3.40	low	21	[349]
opuE	BSU06660	lower	TGAAAGCGTTTTAT	9.52	2.33	2.49	2.32	high	-103	[350]
pbuG	BSU06370	upper	TGAAAACGTTTTTT	9.2	-1.12	-1.54	-1.91	low	245	P
pta	BSU37660	lower	TGAAAGCGCTATAA	DBTBS	, 1.27	-3.22	-2.69	low	-55	[185]
rbsR	BSU35910	upper	TGTAAACGGTTACA	9.57/DBTBS	-6.67	-15.21	-23.05	high	6	[351]
resA	BSU23150	lower	TAAAAACGCTTTCT	DBTBS	-1,06	-1,90	-1,97	low	-72	[231]
rocG	BSU37790	lower	TTAAAGCGCTTACA	9,48	-2,60	-3,49	-3,11	high	43	[352]
sacP	BSU38050	lower	CGAAAACGCTATCA	9,3	-2,05	-7,91	-8,14	high	-19	[353]
siqL	BSU34200	lower	GGAAAACGCTTTCA	DBTBS	-1,13	-3,15	-3,28	low	ND	
sucC	BSU16090	upper	TGAAAGCGCAGTCT	8,98	-1,99	-5,84	-3,36	high	0	Р
treP	BSU07800	upper	TGAAAACGCTTGCA	DBTBS	-3,23	-13,02	-17,54	high	372	[354]
uxaC	BSU12300	upper	TGAAAGCGTTATCA	DBTBS	-2,55	-3,69	-8,88	high	1237	[355]
wprA	BSU10770	upper	TGTAAGCGGTATCT	9,3	-1,63	-5,47	-4,19	low	43	P
xsa	BSU28510	lower	TAAAAGCGCTTACA	9,43	-1,90	-1,80	-2,64	high	7	[334]
xylA	BSU17600	upper	TGGAAGCGCAAACA	DBTBS	-2,44	-11,93	-11,14	high	144	[356]
xynP	BSU17570	upper	TGAAAGCGCTTTTA	10/DBTBS	-3,98	-10,99	-17,87	high	230	[315]
ycbP	BSU02590	lower	TGAAAGCGCTCGCT	9,13	2,54	3,32	2,55	high	30	P
yckB	BSU03380	lower	TGAAAACGCGATCA	9,3	-1,41	-3,53	-2,10	low	-48	Р
vcsA	BSU04000	upper	AGAAAGCGCTTACG	8,98	-1,75	-6,02	-10,35	low	67	Р
ydzA	BSU04240	lower	TGAAAACGTGTCCA	9	-1,29	-6,39	-6,35	low	9	Р
yesL	BSU06940	upper	TGAAAGCGTTTTCC	9,98	-1,33	-1,59	-2,05	low	125	Р
yfiG	BSU08260	upper	AGAAAGCGGTTACA	9,41	-1,62	-2,69	-4,59	low	38	Р
yisS	BSU10850	upper	AGAAAACGCTTTCT	9,17	-1,90	-3,55	-3,67	high	74	Р
yjmD	BSU12330	upper	TGAAAGCGGTTCAA	9,35	-2,18	-2,36	-8,76	high	ND	

Gene name	Gene ID	Strand	<i>cre</i> box sequence	<i>cre</i> box score		Fold change				
					Low CcpA induction	Medium CcpA induction	High CcpA induction	<i>cre</i> box affinity	cre to TSS distance ^a	TSS source reference ^b
ykoM	BSU13340	upper	TGCAAGGGCTTTCA	9,17	-2,04	-3,39	-3,49	high	150	Р
yncC	BSU17630	upper	TGTAAACGGTTACA	9,57	-1,30	-2,44	-3,79	low	84	Р
уојА	BSU19520	lower	TGAAAGCGCTTTCT	10,2	1,06	-1,50	-1,81	low	57	Р
yqgW	BSU24800	upper	TGAAAACGCTATCG	9,48	-1,11	-4,47	-4,18	low	-39	Р
yqgY	BSU24780	upper	TGAAAATGTTTACA	9,15	-1,39	-5,44	-4,06	low	-38	Р
yrpD	BSU26820	upper	TGATAGCGTTTTCT	9,11	-1,90	-8,00	-6,80	high	127	Р
ysbA	BSU28910	lower	TGTAAGCGCTTTAT	9,24	1,02	-3,83	-7,57	low	ND	
ysfC	BSU28680	upper	TGAAAGCGTTTTTT	9,43	-1,47	-1,49	-2,01	low	196	Р
ytkA	BSU30660	lower	TGTAAGCGTTTGCT	9,24	-1,86	-6,42	-6,83	high	ND	
yugN	BSU31330	lower	TGAATGCGCTTTCT	9,15	-1,66	-2,43	-2,30	low	ND	
yulD	BSU31190	lower	TGAAAGCGCTATCT	9,89	-2,27	-4,85	-5,31	high	ND	
yuxG	BSU31220	lower	TGAAAACGGATACA	9,22	-1,21	-4,17	-6,12	low	0	Р
yvdG	BSU34610	lower	TGTAACCGCTTTCT	9,3	-1,37	-1,53	-2,05	low	-28	Р
yvfK	BSU34160	lower	TTAAAGCGCTTTCA	9,74	-3,99	-6,14	-10,63	high	5	Р
yxlH	BSU38640	upper	TTGAAACGCTTTCA	9	-1,41	-1,96	-2,33	low	260	Р
yydK	BSU40130	upper	TGTAAGCGGTTTAT	9	-1,47	-3,25	-2,40	low	-21	Р
yyzE	BSU40120	lower	TGAAAGCGTAACCA	9,13	-1,17	-2,97	-2,13	low	0	Р

Appendix. Continued.

^a ND, not determined. ^b P, prediction from this study. ^c *iolA cre-2* is located within *iolB*, the second gene of the *iol* operon. Fold changes of *iolB* are given.

REFERENCES

- 1. Kunst F, Ogasawara N, Moszer I, Albertini AM, Alloni G, Azevedo V, Bertero MG, Bessieres P, Bolotin A, Borchert S, *et al.*: The complete genome sequence of the Gram-positive bacterium *Bacillus subtilis*. *Nature* 1997, **390**:249–256.
- Barbe V, Cruveiller S, Kunst F, Lenoble P, Meurice G, Sekowska A, Vallenet D, Wang T, Moszer I, Médigue C, Danchin A: From a consortium sequence to a unified sequence: the *Bacillus subtilis* 168 reference genome a decade later. *Microbiology* 2009, 155:1758–1775.
- Kobayashi K, Ehrlich SD, Albertini A, Amati G, Andersen KK, Arnaud M, Asai K, Ashikaga S, Aymerich S, Bessieres P, *et al.*: Essential *Bacillus subtilis* genes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2003, 100: 4678-4683
- 4. Madigan MT, Martinko JM, Parker J: **Brock Biology of Microorganisms**. 9th edition. Prentice Hall College Div; 2000.
- 5. Higgins D, Dworkin J: Recent progress in *Bacillus subtilis* sporulation. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* 2012, **36**:131–148.
- 6. Setlow P: Spores of *Bacillus subtilis*: their resistance to and killing by radiation, heat and chemicals. *J Appl Microbiol* 2006, **101**:514–525.
- 7. Sinderen D, Luttinger A, Kong L, Dubnau D, Venema G, Hamoen L: *comK* encodes the competence transcription factor, the key regulatory protein for competence development in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Mol Microbiol* 1995, **15**:455–462.
- Tjalsma H, Antelmann H, Jongbloed JD, Braun PG, Darmon E, Dorenbos R, Dubois JY, Westers H, Zanen G, Quax WJ, et al.: Proteomics of protein secretion by Bacillus subtilis: separating the "secrets" of the secretome. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 2004, 68: 207-233.
- 9. Staroń A, Finkeisen DE, Mascher T: **Peptide antibiotic sensing and detoxification** modules of *Bacillus subtilis*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2011, **55**:515–525.
- Wolf D, Kalamorz F, Wecke T, Juszczak A, Mäder U, Homuth G, Jordan S, Kirstein J, Hoppert M, Voigt B, *et al.*: In-depth profiling of the LiaR response of *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 2010, 192:4680–4693.
- 11. Jordan S, Hutchings MI, Mascher T: Cell envelope stress response in Gram-positive bacteria. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* 2008, **32**:107–146.
- 12. Stanley NR, Palmer T, Berks BC: The twin arginine consensus motif of Tat signal peptides is involved in Sec-independent protein targeting in *Escherichia coli*. *J Biol Chem* 2000, **275**:11591–11596.
- 13. Berks BC: A common export pathway for proteins binding complex redox cofactors? *Mol Microbiol* 1996, **22**:393–404.
- Chaddock AM, Mant A, Karnauchov I, Brink S, Herrmann RG, Klösgen RB, Robinson C: A new type of signal peptide: central role of a twin-arginine motif in transfer signals for the delta pH-dependent thylakoidal protein translocase. *EMBO J* 1995, 14:2715–2722.
- 15. Robinson C, Bolhuis A: Tat-dependent protein targeting in prokaryotes and chloroplasts. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2004, 1694:135–147.

- 16. Santini CL, Ize B, Chanal A, Müller M, Giordano G, Wu LF: A novel sec-independent periplasmic protein translocation pathway in *Escherichia coli*. *EMBO J* 1998, 17:101–112.
- 17. Cline K, Ettinger WF, Theg SM: Protein-specific energy requirements for protein transport across or into thylakoid membranes. Two lumenal proteins are transported in the absence of ATP. *J Biol Chem* 1992, **267**:2688–2696.
- 18. Eijlander RT, Kolbusz MA, Berendsen EM, Kuipers OP: Effects of altered TatC proteins on protein secretion efficiency via the twin-arginine translocation pathway of *Bacillus subtilis*. *Microbiology* 2009, **155**:1776–1785.
- 19. Jongbloed JDH, Grieger U, Antelmann H, Hecker M, Nijland R, Bron S, van Dijl JM: **Two minimal Tat translocases in** *Bacillus*. *Mol Microbiol* 2004, **54**:1319–1325.
- 20. Jongbloed JD, Martin U, Antelmann H, Hecker M, Tjalsma H, Venema G, Bron S, van Dijl JM, Müller J: **TatC is a specificity determinant for protein secretion via the twin-arginine translocation pathway**. *J Biol Chem* 2000, **275**:41350–41357.
- 21. Barnett JP, van der Ploeg R, Eijlander RT, Nenninger A, Mendel S, Rozeboom R, Kuipers OP, van Dijl JM, Robinson C: The twin-arginine translocation (Tat) systems from *Bacillus subtilis* display a conserved mode of complex organization and similar substrate recognition requirements. *FEBS J* 2009, **276**:232–243.
- Yang C, Song C, Freudl R, Mulchandani A, Qiao C: Twin-arginine translocation of methyl parathion hydrolase in *Bacillus subtilis*. Environ Sci Technol 2010, 44:7607– 7612.
- 23. Young R, Bläsi U: Holins: form and function in bacteriophage lysis. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* 1995, **17**:191–205.
- 24. Blocker A, Komoriya K, Aizawa S-I: **Type III secretion systems and bacterial flagella: insights into their function from structural similarities**. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2003, **100**:3027–3030.
- 25. Hueck CJ: **Type III protein secretion systems in bacterial pathogens of animals and plants**. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 1998, **62**:379–433.
- 26. Namba K, Yamashita I, Vonderviszt F: Structure of the core and central channel of bacterial flagella. *Nature* 1989, **342**:648–654.
- 27. Tjalsma H, Bolhuis A, Jongbloed JD, Bron S, van Dijl JM: Signal peptide-dependent protein transport in *Bacillus subtilis*: a genome-based survey of the secretome. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 2000, 64:515–47.
- Redwan EM, Matar SM, El-Aziz GA, Serour EA: Synthesis of the human insulin gene: protein expression, scaling up and bioactivity. *Prep Biochem Biotechnol* 2007, 38:24–39.
- 29. Westers L, Westers H, Quax WJ: *Bacillus subtilis* as cell factory for pharmaceutical proteins: a biotechnological approach to optimize the host organism. *BBA-Mol Cell Res* 2004, **1694**:299–310.
- Harwood CR, Cranenburgh R: *Bacillus* protein secretion: an unfolding story. *Trends Microbiol* 2008, 16:73–79.
- 31. Olmos-Soto J, Contreras-Flores R: Genetic system constructed to overproduce and secrete proinsulin in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Appl Microbiol Biot* 2003, **62**:369–373.

- Lam KH., Chow K., Wong WK.: Construction of an efficient Bacillus subtilis system for extracellular production of heterologous proteins. J Biotechnol 1998, 63:167– 177.
- 33. Palva I, Lehtovaara P, Kääriäinen L, Sibakov M, Cantell K, Schein CH, Kashiwagi K, Weissmann C: Secretion of interferon by *Bacillus subtilis*. *Gene* 1983, **22**:229–235.
- 34. Jones B, Quax WJ: Alzheimer tau test and detergent cellulase: Made by genetic engineering (No. 9 in a series of articles to promote a better understanding of the use of genetic engineering). *J Biotechnol* 1998, 66:229–233.
- 35. Baek JO, Seo JW, Kwon O, Park SM, Kim CH, Kim IH: Production of human papillomavirus type 33 L1 major capsid protein and virus-like particles from *Bacillus subtilis* to develop a prophylactic vaccine against cervical cancer. *Enzyme Microb Tech* 2012, **50**:173–180.
- Krell T, Lacal J, Busch A, Silva-Jiménez H, Guazzaroni M-E, Ramos JL: Bacterial sensor kinases: diversity in the recognition of environmental signals. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 2010, 64:539–559.
- 37. Gao R, Stock AM: Biological insights from structures of two-component proteins. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 2009, **63**:133–154.
- 38. Mascher T, Helmann JD, Unden G: Stimulus perception in bacterial signaltransducing histidine kinases. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 2006, **70**:910–938.
- 39. Lonetto MA, Brown KL, Rudd KE, Buttner MJ: Analysis of the *Streptomyces* coelicolor sigE gene reveals the existence of a subfamily of eubacterial RNA polymerase sigma factors involved in the regulation of extracytoplasmic functions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1994, **91**:7573–7577.
- 40. Helmann JD: The extracytoplasmic function (ECF) sigma factors. Adv Microb Physiol 2002, 46: 47-110.
- 41. Noone D, Howell A, Devine KM: Expression of *ykdA*, encoding a *Bacillus subtilis* homologue of HtrA, is heat shock inducible and negatively autoregulated. *J Bacteriol* 2000, **182**:1592–1599.
- 42. Noone D, Howell A, Collery R, Devine KM: YkdA and YvtA, HtrA-like serine proteases in *Bacillus subtilis*, engage in negative autoregulation and reciprocal cross-regulation of *ykdA* and *yvtA* gene expression. *J Bacteriol* 2001, 183: 654-63.
- Westers H, Westers L, Darmon E, van Dijl JM, Quax WJ, Zanen G: The CssRS twocomponent regulatory system controls a general secretion stress response in *Bacillus subtilis*. Febs J 2006, 273:3816–3827.
- 44. Hyyrylainen HL, Sarvas M, Kontinen VP: Transcriptome analysis of the secretion stress response of *Bacillus subtilis*. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 2005, **67**:389-396.
- Noone D, Botella E, Butler C, Hansen A, Jende I, Devine KM: Signal perception by the secretion stress responsive CssRS two-component system in *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 2012, 194:1800-1814.
- Trip H, van der Veek PJ, Renniers TC, Meima R, Sagt CM, Mohrmann L, Kuipers OP: A novel screening system for secretion of heterologous proteins in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Microb Biotechnol* 2011, 4: 673-682.
- 47. Darmon E, Noone D, Masson A, Bron S, Kuipers OP, Devine KM, van Dijl JM: A novel class of heat and secretion stress-responsive genes is controlled by the

autoregulated CssRS two-component system of *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 2002, **184**:5661–5671.

- Antelmann H, Darmon E, Noone D, Veening J, Westers H, Bron S, Kuipers OP, Devine KM, Hecker M, van Dijl JM: The extracellular proteome of *Bacillus subtilis* under secretion stress conditions. *Mol Microbiol* 2003, 49:143–156.
- 49. Lulko AT, Veening J-W, Buist G, Smits WK, Blom EJ, Beekman AC, Bron S, Kuipers OP: Production and secretion stress caused by overexpression of heterologous α-amylase leads to inhibition of sporulation and a prolonged motile phase in *Bacillus subtilis*. Appl Environ Microbiol 2007, **73**:5354–5362.
- 50. Kashyap DR, Wang M, Liu L-H, Boons G-J, Gupta D, Dziarski R: Peptidoglycan Recognition Proteins kill bacteria by inducing suicide through protein-sensing twocomponent systems. *Nat Med* 2011, **17**:676–683.
- Priest FG: Extracellular enzyme synthesis in the genus *Bacillus*. *Bacteriol Rev* 1977, 41:711–753.
- 52. Raivio TL, Silhavy TJ: The sigmaE and Cpx regulatory pathways: overlapping but distinct envelope stress responses. *Curr Opin Microbiol* 1999, **2**:159–165.
- 53. Ruiz N, Silhavy TJ: Sensing external stress: watchdogs of the *Escherichia coli* cell envelope. *Curr Opin Microbiol* 2005, 8:122–126.
- 54. Hyyryläinen H-L, Bolhuis A, Darmon E, Muukkonen L, Koski P, Vitikainen M, Sarvas M, Prágai Z, Bron S, van Dijl JM, Kontinen VP: A novel two-component regulatory system in *Bacillus subtilis* for the survival of severe secretion stress. *Mol Microbiol* 2001, 41:1159–1172.
- 55. Dorel C, Lejeune P, Rodrigue A: The Cpx system of *Escherichia coli*, a strategic signaling pathway for confronting adverse conditions and for settling biofilm communities? *Res Microbiol* 2006, **157**:306–314.
- 56. Danese PN, Snyder WB, Cosma CL, Davis LJ, Silhavy TJ: The Cpx two-component signal transduction pathway of *Escherichia coli* regulates transcription of the gene specifying the stress-inducible periplasmic protease, DegP. *Genes Dev* 1995, 9:387– 398.
- 57. Raivio TL, Popkin DL, Silhavy TJ: The Cpx envelope stress response is controlled by amplification and feedback inhibition. *J Bacteriol* 1999, **181**:5263–5272.
- De Wulf P, Kwon O, Lin ECC: The CpxRA signal transduction system of Escherichia coli: growth-related autoactivation and control of unanticipated target operons. J Bacteriol 1999, 181:6772–6778.
- Price NL, Raivio TL: Characterization of the Cpx regulon in *Escherichia coli* strain MC4100. J Bacteriol 2009, 191:1798–1815.
- 60. Akiyama Y: Quality control of cytoplasmic membrane proteins in *Escherichia coli*. *J Biochem* 2009, **146**:449–454.
- 61. Le ATT, Schumann W: The Spo0E phosphatase of *Bacillus subtilis* is a substrate of the FtsH metalloprotease. *Microbiology* 2009, 155:1122 –1132.
- 62. Cutting S, Anderson M, Lysenko E, Page A, Tomoyasu T, Tatematsu K, Tatsuta T, Kroos L, Ogura T: SpoVM, a small protein essential to development in *Bacillus subtilis*, interacts with the ATP-dependent protease FtsH. J Bacteriol 1997, 179:5534–5542.

- 63. Deuerling E, Mogk A, Richter C, Purucker M, Schumann W: The ftsH gene of *Bacillus subtilis* is involved in major cellular processes such as sporulation, stress adaptation and secretion. *Mol Microbiol* 1997, 23:921-933.
- 64. Lysenko E, Ogura T, Cutting SM: Characterization of the *ftsH* gene of *Bacillus* subtilis. *Microbiology* 1997, **143**:971–978.
- 65. Zweers JC, Wiegert T, van Dijl JM: Stress-responsive systems set specific limits to the overproduction of membrane proteins in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2009, **75**:7356–7364.
- 66. Jordan S, Junker A, Helmann JD, Mascher T: Regulation of LiaRS-dependent gene expression in *Bacillus subtilis*: identification of inhibitor proteins, regulator binding sites, and target genes of a conserved cell envelope stress-sensing two-component system. *J Bacteriol* 2006, **188**:5153–5166.
- 67. Mascher T, Margulis NG, Wang T, Ye RW, Helmann JD: Cell wall stress responses in *Bacillus subtilis*: the regulatory network of the bacitracin stimulon. *Mol Microbiol* 2003, **50**:1591–1604.
- Ohki R, Giyanto, Tateno K, Masuyama W, Moriya S, Kobayashi K, Ogasawara N: The BceRS two-component regulatory system induces expression of the bacitracin transporter, BceAB, in *Bacillus subtilis*. Mol Microbiol 2003, 49:1135–1144.
- 69. Pietiainen M, Gardemeister M, Mecklin M, Leskela S, Sarvas M, Kontinen VP: Cationic antimicrobial peptides elicit a complex stress response in *Bacillus subtilis* that involves ECF-type sigma factors and two-component signal transduction systems. *Microbiology* 2005, **151**:1577–1592.
- Luo Y, Asai K, Sadaie Y, Helmann JD: Transcriptomic and phenotypic characterization of a *Bacillus subtilis* strain without extracytoplasmic function σ factors. J Bacteriol 2010, 192:5736–5745.
- Butcher BG, Helmann JD: Identification of *Bacillus subtilis* σW-dependent genes that provide intrinsic resistance to antimicrobial compounds produced by *Bacilli*. *Mol Microbiol* 2006, 60:765–782.
- Wiegert T., Homuth G., Versteeg S., Schumann W.: Alkaline shock induces the Bacillus subtilis σW regulon. Mol Microbiol 2001, 41:59–71.
- Wecke T, Zühlke D, Mäder U, Jordan S, Voigt B, Pelzer S, Labischinski H, Homuth G, Hecker M, Mascher T: Daptomycin versus friulimicin B: in-depth profiling of Bacillus subtilis cell envelope stress responses. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2009, 53:1619–1623.
- Mascher T, Hachmann A-B, Helmann JD: Regulatory overlap and functional redundancy among *Bacillus subtilis* extracytoplasmic function sigma factors. J Bacteriol 2007, 189:6919–6927.
- 75. Eiamphungporn W, Helmann JD: **The** *Bacillus* subtilis σM regulon and its contribution to cell envelope stress responses. *Mol Microbiol* 2008, 67:830–848.
- 76. Huang X, Helmann JD: Identification of target promoters for the *Bacillus subtilis* σX factor using a consensus-directed search. *J Mol Biol* 1998, **279**:165–173.
- Kingston AW, Subramanian C, Rock CO, Helmann JD: A σW-dependent stress response in *Bacillus subtilis* that reduces membrane fluidity. *Mol Microbiol* 2011, 81:69–79.

- 78. Cao M, Wang T, Ye R, Helmann JD: Antibiotics that inhibit cell wall biosynthesis induce expression of the Bacillus subtilis σW and σM regulons. *Mol Microbiol* 2002, **45**:1267–1276.
- Schöbel S, Zellmeier S, Schumann W, Wiegert T: The Bacillus subtilis σW anti-sigma factor RsiW is degraded by intramembrane proteolysis through YluC. Mol Microbiol 2004, 52:1091–1105.
- Yoshimura M, Asai K, Sadaie Y, Yoshikawa H: Interaction of *Bacillus subtilis* extracytoplasmic function (ECF) sigma factors with the N-terminal regions of their potential anti-sigma factors. *Microbiology* 2004, 150:591–599.
- 81. Heinrich J, Wiegert T: Regulated intramembrane proteolysis in the control of extracytoplasmic function sigma factors. *Res Microbiol* 2009, 160:696–703.
- 82. Ellermeier CD, Losick R: Evidence for a novel protease governing regulated intramembrane proteolysis and resistance to antimicrobial peptides in *Bacillus* subtilis. Genes Dev 2006, **20**:1911–1922.
- Zellmeier S, Schumann W, Wiegert T: Involvement of Clp protease activity in modulating the *Bacillus subtilis* σW stress response. *Mol Microbiol* 2006, 61:1569– 1582.
- Horsburgh MJ, Moir A: σM, an ECF RNA polymerase sigma factor of Bacillus subtilis 168, is essential for growth and survival in high concentrations of salt. Mol Microbiol 1999, 32:41-50.
- 85. Thackray PD, Moir A: SigM, an extracytoplasmic function sigma factor of *Bacillus* subtilis, is activated in response to cell wall antibiotics, ethanol, heat, acid, and superoxide stress. J Bacteriol 2003, 185:3491–3498.
- 86. Cao M, Helmann JD: The *Bacillus subtilis* extracytoplasmic-function σX factor regulates modification of the cell envelope and resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides. *J Bacteriol* 2004, **186**:1136–1146.
- Luo Y, Helmann JD: Analysis of the role of *Bacillus subtilis* σM in β-lactam resistance reveals an essential role for c-di-AMP in peptidoglycan homeostasis. *Mol Microbiol* 2012, 83:623–639.
- Luo Y, Helmann JD: Extracytoplasmic function σ factors with overlapping promoter specificity regulate sublancin production in *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 2009, 191:4951–4958.
- Cao M, Salzberg L, Tsai CS, Mascher T, Bonilla C, Wang T, Ye RW, Márquez-Magaña L, Helmann JD: Regulation of the *Bacillus subtilis* extracytoplasmic function protein σY and its target promoters. *J Bacteriol* 2003, 185:4883–4890.
- Tojo S, Matsunaga M, Matsumoto T, Kang C-M, Yamaguchi H, Asai K, Sadaie Y, Yoshida K, Fujita Y: Organization and expression of the *Bacillus subtilis sigY* operon. J Biochem 2003, 134:935–946.
- 91. Ho TD, Hastie JL, Intile PJ, Ellermeier CD: The Bacillus subtilis extracytoplasmic function σ factor σV is induced by lysozyme and provides resistance to lysozyme. J Bacteriol 2011, 193:6215 –6222.
- 92. Guariglia-Oropeza V, Helmann JD: *Bacillus subtilis* σV confers lysozyme resistance by activation of two cell wall modification pathways, peptidoglycan O-acetylation and D-alanylation of teichoic acids. *J Bacteriol* 2011, **193**:6223–6232.

- 93. Zellmeier S, Hofmann C, Thomas S, Wiegert T, Schumann W: Identification of σVdependent genes of *Bacillus subtilis*. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 2005, **253**:221–229.
- 94. Matsumoto T, Nakanishi K, Asai K, Sadaie Y: Transcriptional analysis of the ylaABCD operon of Bacillus subtilis encoding a sigma factor of extracytoplasmic function family. Genes Genet Syst 2005, 80:385–393.
- 95. Ryu H-B, Shin I, Yim H-S, Kang S-O: YlaC is an extracytoplasmic function (ECF) sigma factor contributing to hydrogen peroxide resistance in *Bacillus subtilis*. J Microbiol 2006, 44:206–216.
- Schumann W: The Bacillus subtilis heat shock stimulon. Cell Stress Chaperones 2003, 8:207–217.
- 97. Georgopoulos C, Welch WJ: Role of the major heat shock proteins as molecular chaperones. *Annu Rev Cell Biol* 1993, **9**:601–634.
- Gottesman S: Proteases and their targets in Escherichia coli. Annu Rev Genet 1996, 30:465–506.
- 99. Homuth G, Masuda S, Mogk A, Kobayashi Y, Schumann W: The *dnaK* operon of *Bacillus subtilis* is heptacistronic. *J Bacteriol* 1997, **179**:1153–1164.
- 100.Schmidt A, Schiesswohl M, Völker U, Hecker M, Schumann W: Cloning, sequencing, mapping, and transcriptional analysis of the groESL operon from Bacillus subtilis. J Bacteriol 1992, 174:3993–3999.
- 101.Li M, Wong SL: Cloning and characterization of the *groESL* operon from *Bacillus* subtilis. J Bacteriol 1992, **174**:3981–3992.
- 102.Schulz A, Schumann W: *hrcA*, the first gene of the *Bacillus subtilis dnaK* operon encodes a negative regulator of class I heat shock genes. *J Bacteriol* 1996, **178**:1088–1093.
- 103.Yuan G, Wong SL: Regulation of *groE* expression in *Bacillus subtilis*: the involvement of the sigma A-like promoter and the roles of the inverted repeat sequence (CIRCE). J Bacteriol 1995, 177:5427–5433.
- 104.Zuber U, Schumann W: CIRCE, a novel heat shock element involved in regulation of heat shock operon *dnaK* of *Bacillus subtilis*. *J Bacteriol* 1994, **176**:1359–1363.
- 105.Mogk A, Homuth G, Scholz C, Kim L, Schmid FX, Schumann W: The GroE chaperonin machine is a major modulator of the CIRCE heat shock regulon of *Bacillus subtilis*. *EMBO J* 1997, 16:4579–4590.
- 106.Price CW: General stress response. In *Bacillus subtilis and its closest relatives: From genes to cells*. Edited by Sonenshein AL. Washington, D.C., *ASM Press* 2002:369-384
- 107.Hecker M, Schumann W, Volker U: Heat-shock and general stress response in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Mol Microbiol* 1996, **19**:417–428.
- 108. Wise AA, Price CW: Four additional genes in the *sigB* operon of *Bacillus subtilis* that control activity of the general stress factor sigma B in response to environmental signals. *J Bacteriol* 1995, **177**:123–133.
- 109.Kalman S, Duncan ML, Thomas SM, Price CW: Similar organization of the *sigB* and *spoIIA* operons encoding alternate sigma factors of *Bacillus subtilis* RNA polymerase. *J Bacteriol* 1990, **172**:5575–5585.

- 110.de Been M, Francke C, Siezen RJ, Abee T: Novel σB regulation modules of Grampositive bacteria involve the use of complex hybrid histidine kinases. *Microbiology* 2011, **157**:3–12.
- 111.Nannapaneni P, Hertwig F, Depke M, Hecker M, Mäder U, Völker U, Steil L, van Hijum SAFT: Defining the structure of the general stress regulon of *Bacillus subtilis* using targeted microarray analysis and Random Forest Classification. *Microbiology* 2011, 158 (Pt 3):696-707.
- 112.Krüger E, Msadek T, Ohlmeier S, Hecker M: The *Bacillus subtilis clpC* operon encodes DNA repair and competence proteins. *Microbiology* 1997, 143 (Pt 4):1309–1316.
- 113.Krüger E, Msadek T, Hecker M: Alternate promoters direct stress-induced transcription of the *Bacillus subtilis clpC* operon. *Mol Microbiol* 1996, **20**:713–723.
- 114.Derré I, Rapoport G, Msadek T: CtsR, a novel regulator of stress and heat shock response, controls *clp* and molecular chaperone gene expression in Gram-positive bacteria. *Mol Microbiol* 1999, **31**:117–131.
- 115. Tao L, Chattoraj P, Biswas I: CtsR regulation in *mcsAB*-deficient Gram-positive bacteria. *J Bacteriol* 2012, **194**:1361–1368.
- 116.Krüger E, Zühlke D, Witt E, Ludwig H, Hecker M: Clp-mediated proteolysis in Gram-positive bacteria is autoregulated by the stability of a repressor. *EMBO J* 2001, **20**:852–863.
- 117.Krüger E, Witt E, Ohlmeier S, Hanschke R, Hecker M: The Clp proteases of *Bacillus subtilis* are directly involved in degradation of misfolded proteins. *J Bacteriol* 2000, 182:3259–3265.
- 118. Versteeg S, Escher A, Wende A, Wiegert T, Schumann W: **Regulation of the** *Bacillus subtilis* **heat shock gene** *htpG* **is under positive control**. *J Bacteriol* 2003, **185**:466–474.
- 119.Schulz A, Schwab S, Homuth G, Versteeg S, Schumann W: The *htpG* gene of *Bacillus* subtilis belongs to class III heat shock genes and is under negative control. J Bacteriol 1997, **179**:3103–3109.
- 120.Gerth U, Wipat A, Harwood CR, Carter N, Emmerson PT, Hecker M: Sequence and transcriptional analysis of *clpX*, a class-III heat-shock gene of *Bacillus subtilis*. *Gene* 1996, 181:77–83.
- 121.Riethdorf S, Völker U, Gerth U, Winkler A, Engelmann S, Hecker M: Cloning, nucleotide sequence, and expression of the *Bacillus subtilis lon* gene. J Bacteriol 1994, 176:6518–6527.
- 122. Antelmann H, Engelmann S, Schmid R, Hecker M: General and oxidative stress responses in *Bacillus subtilis*: cloning, expression, and mutation of the alkyl hydroperoxide reductase operon. *J Bacteriol* 1996, **178**:6571–6578.
- 123.Moch C, Schrögel O, Allmansberger R: Transcription of the *nfrA-ywcH* operon from *Bacillus subtilis* is specifically induced in response to heat. J Bacteriol 2000, 182:4384–4393.
- 124.Helmann JD, Wu MFW, Kobel PA, Gamo F-J, Wilson M, Morshedi MM, Navre M, Paddon C: Global transcriptional response of *Bacillus subtilis* to heat shock. J Bacteriol 2001, 183:7318–7328.

- 125.Simonen M, Palva I: Protein secretion in *Bacillus* species. *Microbiol Rev* 1993, 57:109–137.
- 126.Wu XC, Lee W, Tran L, Wong SL: Engineering a Bacillus subtilis expressionsecretion system with a strain deficient in six extracellular proteases. J Bacteriol 1991, 173:4952–4958.
- 127.Wu S-C, Ye R, Wu X-C, Ng S-C, Wong S-L: Enhanced secretory production of a single-chain antibody fragment from *Bacillus subtilis* by coproduction of molecular chaperones. *J Bacteriol* 1998, **180**:2830–2835.
- 128.Wu S-C, Yeung JC, Duan Y, Ye R, Szarka SJ, Habibi HR, Wong S-L: Functional production and characterization of a fibrin-specific single-chain antibody fragment from *Bacillus subtilis*: effects of molecular chaperones and a wall-bound protease on antibody fragment production. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2002, **68**:3261–3269.
- 129.Zhang C, Tao T, Ying Q, Zhang D, Lu F, Bie X, Lu Z: Extracellular production of lipoxygenase from *Anabaena sp.* PCC 7120 in *Bacillus subtilis* and its effect on wheat protein. *Appl Microbiol Biot* 2012, **94**:949-958.
- 130.Kontinen VP, Sarvas M: The PrsA lipoprotein is essential for protein secretion in Bacillus subtilis and sets a limit for high-level secretion. Mol Microbiol 1993, 8:727-737.
- 131. Vitikainen M, Pummi T, Airaksinen U, Wahlström E, Wu H, Sarvas M, Kontinen VP: Quantitation of the capacity of the secretion apparatus and requirement for PrsA in growth and secretion of α-amylase in Bacillus subtilis. J Bacteriol 2001, 183:1881–1890.
- 132.Vitikainen M, Hyyrylainen HL, Kivimaki A, Kontinen VP, Sarvas M: Secretion of heterologous proteins in *Bacillus subtilis* can be improved by engineering cell components affecting post-translocational protein folding and degradation. *J Appl Microbiol* 2005, **99**:363–375.
- 133.Westers L, Dijkstra DS, Westers H, van Dijl JM, Quax WJ: Secretion of functional human interleukin-3 from *Bacillus subtilis*. *J Biotechnol* 2006, **123**:211–224.
- 134.Phan TTP, Nguyen HD, Schumann W: Development of a strong intracellular expression system for *Bacillus subtilis* by optimizing promoter elements. *J Biotechnol* 2012, **157**:167–172.
- 135.Bongers RS, Veening JW, van Wieringen M, Kuipers OP, Kleerebezem M: Development and characterization of a subtilin-regulated expression system in *Bacillus subtilis*: strict control of gene expression by addition of subtilin. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2005, 71:8818–8824.
- 136.Joseph P, Fantino JR, Herbaud ML, Denizot F: Rapid orientated cloning in a shuttle vector allowing modulated gene expression in *Bacillus subtilis*. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 2001, 205:91–97.
- 137.Kim L, Mogk A, Schumann W: A xylose-inducible *Bacillus subtilis* integration vector and its application. *Gene* 1996, **181**:71–76.
- 138.Pummi T, Leskelä S, Wahlström E, Gerth U, Tjalsma H, Hecker M, Sarvas M, Kontinen VP: ClpXP protease regulates the signal peptide cleavage of secretory preproteins in *Bacillus subtilis* with a mechanism distinct from that of the Ecs ABC transporter. J Bacteriol 2002, 184:1010–1018.

- 139.Hyyryläinen H-L, Vitikainen M, Thwaite J, Wu H, Sarvas M, Harwood CR, Kontinen VP, Stephenson K: D-Alanine substitution of teichoic acids as a modulator of protein folding and stability at the cytoplasmic membrane/cell wall interface of *Bacillus subtilis*. J Biol Chem 2000, 275:26696 –26703.
- 140.Thwaite JE, Baillie LWJ, Carter NM, Stephenson K, Rees M, Harwood CR, Emmerson PT: Optimization of the cell wall microenvironment allows increased production of recombinant *Bacillus anthracis* protective antigen from *B. subtilis*. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2002, 68:227–234.
- 141.Brockmeier U, Caspers M, Freudl R, Jockwer A, Noll T, Eggert T: Systematic screening of all signal peptides from *Bacillus subtilis*: a powerful strategy in optimizing heterologous protein secretion in Gram-positive bacteria. *J Mol Biol* 2006, 362:393–402.
- 142.Nijland R, Heerlien R, Hamoen LW, Kuipers OP: Changing a single amino acid in Clostridium perfringens β-toxin affects the efficiency of heterologous secretion by Bacillus subtilis. Appl Environ Microbiol 2007, 73:1586–1593.
- 143.Degering C, Eggert T, Puls M, Bongaerts J, Evers S, Maurer K-H, Jaeger K-E: Optimization of protease secretion in *Bacillus subtilis* and *Bacillus licheniformis* by screening of homologous and heterologous signal peptides. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2010, **76**:6370–6376.
- 144.Caspers M, Brockmeier U, Degering C, Eggert T, Freudl R: Improvement of Secdependent secretion of a heterologous model protein in *Bacillus subtilis* by saturation mutagenesis of the N-domain of the AmyE signal peptide. *Appl Microbiol Biot* 2010, 86:1877–1885.
- 145.Diao L, Dong Q, Xu Z, Yang S, Zhou J, Freudl R: Functional implementation of the posttranslational SecB-SecA protein-targeting pathway in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2012, **78**:651–659.
- 146.Kakeshtia H, Kageyama Y, Ara K, Ozaki K, Nakamura K: Enhanced extracellular production of heterologous proteins in *Bacillus subtilis* by deleting the C-terminal region of the SecA secretory machinery. *Mol Biotechnol* 2010, **46**:250–257.
- 147.Kakeshita H, Kageyama Y, Endo K, Tohata M, Ara K, Ozaki K, Nakamura K: Secretion of biologically-active human interferon-β by *Bacillus subtilis*. *Biotechnol Lett* 2011, **33**:1847–1852.
- 148. Saier MH: Protein phosphorylation and allosteric control of inducer exclusion and catabolite repression by the bacterial phosphoenolpyruvate: sugar phosphotransferase system. *Microbiol Rev* 1989, **53**:109–120.
- 149.Fujita Y: Carbon catabolite control of the metabolic network in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem* 2009, **73**:245–259.
- 150.Warner JB, Lolkema JS: CcpA-dependent carbon catabolite repression in bacteria. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 2003, 67:475-490.
- 151.Postma PW, Lengeler JW, Jacobson GR: Phosphoenolpyruvate:carbohydrate phosphotransferase systems of bacteria. *Microbiol Rev* 1993, **57**:543–594.
- 152. Deutscher J, Saier MH Jr: **ATP-dependent protein kinase-catalyzed phosphorylation** of a seryl residue in HPr, a phosphate carrier protein of the phosphotransferase system in *Streptococcus pyogenes*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1983, **80**:6790–6794.

- 153.Mijakovic I, Poncet S, Galinier A, Monedero V, Fieulaine S, Janin J, Nessler S, Marquez JA, Scheffzek K, Hasenbein S, *et al.*: **Pyrophosphate-producing protein dephosphorylation by HPr kinase/phosphorylase: a relic of early life?** *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2002, **99**:13442–13447.
- 154.Saier MH, Chauvaux S, Cook GM, Deutscher J, Paulsen IT, Reizer J, Ye J-J: Catabolite repression and inducer control in Gram-positive bacteria. *Microbiology* 1996, **142**:217–230.
- 155.Deutscher J, Küster E, Bergstedt U, Charrier V, Hillen W: Protein kinase-dependent HPr/CcpA interaction links glycolytic activity to carbon catabolite repression in Gram-positive bacteria. *Mol Microbiol* 1995, **15**:1049–1053.
- 156.Jones BE, Dossonnet V, Küster E, Hillen W, Deutscher J, Klevit RE: **Binding of the** catabolite repressor protein CcpA to its DNA target is regulated by phosphorylation of its corepressor HPr. *J Biol Chem* 1997, 272:26530–26535.
- 157.Darbon E, Galinier A, Le Coq D, Deutscher J: Phosphotransfer functions mutated *Bacillus subtilis* HPr-like protein Crh carrying a histidine in the active site. *J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol* 2001, 3:439–444.
- 158. Galinier A, Haiech J, Kilhoffer M-C, Jaquinod M, Stülke J, Deutscher J, Martin-Verstraete I: The *Bacillus subtilis crh* gene encodes a HPr-like protein involved in carbon catabolite repression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1997, **94**:8439–8444.
- 159.Nessler S, Fieulaine S, Poncet S, Galinier A, Deutscher J, Janin J: HPr kinase/phosphorylase, the sensor enzyme of catabolite repression in Gram-positive bacteria: structural aspects of the enzyme and the complex with its protein substrate. *J Bacteriol* 2003, **185**:4003–4010.
- 160.Jault J-M, Fieulaine S, Nessler S, Gonzalo P, Di Pietro A, Deutscher J, Galinier A: The HPr kinase from *Bacillus subtilis* is a homo-oligomeric enzyme which exhibits strong positive cooperativity for nucleotide and fructose 1,6-bisphosphate binding. *J Biol Chem* 2000, 275:1773 –1780.
- 161.Kim J-H, Voskuil MI, Chambliss GH: NADP, corepressor for the *Bacillus* catabolite control protein CcpA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998, 95:9590–9595.
- 162.Gösseringer R, Küster E, Galinier A, Deutscher J, Hillen W: Cooperative and noncooperative DNA binding modes of catabolite control protein CcpA from *Bacillus megaterium* result from sensing two different signals. J Mol Biol 1997, 266:665–676.
- 163.Henkin TM, Grundy FJ, Nicholson WL, Chambliss GH: Catabolite repression of αamylase gene expression in *Bacillus subtilis* involves a *trans*-acting gene product homologous to the *Escherichia coli lacl* and *galR* repressors. *Mol Microbiol* 1991, 5:575–584.
- 164.Schumacher MA, Sprehe M, Bartholomae M, Hillen W, Brennan RG: Structures of carbon catabolite protein A-(HPr-Ser46-P) bound to diverse catabolite response element sites reveal the basis for high-affinity binding to degenerate DNA operators. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2010, **39**:2931–2942.
- 165.Miwa Y, Nakata A, Ogiwara A, Yamamoto M, Fujita Y: Evaluation and characterization of catabolite-responsive elements (*cre*) of *Bacillus subtilis*. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2000, **28**:1206–1210.
- 166. Weickert MJ, Chambliss GH: Site-directed mutagenesis of a catabolite repression operator sequence in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1990, **87**:6238–6242.

- 167.Lulko AT, Buist G, Kok J, Kuipers OP: Transcriptome analysis of temporal regulation of carbon metabolism by CcpA in *Bacillus subtilis* reveals additional target genes. *J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol* 2007, 12:82–95.
- 168.Buescher JM, Liebermeister W, Jules M, Uhr M, Muntel J, Botella E, Hessling B, Kleijn RJ, Le Chat L, Lecointe F, *et al.*: Global network reorganization during dynamic adaptations of *Bacillus subtilis* metabolism. *Science* 2012, 335:1099–1103.
- 169.Krüger S, Hecker M: Regulation of the putative *bglPH* operon for aryl-β-glucoside utilization in *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 1995, **177**:5590–5597.
- 170.Krüger S, Gertz S, Hecker M: Transcriptional analysis of *bglPH* expression in *Bacillus subtilis*: evidence for two distinct pathways mediating carbon catabolite repression. *J Bacteriol* 1996, **178**:2637–2644.
- 171.Darbon E, Servant P, Poncet S, Deutscher J: Antitermination by GlpP, catabolite repression via CcpA and inducer exclusion triggered by P~GlpK dephosphorylation control Bacillus subtilis glpFK expression. Mol Microbiol 2002, 43:1039–1052.
- 172.Schöck F, Dahl MK: Analysis of DNA flanking the *treA* gene of *Bacillus subtilis* reveals genes encoding a putative specific enzyme IITre and a potential regulator of the trehalose operon. *Gene* 1996, **175**:59–63.
- 173.Bürklen L, Schöck F, Dahl MK: Molecular analysis of the interaction between the *Bacillus subtilis* trehalose repressor TreR and the *tre* operator. *Mol Gen Genet* 1998, **260**:48–55.
- 174.Nicholson WL, Park YK, Henkin TM, Won M, Weickert MJ, Gaskell JA, Chambliss GH: Catabolite repression-resistant mutations of the *Bacillus subtilis* α-amylase promoter affect transcription levels and are in an operator-like sequence. *J Mol Biol* 1987, **198**:609–618.
- 175.Schuch R, Garibian A, Saxild HH, Piggot PJ, Nygaard P: Nucleosides as a carbon source in *Bacillus subtilis*: characterization of the *drm-pupG* operon. *Microbiology* 1999, 145 (Pt 10):2957–2966.
- 176.Oda M, Katagai T, Tomura D, Shoun H, Hoshino T, Furukawa K: Analysis of the transcriptional activity of the *hut* promoter in *Bacillus subtilis* and identification of a *cis*-acting regulatory region associated with catabolite repression downstream from the site of transcription. *Mol Microbiol* 1992, 6:2573–2582.
- 177.Wray LV Jr, Pettengill FK, Fisher SH: Catabolite repression of the *Bacillus subtilis hut* operon requires a *cis*-acting site located downstream of the transcription initiation site. *J Bacteriol* 1994, **176**:1894–1902.
- 178.Blencke H-M, Homuth G, Ludwig H, Mäder U, Hecker M, Stülke J: Transcriptional profiling of gene expression in response to glucose in *Bacillus subtilis*: regulation of the central metabolic pathways. *Metab Eng* 2003, **5**:133–149.
- 179.Kim H-J, Roux A, Sonenshein AL: Direct and indirect roles of CcpA in regulation of *Bacillus subtilis* Krebs cycle genes. *Mol Microbiol* 2002, **45**:179–190.
- 180. Yamamoto H, Murata M, Sekiguchi J: The CitST two-component system regulates the expression of the Mg-citrate transporter in *Bacillus subtilis*. Mol Microbiol 2000, 37:898–912.

- 181.Repizo GD, Blancato VS, Sender PD, Lolkema J, Magni C: Catabolite repression of the citST two-component system in Bacillus subtilis. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2006, 260:224–231.
- 182.Asai K, Baik SH, Kasahara Y, Moriya S, Ogasawara N: Regulation of the transport system for C4-dicarboxylic acids in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Microbiology* 2000, 146 (Pt 2):263–271.
- 183. Choi S-K, Saier MH: Mechanism of CcpA-mediated glucose repression of the *resABCDE* operon of *Bacillus subtilis*. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 2006, **11**:104–110.
- 184. Turinsky AJ, Grundy FJ, Kim J-H, Chambliss GH, Henkin TM: Transcriptional activation of the *Bacillus subtilis ackA* gene requires sequences upstream of the promoter. *J Bacteriol* 1998, **180**:5961–5967.
- 185.Presecan-Siedel E, Galinier A, Longin R, Deutscher J, Danchin A, Glaser P, Martin-Verstraete I: Catabolite regulation of the *pta* gene as part of carbon flow pathways in *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 1999, 181:6889–6897.
- 186.Tojo S, Satomura T, Morisaki K, Deutscher J, Hirooka K, Fujita Y: Elaborate transcription regulation of the *Bacillus subtilis ilv-leu* operon involved in the biosynthesis of branched-chain amino acids through global regulators of CcpA, CodY and TnrA. *Mol Microbiol* 2005, 56:1560–1573.
- 187. Shivers RP, Sonenshein AL: *Bacillus subtilis ilvB* operon: an intersection of global regulons. *Mol Microbiol* 2005, **56**:1549–1559.
- 188. Tjalsma H, Bolhuis A, van Roosmalen ML, Wiegert T, Schumann W, Broekhuizen CP, Quax WJ, Venema G, Bron S, van Dijl JM: Functional analysis of the secretory precursor processing machinery of *Bacillus subtilis*: identification of a eubacterial homolog of archaeal and eukaryotic signal peptidases. *Genes Dev* 1998, 12:2318– 2331.
- 189.Zweers JC, Barak I, Becher D, Driessen AJ, Hecker M, Kontinen VP, Saller MJ, Vavrova L, van Dijl JM: Towards the development of *Bacillus subtilis* as a cell factory for membrane proteins and protein complexes. *Microb Cell Fact* 2008, 7:10.
- 190.van Veen HW, Venema K, Bolhuis H, Oussenko I, Kok J, Poolman B, Driessen AJ, Konings WN: Multidrug resistance mediated by a bacterial homolog of the human multidrug transporter MDR1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996, 93:10668–10672.
- 191.Heuberger EHML, Smits E, Poolman B: Xyloside transport by XylP, a member of the galactoside-pentoside-hexuronide family. J Biol Chem 2001, 276:34465 –34472.
- 192.Que Q, Helmann JD: Manganese homeostasis in *Bacillus subtilis* is regulated by MntR, a bifunctional regulator related to the diphtheria toxin repressor family of proteins. *Mol Microbiol* 2000, **35**:1454–1468.
- 193.Gaballa A, Helmann JD: Identification of a zinc-specific metalloregulatory protein, Zur, controlling zinc transport operons in *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 1998, 180:5815–5821.
- 194.Papagiannitsis CC, Tzouvelekis LS, Kotsakis SD, Tzelepi E, Miriagou V: Sequence of pR3521, an IncB plasmid from *Escherichia coli* encoding ACC-4, SCO-1, and TEM-1 β-lactamases. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2011, 55:376–381.
- 195.van Asseldonk M, Rutten G, Oteman M, Siezen RJ, de Vos WM, Simons G: Cloning of usp45, a gene encoding a secreted protein from Lactococcus lactis subsp. lactis MG1363. Gene 1990, 95:155–160.

- 196.Stephenson K, Bron S, Harwood CR: Cellular lysis in *Bacillus subtilis*; the affect of multiple extracellular protease deficiencies. *Lett Appl Microbiol* 1999, **29**:141–145.
- 197.Kikuchi M, Ogawa K, Yamazaki T, Kajiwara S, Sugio A, Nakamura S, Shishido K: Secretional expression of a *Bacillus subtilis* xylanase gene in the *Basidiomycete Coprinus cinereus*. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 1999, **178**:277–282.
- 198.Bolhuis A, Tjalsma H, Smith HE, de Jong A, Meima R, Venema G, Bron S, van Dijl JM: Evaluation of bottlenecks in the late stages of protein secretion in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 1999, **65**:2934–2941.
- 199. Maruyama F, Kobata M, Kurokawa K, Nishida K, Sakurai A, Nakano K, Nomura R, Kawabata S, Ooshima T, Nakai K, *et al.*: Comparative genomic analyses of *Streptococcus mutans* provide insights into chromosomal shuffling and species-specific content. *BMC Genomics* 2009, **10**:358.
- 200.Siezen RJ, Bayjanov J, Renckens B, Wels M, van Hijum SAFT, Molenaar D, van Hylckama Vlieg JET: Complete genome sequence of *Lactococcus lactis subsp. lactis* KF147, a plant-associated lactic acid bacterium. J Bacteriol 2010, 192:2649–2650.
- 201.Reichmann P, Nuhn M, Denapaite D, Brückner R, Henrich B, Maurer P, Rieger M, Klages S, Reinhard R, Hakenbeck R: Genome of Streptococcus oralis strain Uo5. J Bacteriol 2011, 193:2888–2889.
- 202.Mogk A, Völker A, Engelmann S, Hecker M, Schumann W, Völker U: Nonnative proteins induce expression of the *Bacillus subtilis* CIRCE regulon. *J Bacteriol* 1998, 180:2895–2900.
- 203.Tam LT, Antelmann H, Eymann C, Albrecht D, Bernhardt J, Hecker M: Proteome signatures for stress and starvation in *Bacillus subtilis* as revealed by a 2-D gel image color coding approach. *Proteomics* 2006, 6:4565–4585.
- 204.Fujisawa M, Wada Y, Ito M: Modulation of the K+ efflux activity of *Bacillus subtilis* YhaU by YhaT and the C-terminal region of YhaS. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 2004, 231:211–217.
- 205.Cao M, Kobel PA, Morshedi MM, Wu MFW, Paddon C, Helmann JD: Defining the *Bacillus subtilis* σW regulon: a comparative analysis of promoter consensus search, run-off transcription/macroarray analysis (ROMA), and transcriptional profiling approaches. *J Mol Biol* 2002, **316**:443–457.
- 206.Petersohn A, Brigulla M, Haas S, Hoheisel JD, Völker U, Hecker M: Global analysis of the general stress response of *Bacillus subtilis*. *J Bacteriol* 2001, **183**:5617–5631.
- 207.Nakano S, Küster-Schöck E, Grossman AD, Zuber P: Spx-dependent global transcriptional control is induced by thiol-specific oxidative stress in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2003, **100**:13603–13608.
- 208.Ellermeier CD, Hobbs EC, Gonzalez-Pastor JE, Losick R: A three-protein signaling pathway governing immunity to a bacterial cannibalism toxin. *Cell* 2006, **124**:549–559.
- 209.Engelberg-Kulka H, Amitai S, Kolodkin-Gal I, Hazan R: **Bacterial programmed cell** death and multicellular behavior in bacteria. *PLoS Genet*. 2006, **2**:e135.
- 210.Liu X, Taber HW: Catabolite regulation of the *Bacillus subtilis ctaBCDEF* gene cluster. *J Bacteriol* 1998, **180**:6154–6163.

- 211.Mascher T, Zimmer SL, Smith T-A, Helmann JD: Antibiotic-inducible promoter regulated by the cell envelope stress-sensing two-component system LiaRS of *Bacillus subtilis*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2004, **48**:2888–2896.
- 212.Sakoh M, Ito K, Akiyama Y: Proteolytic activity of HtpX, a membrane-bound and stress-controlled protease from *Escherichia coli*. J Biol Chem 2005, **280**:33305–33310.
- 213.Shimohata N, Chiba S, Saikawa N, Ito K, Akiyama Y: **The Cpx stress response** system of *Escherichia coli* senses plasma membrane proteins and controls HtpX, a membrane protease with a cytosolic active site. *Genes Cells* 2002, 7:653–662.
- 214.Cao M, Moore CM, Helmann JD: *Bacillus subtilis* paraquat resistance is directed by σM, an extracytoplasmic function sigma factor, and is conferred by YqjL and BcrC. *J Bacteriol* 2005, **187**:2948–2956.
- 215. Jervis AJ, Thackray PD, Houston CW, Horsburgh MJ, Moir A: SigM-responsive genes of *Bacillus subtilis* and their promoters. *J Bacteriol* 2007, 189:4534–4538.
- 216.Kuipers OP, de Ruyter PGGA, Kleerebezem M, de Vos WM: Quorum sensingcontrolled gene expression in lactic acid bacteria. J Biotechnol 1998, 64:15–21.
- 217.Killmann H, Herrmann C, Torun A, Jung G, Braun V: **TonB of** *Escherichia coli* activates FhuA through interaction with the β-barrel. *Microbiology* 2002, 148:3497–3509.
- 218.Holo H, Nes IF: Transformation of *Lactococcus* by electroporation. *Methods Mol Biol* 1995, **47**:195–199.
- 219.Kunst F, Rapoport G: Salt stress is an environmental signal affecting degradative enzyme synthesis in *Bacillus subtilis*. *J Bacteriol* 1995, **177**:2403–2407.
- 220.Sambrook J, Fritsch EF, Maniatis T: Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual. 2nd edition. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Pr; 1989.
- 221. Vieira J, Messing J: The pUC plasmids, an M13mp7-derived system for insertion mutagenesis and sequencing with synthetic universal primers. *Gene* 1982, 19:259–268.
- 222.Duitman EH, Hamoen LW, Rembold M, Venema G, Seitz H, Saenger W, Bernhard F, Reinhardt R, Schmidt M, Ullrich C, et al.: The mycosubtilin synthetase of Bacillus subtilis ATCC6633: A multifunctional hybrid between a peptide synthetase, an amino transferase, and a fatty acid synthase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999, 96:13294–13299.
- 223.van Hijum SAFT, García de la Nava J, Trelles O, Kok J, Kuipers OP: MicroPreP: a cDNA microarray data pre-processing framework. Appl Bioinformatics 2003, 2:241–244.
- 224.Long AD, Mangalam HJ, Chan BY, Tolleri L, Hatfield GW, Baldi P: Improved statistical inference from DNA microarray data using analysis of variance and a Bayesian statistical framework. Analysis of global gene expression in *Escherichia coli* K12. *J Biol Chem* 2001, 276:19937–19944.
- 225.Marciniak BC, Trip H, van der Veek PJ, Kuipers OP: Comparative transcriptional analysis of *Bacillus subtilis* cells overproducing either secreted proteins, lipoproteins or membrane proteins. *Microb Cell Fact* 2012, **11**:66.
- 226.Stiegler N, Dalbey RE, Kuhn A: M13 procoat protein insertion into YidC and SecYEG proteoliposomes and liposomes. J Mol Biol 2011, 406:362–370.

- 227.van der Laan M, Nouwen N, Driessen AJM: SecYEG proteoliposomes catalyze the $\Delta \Psi$ -dependent membrane insertion of FtsQ. J Biol Chem 2004, 279:1659 –1664.
- 228. Shapiro HM: Cell membrane potential analysis. Methods Cell Biol 1994, 41:121-133.
- 229. Harold FM: Antimicrobial agents and membrane function. Adv Microb Physiol 1969, 4:45–104.
- 230.Nakano MM, Zuber P: Anaerobic growth of a "strict aerobe"(*Bacillus subtilis*). Annu Rev Microbiol 1998, **52**:165–190.
- 231.Sun G, Sharkova E, Chesnut R, Birkey S, Duggan MF, Sorokin A, Pujic P, Ehrlich SD, Hulett FM: Regulators of aerobic and anaerobic respiration in *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 1996, 178:1374–1385.
- 232.Brun NEL, Bengtsson J, Hederstedt L: Genes required for cytochrome *c* synthesis in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Mol Microbiol* 2000, **36**:638–650.
- 233.Hasnain S, Sammons R, Roberts I, Thomas CM: Cloning and deletion analysis of a genomic segment of *Bacillus subtilis* coding for the *sdhA*, *B*, *C* (succinate dehydrogenase) and *gerE* (spore germination) loci. *J Gen Microbiol* 1985, 131:2269–2279.
- 234.Tam LT, Eymann C, Albrecht D, Sietmann R, Schauer F, Hecker M, Antelmann H: Differential gene expression in response to phenol and catechol reveals different metabolic activities for the degradation of aromatic compounds in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Environ Microbiol* 2006, **8**:1408–1427.
- 235.Hoa TT, Tortosa P, Albano M, Dubnau D: Rok (YkuW) regulates genetic competence in *Bacillus subtilis* by directly repressing *comK*. *Mol Microbiol* 2002, 43:15–26.
- 236.Albano M, Smits WK, Ho LTY, Kraigher B, Mandic-Mulec I, Kuipers OP, Dubnau D: The Rok protein of *Bacillus subtilis* represses genes for cell surface and extracellular functions. *J Bacteriol* 2005, **187**:2010–2019.
- 237.Smits WK, Grossman AD: The transcriptional regulator Rok binds A+T-rich DNA and is involved in repression of a mobile genetic element in *Bacillus subtilis*. *PLoS Genet* 2010, **6**:e1001207.
- 238. Thijs G, Marchal K, Lescot M, Rombauts S, De Moor B, Rouzé P, Moreau Y: A Gibbs sampling method to detect overrepresented motifs in the upstream regions of coexpressed genes. *J Comput Biol* 2002, 9:447–464.
- 239.van Helden J, André B, Collado-Vides J: A web site for the computational analysis of yeast regulatory sequences. *Yeast* 2000, **16**:177–187.
- 240.Saller MJ, Otto A, Berrelkamp-Lahpor GA, Becher D, Hecker M, Driessen AJM: Bacillus subtilis YqjG is required for genetic competence development. Proteomics 2011, 11:270–282.
- 241.Hahne H, Mäder U, Otto A, Bonn F, Steil L, Bremer E, Hecker M, Becher D: A comprehensive proteomics and transcriptomics analysis of *Bacillus subtilis* salt stress adaptation. *J Bacteriol* 2010, **192**:870–882.
- 242.Kawai Y, Marles-Wright J, Cleverley RM, Emmins R, Ishikawa S, Kuwano M, Heinz N, Bui NK, Hoyland CN, Ogasawara N, et al.: A widespread family of bacterial cell wall assembly proteins. EMBO J 2011, 30:4931-4941.
- 243.Kawai Y, Daniel RA, Errington J: Regulation of cell wall morphogenesis in *Bacillus* subtilis by recruitment of PBP1 to the MreB helix. *Mol Microbiol* 2009, **71**:1131–1144.

- 244.Strahl H, Hamoen LW: Membrane potential is important for bacterial cell division. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2010, **107**:12281–12286.
- 245.Porollo AA, Adamczak R, Meller J: **POLYVIEW: a flexible visualization tool for** structural and functional annotations of proteins. *Bioinformatics* 2004, **20**:2460 – 2462.
- 246.Saito S, Kakeshita H, Nakamura K: Novel small RNA-encoding genes in the intergenic regions of *Bacillus subtilis*. *Gene* 2009, **428**:2–8.
- 247.Grant SG, Jessee J, Bloom FR, Hanahan D: Differential plasmid rescue from transgenic mouse DNAs into *Escherichia coli* methylation-restriction mutants. *Proc* Natl Acad Sci U S A 1990, **87**:4645–4649.
- 248.Guérout-Fleury AM, Shazand K, Frandsen N, Stragier P: Antibiotic-resistance cassettes for *Bacillus subtilis*. *Gene* 1995, **167**:335–336.
- 249.Lewis PJ, Marston AL: GFP vectors for controlled expression and dual labelling of protein fusions in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Gene* 1999, 227:101-110.
- 250.de Ruyter PG, Kuipers OP, de Vos WM: Controlled gene expression systems for Lactococcus lactis with the food-grade inducer nisin. Appl Environ Microbiol 1996, 62:3662–3667.
- 251.Engels S, Schweitzer JE, Ludwig C, Bott M, Schaffer S: *clpC* and *clpP1P2* gene expression in *Corynebacterium glutamicum* is controlled by a regulatory network involving the transcriptional regulators ClgR and HspR as well as the ECF sigma factor σH. *Mol Microbiol* 2004, **52**:285–302.
- 252.Emer D, Krug A, Eikmanns BJ, Bott M: Complex expression control of the *Corynebacterium glutamicum* aconitase gene: identification of RamA as a third transcriptional regulator besides AcnR and RipA. *J Biotechnol* 2009, 140:92–98.
- 253.Saller MJ, Fusetti F, Driessen AJM: *Bacillus subtilis* SpoIIIJ and YqjG function in membrane protein biogenesis. *J Bacteriol* 2009, **191**:6749–6757.
- 254.Hamoen LW, van Werkhoven AF, Bijlsma JJE, Dubnau D, Venema G: The competence transcription factor of *Bacillus subtilis* recognizes short A/T-rich sequences arranged in a unique, flexible pattern along the DNA helix. *Genes Dev* 1998, 12:1539-1550.
- 255.Baerends RJS, Smits WK, de Jong A, Hamoen LW, Kok J, Kuipers OP: Genome2D: a visualization tool for the rapid analysis of bacterial transcriptome data. Genome Biol 2004, 5:R37.
- 256.Le Breton Y, Mohapatra NP, Haldenwang WG: *In vivo* random mutagenesis of *Bacillus subtilis* by use of TnYLB-1, a mariner-based transposon. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2006, **72**:327–333.
- 257.Schiene C, Fischer G: Enzymes that catalyse the restructuring of proteins. *Curr Opin Struct Biol* 2000, **10**:40–45.
- 258. Wang P, Heitman J: The cyclophilins. Genome Biol 2005, 6:226.
- 259.Lu KP, Zhou XZ: The prolyl isomerase PIN1: a pivotal new twist in phosphorylation signalling and disease. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2007, 8:904–916.
- 260.Vitikainen M, Lappalainen I, Seppala R, Antelmann H, Boer H, Taira S, Savilahti H, Hecker M, Vihinen M, Sarvas M, Kontinen VP: Structure-function analysis of PrsA reveals roles for the parvulin-like and flanking N- and C-terminal domains in

protein folding and secretion in *Bacillus subtilis*. J Biol Chem 2004, **279**:19302–19314.

- 261.Drouault S, Anba J, Bonneau S, Bolotin A, Ehrlich SD, Renault P: **The peptidyl-prolyl** isomerase motif is lacking in PmpA, the PrsA-like protein involved in the secretion machinery of *Lactococcus lactis*. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2002, **68**:3932–3942.
- 262.Lindholm A, Ellmén U, Tolonen-Martikainen M, Palva A: Heterologous protein secretion in *Lactococcus lactis* is enhanced by the *Bacillus subtilis* chaperone-like protein PrsA. Appl Microbiol Biot 2006, 73:904–914.
- 263.Ma Y, Bryant AE, Salmi DB, Hayes-Schroer SM, McIndoo E, Aldape MJ, Stevens DL: Identification and characterization of bicistronic speB and prsA gene expression in the group A Streptococcus. J Bacteriol 2006, 188:7626–7634.
- 264.Alonzo F, Port GC, Cao M, Freitag NE: The posttranslocation chaperone PrsA2 contributes to multiple facets of *Listeria monocytogenes* pathogenesis. *Infect Immun* 2009, 77:2612–2623.
- 265.Zemansky J, Kline BC, Woodward JJ, Leber JH, Marquis H, Portnoy DA: Development of a mariner-based transposon and identification of *Listeria monocytogenes* determinants, including the peptidyl-prolyl isomerase PrsA2, that contribute to its hemolytic phenotype. J Bacteriol 2009, 191:3950–3964.
- 266. Williams RC, Rees ML, Jacobs MF, Prágai Z, Thwaite JE, Baillie LWJ, Emmerson PT, Harwood CR: **Production of** *Bacillus anthracis* **protective antigen is dependent on the extracellular chaperone**, **PrsA**. *J Biol Chem* 2003, **278**:18056–18062.
- 267.Jones LJ, Carballido-Lopez R, Errington J: Control of cell shape in bacteria: helical, actin-like filaments in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Cell* 2001, **104**:913-922.
- 268.Carballido-Lopez R, Errington J: The bacterial cytoskeleton: *in vivo* dynamics of the actin-like protein Mbl of *Bacillus subtilis*. *Dev Cell* 2003, **4**:19-28.
- 269.Soufo HJD, Graumann PL: Actin-like proteins MreB and Mbl from Bacillus subtilis are required for bipolar positioning of replication origins. Current Biology 2003, 13:1916–1920.
- 270.Defeu Soufo HJ, Graumann PL: Dynamic movement of actin-like proteins within bacterial cells. *EMBO Rep* 2004, 5:789–794.
- 271.Stewart GC: Taking shape: control of bacterial cell wall biosynthesis. *Mol Microbiol* 2005, **57**:1177–1181.
- 272.Soufo D, Joël H, Graumann PL: Dynamic localization and interaction with other *Bacillus subtilis* actin-like proteins are important for the function of MreB. *Mol Microbiol* 2006, **62**:1340–1356.
- 273.van den Ent F, Leaver M, Bendezu F, Errington J, De Boer P, Löwe J: Dimeric structure of the cell shape protein MreC and its functional implications. *Mol Microbiol* 2006, **62**:1631–1642.
- 274.Leaver M, Errington J: Roles for MreC and MreD proteins in helical growth of the cylindrical cell wall in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Mol Microbiol* 2005, **57**:1196–1209.
- 275.Figge RM, Divakaruni AV, Gober JW: MreB, the cell shape-determining bacterial actin homologue, co-ordinates cell wall morphogenesis in *Caulobacter crescentus*. *Mol Microbiol* 2004, **51**:1321–1332.

- 276.Divakaruni AV, Loo RRO, Xie Y, Loo JA, Gober JW: The cell-shape protein MreC interacts with extracytoplasmic proteins including cell wall assembly complexes in *Caulobacter crescentus*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2005, **102**:18602–18607.
- 277.Daniel RA, Errington J: Control of cell morphogenesis in bacteria: two distinct ways to make a rod-shaped cell. *Cell* 2003, **113**:767–776.
- 278. Tiyanont K, Doan T, Lazarus MB, Fang X, Rudner DZ, Walker S: Imaging peptidoglycan biosynthesis in *Bacillus subtilis* with fluorescent antibiotics. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2006, 103:11033–11038.
- 279.Divakaruni AV, Baida C, White CL, Gober JW: The cell shape proteins MreB and MreC control cell morphogenesis by positioning cell wall synthetic complexes. *Mol Microbiol* 2007, **66**:174–188.
- 280.Claessen D, Emmins R, Hamoen LW, Daniel RA, Errington J, Edwards DH: Control of the cell elongation-division cycle by shuttling of PBP1 protein in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Mol Microbiol* 2008, 68:1029–1046.
- 281.Popham DL, Young KD: Role of penicillin-binding proteins in bacterial cell morphogenesis. *Curr Opin Microbiol* 2003, 6:594–599.
- 282.Sauvage E, Kerff F, Terrak M, Ayala JA, Charlier P: The penicillin-binding proteins: structure and role in peptidoglycan biosynthesis. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* 2008, 32:234–258.
- 283.Scheffers DJ, Jones LJ, Errington J: Several distinct localization patterns for penicillin-binding proteins in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Mol Microbiol* 2004, **51**:749-764.
- 284.Pedersen LB, Angert ER, Setlow P: Septal localization of penicillin-binding protein 1 in *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 1999, 181:3201–3211.
- 285.Wei Y, Havasy T, McPherson DC, Popham DL: Rod shape determination by the *Bacillus subtilis* class B penicillin-binding proteins encoded by *pbpA* and *pbpH*. J Bacteriol 2003, **185**:4717–4726.
- 286.Hyyryläinen H-L, Marciniak BC, Dahncke K, Pietiäinen M, Courtin P, Vitikainen M, Seppala R, Otto A, Becher D, Chapot-Chartier M-P, et al.: Penicillin-binding protein folding is dependent on the PrsA peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase in Bacillus subtilis. Mol Microbiol 2010, 77:108–127.
- 287.Formstone A, Errington J: A magnesium-dependent *mreB* null mutant: implications for the role of *mreB* in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Mol Microbiol* 2005, **55**:1646–1657.
- 288.Feilmeier BJ, Iseminger G, Schroeder D, Webber H, Phillips GJ: Green fluorescent protein functions as a reporter for protein localization in *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol 2000, **182**:4068–4076.
- 289.Daley DO, Rapp M, Granseth E, Melén K, Drew D, von Heijne G: Global topology analysis of the *Escherichia coli* inner membrane proteome. *Science* 2005, 308:1321– 1323.
- 290.Cassel M, Seppälä S, von Heijne G: Confronting fusion protein-based membrane protein topology mapping with reality: the *Escherichia coli* ClcA H+/Cl- exchange transporter. *J Mol Biol* 2008, **381**:860–866.
- 291.Carballido-López R, Formstone A, Li Y, Ehrlich SD, Noirot P, Errington J: Actin homolog MreBH governs cell morphogenesis by localization of the cell wall hydrolase LytE. Dev Cell 2006, 11:399–409.

- 292.Kalinowski J, Bathe B, Bartels D, Bischoff N, Bott M, Burkovski A, Dusch N, Eggeling L, Eikmanns BJ, Gaigalat L, et al.: The complete Corynebacterium glutamicum ATCC 13032 genome sequence and its impact on the production of L-aspartate-derived amino acids and vitamins. J Biotechnol 2003, 104:5–25.
- 293.Letek M, Ordóñez E, Vaquera J, Margolin W, Flärdh K, Mateos LM, Gil JA: DivIVA is required for polar growth in the MreB-lacking rod-shaped Actinomycete Corynebacterium glutamicum. J Bacteriol 2008, 190:3283–3292.
- 294.Pinho MG, Errington J: Dispersed mode of *Staphylococcus aureus* cell wall synthesis in the absence of the division machinery. *Mol Microbiol* 2003, **50**:871–881.
- 295.Jacobs M, Andersen JB, Kontinen V, Sarvas M: *Bacillus subtilis* PrsA is required *in vivo* as an extracytoplasmic chaperone for secretion of active enzymes synthesized either with or without pro-sequences. *Mol Microbiol* 1993, 8:957–966.
- 296.Harry EJ, Pogliano K, Losick R: Use of immunofluorescence to visualize cell-specific gene expression during sporulation in *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 1995, **177**:3386-3393.
- 297.Sonenshein AL: Control of key metabolic intersections in *Bacillus subtilis*. Nat Rev Microbiol 2007, 5:917–927.
- 298. Miwa Y, Saikawa M, Fujita Y: Possible function and some properties of the CcpA protein of *Bacillus subtilis*. *Microbiology* 1994, **140**:2567–2575.
- 299.Schumacher MA, Allen GS, Diel M, Seidel G, Hillen W, Brennan RG: Structural basis for allosteric control of the transcription regulator CcpA by the phosphoprotein HPr-Ser46-P. Cell 2004, 118:731–741.
- 300. Deutscher J, Reizer J, Fischer C, Galinier A, Saier MH, Steinmetz M: Loss of protein kinase-catalyzed phosphorylation of HPr, a phosphocarrier protein of the phosphotransferase system, by mutation of the *ptsH* gene confers catabolite repression resistance to several catabolic genes of *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 1994, 176:3336–3344.
- 301.Fujita Y, Miwa Y, Galinier A, Deutscher J: Specific recognition of the *Bacillus* subtilis gnt cis-acting catabolite-responsive element by a protein complex formed between CcpA and seryl-phosphorylated HPr. *Mol Microbiol* 1995, **17**:953–960.
- 302.Singh KD, Schmalisch MH, Stülke J, Görke B: Carbon catabolite repression in *Bacillus subtilis*: quantitative analysis of repression exerted by different carbon sources. *J Bacteriol* 2008, **190**:7275–7284.
- 303.Landmann JJ, Werner S, Hillen W, Stülke J, Görke B: Carbon source control of the phosphorylation state of the *Bacillus subtilis* carbon-flux regulator Crh in vivo. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 2012, 327:47–53.
- 304.Görke B, Fraysse L, Galinier A: Drastic differences in Crh and HPr synthesis levels reflect their different impacts on catabolite repression in *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 2004, **186**:2992–2995.
- 305.Shivers RP, Dineen SS, Sonenshein AL: Positive regulation of *Bacillus subtilis ackA* by CodY and CcpA: establishing a potential hierarchy in carbon flow. *Mol Microbiol* 2006, **62**:811–822.
- 306.Wünsche A, Hammer E, Bartholomae M, Völker U, Burkovski A, Seidel G, Hillen W: CcpA forms complexes with CodY and RpoA in *Bacillus subtilis*. *FEBS J* 2012, 279:2201–2214.

- 307.Moir-Blais TR, Grundy FJ, Henkin TM: Transcriptional activation of the Bacillus subtilis ackA promoter requires sequences upstream of the CcpA binding site. J Bacteriol 2001, 183:2389–2393.
- 308.Martin-Verstraete I, Stülke J, Klier A, Rapoport G: Two different mechanisms mediate catabolite repression of the *Bacillus subtilis* levanase operon. J Bacteriol 1995, 177:6919–6927.
- 309. Monedero V, Boël G, Deutscher J: Catabolite regulation of the cytochrome c550encoding *Bacillus subtilis cccA* gene. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 2001, 3:433–438.
- 310.Puri-Taneja A, Paul S, Chen Y, Hulett FM: CcpA causes repression of the phoPR promoter through a novel transcription start site, PA6. J Bacteriol 2006, 188:1266– 1278.
- 311.Grundy FJ, Waters DA, Takova TY, Henkin TM: Identification of genes involved in utilization of acetate and acetoin in *Bacillus subtilis*. Mol Microbiol 1993, 10:259– 271.
- 312.Kamionka A, Bertram R, Hillen W: Tetracycline-dependent conditional gene knockout in *Bacillus subtilis*. Appl Environ Microbiol 2005, **71**:728–733.
- 313.Miwa. Y, Nagura K, Eguchi S, Fukuda H, Deutscher J, Fujita Y: Catabolite repression of the *Bacillus subtilis gnt* operon exerted by two catabolite-responsive elements. *Mol Microbiol* 1997, **23**:1203–1213.
- 314.Henkin TM: The role of CcpA transcriptional regulator in carbon metabolism in *Bacillus subtilis*. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 1996, **135**:9–15.
- 315.Galinier A, Deutscher J, Martin-Verstraete I: Phosphorylation of either *crh* or HPr mediates binding of CcpA to the *Bacillus subtilis xyn cre* and catabolite repression of the *xyn* operon. *J Mol Biol* 1999, **286**:307–314.
- 316.Moreno MS, Schneider BL, Maile RR, Weyler W, Saier MH: Catabolite repression mediated by the CcpA protein in *Bacillus subtilis*: novel modes of regulation revealed by whole-genome analyses. *Mol Microbiol* 2001, **39**:1366–1381.
- 317.Makita Y, Nakao M, Ogasawara N, Nakai K: **DBTBS: database of transcriptional** regulation in *Bacillus subtilis* and its contribution to comparative genomics. *Nucleic* Acids Res 2004, **32**:D75–D77.
- 318.Kim J-H, Yang Y-K, Chambliss GH: Evidence that *Bacillus* catabolite control protein CcpA interacts with RNA polymerase to inhibit transcription. *Mol Microbiol* 2005, **56**:155–162.
- 319.Ludwig H, Rebhan N, Blencke H-M, Merzbacher M, Stülke J: Control of the glycolytic gapA operon by the catabolite control protein A in Bacillus subtilis: a novel mechanism of CcpA-mediated regulation. Mol Microbiol 2002, 45:543–553.
- 320.Zomer AL, Buist G, Larsen R, Kok J, Kuipers OP: Time-resolved determination of the CcpA regulon of *Lactococcus lactis subsp. cremoris* MG1363. J Bacteriol 2007, 189:1366–1381.
- 321.Jacob S, Allmansberger R, Gärtner D, Hillen W: Catabolite repression of the operon for xylose utilization from *Bacillus subtilis* W23 is mediated at the level of transcription and depends on a *cis* site in the *xylA* reading frame. *Mol Gen Genet* 1991, 229:189–196.

- 322.Zalieckas JM, Wray J, Ferson AE, Fisher SH: Transcription-repair coupling factor is involved in carbon catabolite repression of the *Bacillus subtilis hut* and *gnt* operons. *Mol Microbiol* 1998, **27**:1031-1038.
- 323.Inácio JM, Costa C, de Sá-Nogueira I: Distinct molecular mechanisms involved in carbon catabolite repression of the arabinose regulon in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Microbiology* 2003, **149**:2345–2355.
- 324. Choi S-K, Saier MH: Regulation of *sigL* expression by the catabolite control protein CcpA involves a roadblock mechanism in *Bacillus subtilis*: potential connection between carbon and nitrogen metabolism. *J Bacteriol* 2005, **187**:6856–6861.
- 325.Zalieckas JM, Wray LV, Fisher SH: Expression of the *Bacillus subtilis acsA* gene: position and sequence context affect *cre*-mediated carbon catabolite repression. *J Bacteriol* 1998, **180**:6649–6654.
- 326.Grundy FJ, Turinsky AJ, Henkin TM: Catabolite regulation of *Bacillus subtilis* acetate and acetoin utilization genes by CcpA. *J Bacteriol* 1994, **176**:4527–4533.
- 327.Seidel G, Diel M, Fuchsbauer N, Hillen W: Quantitative interdependence of coeffectors, CcpA and *cre* in carbon catabolite regulation of *Bacillus subtilis*. *FEBS* J 2005, **272**:2566–2577.
- 328.Bertram R, Kostner M, Muller J, Vazquez Ramos J, Hillen W: Integrative elements for *Bacillus subtilis* yielding tetracycline-dependent growth phenotypes. *Nucleic Acids Res* 2005, **33**:e153.
- 329.Küster E, Luesink EJ, de Vos WM, Hillen W: Immunological crossreactivity to the catabolite control protein CcpA *Bacillus megaterium* is found in many Grampositive bacteria. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 1996, **139**:109–115.
- 330.Jong A de, Pietersma H, Cordes M, Kuipers OP, Kok J: PePPER: a webserver for prediction of prokaryote promoter elements and regulons. BMC Genomics 2012, 13:299.
- 331.Nilsson D, Lauridsen AA, Tomoyasu T, Ogura T: A *Lactococcus lactis* gene encodes a membrane protein with putative ATPase activity that is homologous to the essential *Escherichia coli ftsH* gene product. *Microbiology* 1994, **140**:2601–2610.
- 332.van Bloois E, Dekker HL, Fröderberg L, Houben ENG, Urbanus ML, de Koster CG, de Gier J-W, Luirink J: Detection of cross-links between FtsH, YidC, HflK/C suggests a linked role for these proteins in quality control upon insertion of bacterial inner membrane proteins. FEBS Lett 2008, 582:1419–1424.
- 333.Marreddy RKR, Pinto JPC, Wolters JC, Geertsma ER, Fusetti F, Permentier HP, Kuipers OP, Kok J, Poolman B: The response of *Lactococcus lactis* to membrane protein production. *PLoS One* 2011, 6:e24060.
- 334.Raposo MP, Inácio JM, Mota LJ, de Sá-Nogueira I: Transcriptional regulation of genes encoding arabinan-degrading enzymes in *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 2004, 186:1287–1296.
- 335.Ould Ali N, Bignon J, Rapoport G, Debarbouille M: Regulation of the acetoin catabolic pathway is controlled by Sigma L in *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 2001, 183:2497–2504.
- 336.Le Coq D, Lindner C, Krüger S, Steinmetz M, Stülke J: New β-glucoside (*bgl*) genes in *Bacillus subtilis*: the *bglP* gene product has both transport and regulatory

functions similar to those of BglF, its *Escherichia coli* homolog. *J Bacteriol* 1995, 177:1527–1535.

- 337.Jin S, Sonenshein AL: Transcriptional regulation of *Bacillus subtilis* citrate synthase genes. J Bacteriol 1994, 176:4680–4690.
- 338.Gomez M, Cutting SM: Identification of a new σB-controlled gene, csbX, in Bacillus subtilis. Gene 1997, 188:29–33.
- 339.Winstedt L, Yoshida K-I, Fujita Y, von Wachenfeldt C: Cytochrome bd biosynthesis in Bacillus subtilis: characterization of the cydABCD operon. J Bacteriol 1998, 180:6571–6580.
- 340. Holmberg C, Beijer L, Rutberg B, Rutberg L: Glycerol catabolism in *Bacillus subtilis*: nucleotide sequence of the genes encoding glycerol kinase (*glpK*) and glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (*glpD*). J Gen Microbiol 1990, 136:2367–2375.
- 341.Sadaie Y, Nakadate H, Fukui R, Yee LM, Asai K: Glucomannan utilization operon of Bacillus subtilis. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2008, 279:103–109.
- 342.Fujita Y, Fujita T: Identification and nucleotide sequence of the promoter region of the *Bacillus subtilis* gluconate operon. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 1986, 14:1237–1252.
- 343.Wray LV, Fisher SH: Analysis of *Bacillus subtilis hut* operon expression indicates that histidine-dependent induction is mediated primarily by transcriptional antitermination and that amino acid repression is mediated by two mechanisms: regulation of transcription initiation and inhibition of histidine transport. J Bacteriol 1994, **176**:5466–5473.
- 344.Grandoni JA, Zahler SA, Calvo JM: Transcriptional regulation of the *ilv-leu* operon of *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 1992, **174**:3212–3219.
- 345. Yoshida KI, Aoyama D, Ishio I, Shibayama T, Fujita Y: Organization and transcription of the myo-inositol operon, iol, of Bacillus subtilis. J Bacteriol 1997, 179:4591–4598.
- 346.Tojo S, Satomura T, Matsuoka H, Hirooka K, Fujita Y: Catabolite repression of the Bacillus subtilis FadR regulon, which is involved in fatty acid catabolism. J Bacteriol 2011, 193:2388–2395.
- 347.Martin I, Debarbouille M, Klier A, Rapoport G: Induction and metabolite regulation of levanase synthesis in *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 1989, 171:1885–1892.
- 348. Yamamoto H, Serizawa M, Thompson J, Sekiguchi J: Regulation of the *glv* operon in *Bacillus subtilis*: YfiA (GlvR) is a positive regulator of the operon that is repressed through CcpA and *cre. J Bacteriol* 2001, 183:5110–5121.
- 349.Resnekov O, Melin L, Carlsson P, Mannerlöv M, von Gabain A, Hederstedt L: Organization and regulation of the *Bacillus subtilis odhAB* operon, which encodes two of the subenzymes of the 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase complex. *Mol Gen Genet* 1992, 234:285–296.
- 350.von Blohn C, Kempf B, Kappes RM, Bremer E: Osmostress response in *Bacillus* subtilis: characterization of a proline uptake system (OpuE) regulated by high osmolarity and the alternative transcription factor sigma B. *Mol Microbiol* 1997, 25:175–187.
- 351.O'Reilly M, Woodson K, Dowds BC, Devine KM: The citrulline biosynthetic operon, *argC-F*, and a ribose transport operon, *rbs*, from *Bacillus subtilis* are negatively regulated by Spo0A. *Mol Microbiol* 1994, 11:87–98.

- 352.Belitsky BR, Sonenshein AL: An enhancer element located downstream of the major glutamate dehydrogenase gene of *Bacillus subtilis*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999, **96**:10290–10295.
- 353. Arnaud M, Débarbouillé M, Rapoport G, Saier MH Jr, Reizer J: *In vitro* reconstitution of transcriptional antitermination by the SacT and SacY proteins of *Bacillus subtilis*. *J Biol Chem* 1996, **271**:18966–18972.
- 354.Schöck F, Dahl MK: Expression of the *tre* operon of *Bacillus subtilis* 168 is regulated by the repressor TreR. *J Bacteriol* 1996, 178:4576–4581.
- 355.Mekjian KR, Bryan EM, Beall BW, Moran CP Jr: Regulation of hexuronate utilization in *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 1999, **181**:426–433.
- 356.Gärtner D, Geissendörfer M, Hillen W: Expression of the *Bacillus subtilis xyl* operon is repressed at the level of transcription and is induced by xylose. *J Bacteriol* 1988, 170:3102–3109.

SAMENVATTING VOOR DE LEEK

Dit proefschrift beschrijft het onderzoek naar mechanismen die bacteriële cellen vertonen als reactie op overproductie van eiwitten die (potentieel) nuttig zijn in de wasen levensmiddelenindustrie en het onderzoek aan de regulatie voor efficiënter gebruik van koolstofbronnen door bacteriële cellen.

De modelorganisme in deze studie is een niet-pathogene bacterie die in de grond leeft, *Bacillus subtilis. B. subtilis* (de gebruikelijke afkorting) cellen zijn staafvormig en 2 - 5 μ m lang (1 μ m = 0,001 mm). De belangrijkste elementen waaruit *B. subtilis* cellen zijn opgebouwt zijn de celmembraan, cytoplasma en celwand (Figuur 1). De celmembraan bestaat uit een dubbele laag van lipiden met daarin eiwitten. Het scheidt de binnenkant van een cel met de externe omgeving. Het cytoplasma is een gel-achtige substantie die grotendeels bestaat uit water en vult het binnenste van de cel met daarin het DNA (de drager van genetische informatie), eiwitten, ribosomen (die een rol spelen bij de productie van eiwitten) en andere elementen. De celwand bevindt zich buiten het celmembraan en het bestaat voornamelijk uit peptidoglycaan, een complex netwerk van lange gecrosslinkte polysaccharideketens gebonden door korte ketens van aminozuren.



Figuur 1. Schematische weergave van een Bacillus subtilis cel (longitudinale doorsnede).

Dankzij sommige eigenschappen wordt *B. subtilis* veel gebruikt in het onderzoek als modelorganisme. Deze handige eigenschappen omvatten: niet pathogeen, gemakkelijk te kweken onder laboratoriumomstandigheden (Figuur 2), kennis van het genoom (het volledige genetische materiaal van cellen) en de beschikbaarheid van ontwikkelde methoden voor genetische manipulatie. *B. subtilis* is in staat om ongunstige omstandigheden (bijvoorbeeld geen beschikbaarheid van voedingsstoffen of een te hoge temperatuur) te overleven door: de productie van zeer resistente sporen (sporulatie), te reizen op zoek naar voedingsstoffen (chemotaxis), het verzamelen van vreemd genetisch materiaal uit de omgeving (competentie) daarmee het verwerven van nieuwe functies en mogelijkheden, enzymeiwitten te exporteren naar de omgeving (secretie) om

organische stoffen te degraderen in kleinere moleculen die gemakkelijker gemetaboliseerd kunnen worden. Deze laatste overlevingsstrategie van B. subtilis wordt algemeen toegepast in de industrie voor de productie van verschillende eiwitten/enzymen van *B. subtilis* (endogeen eiwit) of andere organismen (heteroloog eiwit). Deze enzymen kunnen vervolgens gebruikt worden bij de productie van voedingsmiddelen, waspoeder of medicijnen. Een bekend voorbeeld waarbij een bacterie gebruikt wordt voor de productie van enzymen is Escherichia coli die insuline produceert. Er zitten nadelen aan het gebruik van E. coli als productie stam, zo heeft E. coli geen mogelijkheden om de eiwitten te exporteren en bovendien is het een pathogene bacterie. De zuivering van eiwitten gemaakt door E. coli is veel moeilijker dan wanneer de eiwitten geproduceert worden door bijvoorbeeld B. subtilis aangezien de cellen kapot gemaakt moeten worden om het gewenste proteïne te krijgen. Verder moeten de aanwezige pathogene toxinen grondig vernietigd worden zodat het eindprodukt veilig voor de mens is. Helaas is de productie van eiwitten met behulp van B. subtilis als een "fabriek" ook niet optimaal. Als reactie op verhoogde productie en secretie van eiwitten. activeren de cellen van *B*. subtilis verschillende afweermechanismen zoals een verhoogde productie van proteolytische eiwitten die verantvoordelijk zijn voor afbraak van andere eiwitten. Deze proteases breken vervolgens ook het voor industriële productie gewenste eiwit af.



Figuur 2. Culture van *Bacillus subtilis*. (A) Een culture in 100 ml vloeibaar medium. Honderden miljarden bacteriële cellen zijn aanwezig in de vloeistof en veroorzaken een vertroebeling van het medium die zichtbaar is voor het blote oog. Deze bacterie culturen kunnen gemaakt worden in honderden liters wat voornamelijk voor de industrie bruikbaar is. (B) *B. subtilis* cultures op een vast medium. Afzonderlijke kolonies, clusters van vele miljoenen cellen, zijn zichtbaar (pijl).

In **hoofdstuk twee** staat de identificatie beschreven van afweermechanismen die geactiveerd worden als reactie op verhoogde productie van acht verschillende eiwitten in *B. subtilis* cellen. Dit werd bereikt door de analyse van de expressie van alle genen van de cellen die een eiwit produceren met een complexe techniek (zogenaamd microarrays). Kunstmatige veranderingen van de geïdentificeerde afweermechanismen (zoals de verhoogde productie van speciale eiwitten die verantwoordelijk zijn voor de

afbraak van andere niet-functionele eiwitten) door middel van genetische manipulatie kan leiden tot een nieuwe stam van *B. subtilis* die betere prestaties kan leveren wat betreft de prodcutie en de kwailiteit van geproduceerde eiwitten.

Het doel van de studie beschreven in het **derde hoofdstuk** is het ontraffelen van de cellulaire reactie op stress geinduceerde door een verhoogde productie van eiwitten die verankerd zijn in het celmembraan. Tevens wordt dezelfde reactie veroorzaakt door andere schadelijke factoren die de structuur van membraaneiwitten afbreken zoals zout of een hoge temperatuur. Deze factoren veroorzaken denaturatie (schade aan de structuur) van het eiwit. Tijdens deze studie werd een nieuw regulerend eiwit (YkrK) gevonden die de expressie regeelt (productie op basis van de informatie in het DNA) van een ander eiwit, namelijk YkrL (of HtpX). Dit YkrL eiwit is verankerd in het celmembraan en is waarschijnlijk verantwoordelijk voor de afbraak van beschadigde membraaneiwitten. Deze afbraak heeft een positieve invloed op de algemene structuur en de werking van het celmembraan, waar veel eiwitten aanwezig zijn die essentiële functies hebben voor het overleven van de cel. Bovendien, bacteriële membraaneiwitten zijn gedeeltelijk blootgesteld aan de buitenkant van de cel, waardoor ze gemakkelijk toegankelijk zijn voor geneesmiddelen zoals gebruikt in chemotherapie. Voor het produceren van nieuwe geneesmiddelen met behulp van B. subtilis cellen is zuivering vereist. De afbraak van misvormde eiwitcomplexen in het membraan maakt deze zuivering eenvoudiger. Echter, een te efficiënte afbraak van membraaneiwitten door de werking van YkrL kan ook de hoeveelheid van het geproduceerde membraaneiwit verlagen. Door genetische manipulatie van het defensieve mechanisme (YkrL, YkrK) kan B. subtilis efficiënter membraaneiwitten produceren.

Het onderwerp van **hoofdstuk vier** is een lipoproteïne, een eiwit met een lipide (vet) staart, PrsA. Het lipoproteïne PrsA is verankerd in het celmembraan en een deel van het enzym is gericht naar buiten (naar de ruimte tussen de celmamembraan en celwand). PrsA speelt rol bij het correct en volledig vouwen van gesecreteerde eiwitten en, net als veel andere eiwitten, is een essentieel onderdeel van de cel. De resultaten toonden aan dat PrsA essentieel is voor de cel vanwege de betrokkenheid bij de vouwing van eiwitten die een belangrijke rol spelen in de celwand biosynthese. Deze door PrsA gevouwen eiwitten heten penicilline-bindende eiwitten (PBPs) en zijn betrokken bij het maken van de celwand. De celwand is een belangrijk element in de constructie van de cel. Het fungeert als een soort exoskelet die fysische krachten opvangt en zo de cel in zijn vorm houdt.

B. subtilis, zoals andere bacteriën, heeft de mogelijkheid om een groot aantal stoffen te gebruiken als koolstofbron voor het bouwen van eiwitten en andere elementen van de

cel. Voor een optimale groei en energieverbruik is het nuttig om alleen genen tot expressie te brengen die op dat moment nodig zijn. CcpA regelt de productie (expressie) van enzymatische eiwitten die betrokken zijn bij het metabolisme (afbraak) van deze koolstofbronnen. Genen die coderen voor enzymen die nodig zijn voor benutting van gunstigste koolstofbronnen (glucose, fructose, mannose) energetisch worden geactiveerd door CcpA, terwijl de genen die coderen voor enzymen die functies uitvoeren in het gebruik van andere koolstofbronnen, die minder de voorkeur hebben worden gedempt (repressie) door CcpA. Activering en repressie van genen door de CcpA wordt bewerkstelligt doordat CcpA bindt aan specifieke korte fragmenten DNA, zogenaamde cre boxen. Ze zijn gekenmerkt door een specifieke DNA-sequentie (de volgorde van de samenstellende nucleotiden waaruit DNA is opgebouwd) en positie (afstand) in het DNA van een bepaald gen die gereguleerd wordt door CcpA. In hoofdstuk vijf zijn de sequentie en positie van de *cre* boxen van veel genen gereguleerd door de CcpA grondig geanalyseerd. De resultaten toonden aan dat kleine verschillen in de specifieke sequentie en de positie van cre boxen en de impact van deze verschillen op het vermogen van CcpA om aan het DNA van deze boxen te binden, het regulerende vermogen van CcpA bepalen. Deze resultaten dragen bij tot een beter begrip van het metabolisme van koolstofbronnen en het regelen daarvan door CcpA.

STRESZCZENIE DLA LAIKÓW

Tematem tej pracy naukowej są mechanizmy obronne uruchamiane przez komórki bakteryjne *Bacillus subtilis* w odpowiedzi na intensywną produckję białek (potencjalnie) użytecznych w przemyśle oraz mechanizm kontroli metabolizmu źródeł węgla.

Organizmem badawczym w tej pracy jest glebowa, niechorobotwórcza bakteria, Bacillus subtilis (Laseczka sienna). Komórki B. subtilis charakteryzują się pałeczkowatym kształtem i długościa 2 - 5 μ m (1 μ m = 0.001 mm). Główne elementy budowy komórki B. subtilis to błona komorkowa, cytoplazma i ściana komórkowa (Ryc. 1). Błona komórkowa zbudowana jest z podwójnej warstwy lipidów (tłuszczy) i białek. Oddziela ona wnętrze komórki od środowiska zewnętrznego. Cytoplazma to substancja żelowa składająca się w większości z wody. Wypełnia ona wnętrze komórki, gdzie znajdują się nośnik informacji genetycznej w postaci DNA, białka, rybosomy pełniące funkcje w ekspresji (produkcji) białek i inne elementy. Ściana komórkowa zbudowana jest z peptydoglikanu czyli skomplikowanej sieci łańcuchów polisacharydowych (wielocukrowych) połaczonych krótkimi łańcuchami aminokwasowymi.



Rycina 1. Schemat budowy komórki Bacillus subtilis (przekrój podłużny).

Dzięki pewnym cechom *B. subtilis* zdobyła sławę jako organizm modelowy w badaniach naukowych. Są to między innymi niechorobotwórczość, łatwa hodowla w warunkach laboratoryjnych (Ryc. 2), znajomość genomu (całego materiału genetycznego komórki), dostępność opracowanych metod manipulacji genetycznych. *B. subtilis* jest zdolna do przetrwania niesprzyjających warunków (np. niedostępność składników odżywczych, wysoka temperatura) poprzez produkcję wysoko odpornych przetrwalników (sporulacja), przemieszczanie się w poszukiwaniu substancji odżywczych (chemotaksja), pobieranie obcego materiału genetycznego ze środowiska (kompetencja) a tym samym nabywanie nowych cech i zdolnośći, eksport do

środowiska białek enzymatycznych (sekrecja) degradujących związki organiczne na mniejsze łatwiej metabolizowane cząsteczki. Ta ostatnia właściwość B. subtilis jest szeroko wykorzystywana w przemyśle do produkcji różnego typu białek/enzymów pochodzacych z B. subtilis (białka endogeniczne) lub innych organizmów (białka heterologiczne) i mających zastosowanie w produkcji żywności, proszków do prania czv też leków. Również dobrze znana Escherichia coli (Pałeczka okrężnicy) jest wykorzystywana np. do produkcji insuliny. E. coli jednak nie posiada zdolności sekrecji białek, a ponadto jest to bakteria chorobotwórcza. Oczyszczanie białek z hodowli E. *coli* jest w związku z tym znacznie trudniejsze, gdyż wymaga zniszczenia komórek, aby dotrzec do pożądanego białka, oraz dokładnego zniszczenia chorobotwórczych toksyn, aby końcowy produkt był bezpieczny dla człowieka. Niestety produkcja białek z wykorzystaniem B. subtilis jako swoistej "fabryki" również nie przebiega bez przeszkód. W odpowiedzi na intensywną produkcję i sekrecję białek, komórki B. subtilis uruchamiają różnego rodzaju mechanizmy obronne w postaci np. wzmożonej produkcji białek proteolitycznych degradujących inne białka, również to białko pożadane w produkcji przemysłowej.



Rycina 2. Hodowle bakterii *Bacillus subtilis*. (A) 100 ml hodowli w podłożu płynnym. Zawieszone w płynie setki bilionów komórek bakteryjnych powodują widoczne gołym okiem zmętnienie pożywki. Możliwe są rónież hodowle o znacznie większej objętości, tj. setki litrów. Wykonuje się je głównie na potrzeby przemysłu. (B) hodowla na podłożu (pożywce) stałym. Widoczne są pojedyncze kolonie bakteryjne (strzałka) stanowiące skupiska wielu milionów komórek.

W **rozdziale drugim,** poprzez analizę całego genomu komórek *B. subtilis* produkujących różne biłka, zostały zidentyfikowane mechanizmy obronne uruchamiane w odpowiedzi na intensywną produkcję białek. Do tego celu wykorzystano skomplikowaną technikę, tzw. mikromacierze. Dalsze modyfikacje zidentyfikowanych mechanizmów obronnych (takich jak na przykład wzmożona produkcja specjalnych białek odpowiedzialnych za degradację innych niefunkcjonalnych białek) poprzez manipulacje genetyczne mogą zaowocować wygenerowaniem nowego szczepu *B. subtilis*, który umożliwi wyższą wydajność i lepszą jakość produkowanych białek.

Przedmiotem badań w rozdziale trzecim jest swoista odpowiedź komórkowa na stres błonowy wywołany intensywną produkcją białek zakotwiczonych w błonie komórkowej i innych szkodliwych czynników wpływających negatywnie na strukturę białek błonowych, takich jak sól czy temperatura. Czynniki te powodują denaturację (uszkodzenie struktury) białka. W wyniku tych badań zostało odkryte nowe białko regulatorowe, YkrK, kontrolujące ekspresję (produkcję na podstawie informacji zawartej w DNA) innego białka, a mianowicie YkrL (lub HtpX). Białko to jest zakotwiczone w błonie komórkowej i najprawdopodobniej jest odpowiedzialne za degradację uszkodzonych białek błonowych. Ma to korzystny wpływ na ogólną strukture i funkcjonowanie błony komórkowej, gdzie znajduje się wiele białek pełniacych istotne funkcje dla przeżycia komórki. Ponad to białka błonowe bakterii są częściowo wyeksponowane na zewnątrz komórki, co sprawia, że są one łatwo dostępne dla leków np. stosowancyh w chemoterapii. Do wygenerowania nowych leków wymagana jest jednak uprzednia produkcja białek docelowych (np. z wykorzystaniem B. subtilis), ich oczyszczenie i charakteryzacja. Jakkolwiek, za wysoka aktywność YkrL może doprowadzić do degradacji produkowanych przez B. subtilis białek błonowych i, w efekcie, do obniżenia wydajności produkcji. Manipulacje genetyczne również w tego mechanizmu obronnego (YkrL, YkrK) mogą przyczynić się do zakresie wygenerowania szczepu B. subtilis lepszego w produkcji białek błonowych.

Tematem **rozdziału czwartego** jest lipoproteina, czyli białko posiadające rdzeń lipidowy (tłuszczowy), PrsA. Lipoproteina PrsA jest zakotwiczona w błonie komórkowej i posiada część enzymatyczną skierowaną na zewnątrz (w przestrzeń pomiędzy błoną komórkową a ścianą komórkową). PrsA pełni rolę w przybieraniu dojrzałej struktury białek sekrecyjnych i, jak wiele innych białek, jest niezbędnym komponentem komórki. Wyniki wykazały, że PrsA jest esencjonalnym elementem komórki w zwiazku z zaangażowaniem w dojrzewanie biełek, które pełnią kluczową rolę w biosyntezie ściany komórkowej. Są to tzw. białka wiążące penicylinę, PBP (*ang.* penicillin binding proteins). Ściana komórkowa stanowi istotny element w budowie komórki; pełni rolę swoistego szkieletu zewnętrznego nadającego kształt komórce oraz chroniącego przed czynnikami środowiska zewnętrznego a także przed pęcznieniem w wyniku pobierania wody ze środowiska. Dlatego też PrsA jest niezbędna do przeżycia komórki.

B. subtilis, jak inne bakterie, ma zdolność do wykorzystywania szerokiego zakresu związków jako źródło węgla do budowy białek i innych elemntów komórki. Aby jednak zapewnić optymalne zużycie energii i tempo wzrostu, białko regulatorowe CcpA kontroluje produkcję (ekspresję) białek enzymatycznych zaangażowanych w metabolizm (rozkład) tychże źródeł węgla. Geny kodujące białka enzymatyczne
potrzebne do utylizowania energetycznie najkorzystniejszych źródeł węgla (glukoza, fruktoza, jabłczan) są uaktywniane (aktywacja), podczas gdy geny kodujące enzymy pełniące funkcje w utylizacji innych, mniej preferowanych źródeł węgla, są wyciszane (represja). Aktywacja i represja tych genów odbywa się poprzez wiązanie CcpA do określonych krótkich fragmentów DNA. Są to tzw. boksy *cre*. Charakteryzują się one specyficzną sekwencją DNA (porządek składowych cząsteczek budujących nić DNA) oraz pozycją (odległość) na nici DNA względem danego genu regulowanego przez CcpA. W **rozdziale piątym** boksy *cre* wielu genów regulowanych przez CcpA zostały dokładnie przeanalizowane pod względem sekwencji i pozycji. Wyniki wykazały specyficzne drobne różnice w sekwencji i pozycji boksów *cre* oraz wpływ tych różnic na zdolność CcpA do wiązania się z DNA w obrębie tych boksów, tym samym zdolność regulacyjną CcpA. Wyniki te przyczyniają się do lepszego zrozumienia mechanizmu regulacji metabolizmu źródeł węgla przez CcpA.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

<u>Marciniak BC</u>, Pabijaniak M, de Jong A, Dühring R, Seidel G, Hillen W, Kuipers OP: **High- and low-affinity** *cre* **boxes for CcpA binding in** *Bacillus subtilis* **revealed by genome-wide analysis**. *BMC Genomics* 2012, **13**:401.

<u>Marciniak BC</u>, Trip H, van der Veek PJ, Kuipers OP: **Comparative transcriptional** analysis of *Bacillus subtilis* cells overproducing either secreted proteins, lipoproteins or membrane proteins. *Microb Cell Fact* 2012, 11:66.

Marciniak BC, Trip H, Fusetti F, Kuipers OP: Regulation of *ykrL* (*htpX*) by Rok and YkrK, a novel type of regulator in *Bacillus subtilis*. J Bacteriol 2012, **194**:2837-2845.

Hyyryläinen H-L, <u>Marciniak BC</u>, Dahncke K, Pietiäinen M, Courtin P, Vitikainen M, Seppala R, Otto A, Becher D, Chapot-Chartier M-P, Kuipers OP, Kontinen VP: **Penicillin-binding protein folding is dependent on the PrsA peptidyl-prolyl** *cistrans* isomerase in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Mol Microbiol* 2010, **77**:108–127.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS/PODZIĘKOWANIA

Although there is only one author on the title page, there are more names to be mentioned when it comes to this thesis. I would like to acknowledge people who contributed to the fact that, after five years of ups and downs, this book reached its final shape.

My promoter, Prof. Oscar Kuipers. Thank you for appreciating my efforts as a master student and accepting me as a PhD student, and for all the scientific and personal support.

Dr. Ewa Maciaszczyk-Dziubińska and João Pinto, who suppervised me during my master studies. Thank you for the education and support that I got from you. These were among the factors that made me decide to start a PhD studies.

The whole Molecular Genetics group. Thank you guys for the friendly atmosphere, scientific and not so scientific discussions and for always being willing to help in any matter.

Siger, thank you for your effort put into the CssS localization studies. Although we didn't get to publishing it, it was a pleasure to work with you.

My paranimfen, Katrin and Maarten. Thank you for being there with me on one of the most important days in my life. Maarten, thank you for correcting the "Samenvatting voor de leek".

The colleagues who I shared my office with for a shorter or longer time: Ana, Anja, Julio, Maarten, Marielle, Martijn, Wout. The composition of the office was changing but there was always a perfect combination of (scientific or not) chatting and dead silence. This helped a lot to stay relaxed, focused and motivated. I appreciate this a lot.

Monika. You came to the right place at the right moment: thanks to you the project described in chapter 5 finally took off and eventually resulted in a publication.

Magda, thank you for the tea breaks - this time was priceless!

Marta, dzięki, że zawsze we mnie wierzyłaś. To dzięki Tobie mój związek z biologią przerodził się z zainteresowania w profesję.

Mama i Tata. Jak mało kto spoza światka nauki fundamentalnej świetnie potrafiliście wczuć się w moją rolę jako doktorantki i wyobrazić sobie charakter mojej pracy ze wszystkimi jej jasnymi i ciemnymi stronami oraz konsekwencjami. Dziękuję Wam za to

zrozumienie oraz za wspieranie mnie na duchu. Dziękuję Wam i Radkowi za przeczytanie "Streszczenia dla laików" i komentarz.

Hein. No words are able to express my gratitude for your endless patience, understanding, concern, support (in any matter: scientific and not) and love. Thank youuu!

Bogusia